From the Institute of Animal Hygiene and Veterinary Public Health Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Leipzig University

Hair cortisol concentration in cattle and pigs:

Investigation of influencing factors and the potential as an indicator of

long-term stress

Inaugural-Dissertation to obtain the degree of a Doctor medicinae veterinariae (Dr. med. vet.) from the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine Leipzig University

> submitted by Susen Heimbürge

from Arnstadt, Germany

Leipzig, 2021

Mit Genehmigung der Veterinärmedizinischen Fakultät der Universität Leipzig

Dekan:	Prof. Dr. Dr. Thomas Vahlenkamp
Betreuer:	Prof. Dr. Uwe Truyen
	Prof. Dr. Birger Puppe
Gutachter:	Prof. Dr. Uwe Truyen, Institut für Tierhygiene und Öffentliches Veterinärwesen,
	Veterinärmedizinische Fakultät der Universität Leipzig, Leipzig
	Prof. Dr. Birger Puppe, Institut für Verhaltensphysiologie, Leibniz-Institut für
	Nutztierbiologie (FBN), Dummerstorf
	Prof. Dr. Dr. Michael Erhard, Veterinärwissenschaftliches Department der Ludwig-
	Maximilians-Universität München, München

Tag der Verteidigung: 20.04.2021

Die vorliegende Dissertation wurde geplant und durchgeführt am Institut für Verhaltensphysiologie des Leibniz-Instituts für Nutztierbiologie (FBN), Dummerstorf.

Table of contents

List of abbreviations

1	General introduction	1		
2	Review of the literature			
	2.1 The relevance of stress assessment in animal welfare	3		
	2.2 Stress response in mammals			
	2.2.1 Structure and function of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis	4		
	2.2.2 Characteristics and effects of cortisol	5		
	2.2.3 Conventional biological matrices for cortisol analysis	6		
	2.3 Hair as a matrix for cortisol analysis	7		
	2.3.1 Hair structure and hair types	7		
	2.3.2 Hair growth cycle	9		
	2.3.3 Incorporation of cortisol into the hair	10		
	2.3.3.1 Passive diffusion	10		
	2.3.3.2 Multi-compartment model	10		
	2.3.4 Elimination of cortisol from the hair	12		
	2.3.5 Specific characteristics and applications of hair cortisol	12		
3	Research focuses and aims	14		
4	Results	16		
	4.1 Study 1: Hair cortisol for the assessment of stress (review)	16		
	4.2 Study 2: Effects of animal-based, seasonal and hair-specific factors on hair cortisol			
	concentrations	25		
	4.3 Study 3: Effects of long-term stress on hair cortisol concentrations	34		
	4.4 Study 4: Effects of contamination and elimination on hair cortisol concentrations	44		
5	General discussion	50		
	5.1 Influencing factors on hair cortisol concentrations in cattle and pigs	50		
	5.1.1 Impact of animal-based, seasonal and hair-specific factors	50		
	5.1.2 Impact of contamination and elimination by washout	53		
	5.1.3 Implications	55		
	5.2 Hair cortisol concentration as an indicator of long-term stress in cattle and pigs	56		
	5.2.1 Model for the increased release of systemic cortisol	56		
	5.2.2 Models for the time course of cortisol incorporation into the hair shaft	57		
	5.2.3 Impact of hair sample type and sampling time	58		
	5.2.4 Implications	60		

	5.3 Future perspectives	. 61
	5.4 Conclusions	. 62
6	Summary	. 63
7	Zusammenfassung	. 65
8	References	. 67
9	Danksagung	. 77

List of abbreviations

a.m.	ante meridiem
ACTH	adrenocorticotrophic hormone
ANOVA	analysis of variance
AUC	area under the curve
AVP	arginine vasopressin
BLE	Bundesanstalt für Landwirtschaft und Ernährung
BMEL	Bundesministerium für Ernährung und Landwirtschaft
CRH	corticotrophin-releasing hormone
CV	coefficient of variation
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
e.g.	exempli gratia
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
Fig.	figure
g	gravitational field strength
GC(s)	glucocorticoid(s)
GL	German Landrace
GLW	German Large White
GR(s)	glucocorticoid receptor(s)
HCC(s)	hair cortisol concentration(s)
HPA	hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal
HPLC	high-performance liquid chromatography
i.m.	intramuscular
IU	international units
LSM(s)	least squares mean(s)
MR(s)	mineralocorticoid receptor(s)
р	probability
p.m.	post meridiem
QS	Qualitätssicherung
r	correlation coefficient
rpm	revolutions per minute
RT	room temperature
SAS	statistical analysis system
SD	standard deviation
SE	standard error

- $S_{\mbox{\scriptsize H}}$ saliva with high cortisol concentration
- S_L saliva low high cortisol concentration
- U_H urine with high cortisol concentration
- U_L urine low high cortisol concentration
- UV ultraviolet

1 General introduction

As a main system of stress regulation, the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis induces the production and release of cortisol from the adrenal glands (SAPOLSKY et al. 2000, JACOBSON 2005). While short-term activation of the HPA axis is an adaptive physiological response to stressors and essential for survival, long-term increased cortisol release can harm an organism (MOBERG 2000, MCEWEN 2008). Farm animals, in particular, can be exposed to many different stresses and strains due to their husbandry conditions (WOOD-GUSH et al. 1975, FRASER et al. 2001). Previous studies have shown that stress in animals can lead, for example, to impaired muscle growth, reduced reproductive success, and immunodeficiency (BARNETT and HEMSWORTH 1990, TURNER et al. 2012). These consequences may lead to maladaptation and increased biological costs (distress), which can impair animal welfare, a complex concept that considers both physical and mental health and in which stress monitoring is an important element (TILBROOK and RALPH 2017). Since stress leads to an increase in cortisol secretion, this elevation in systemic cortisol concentrations is used as a biological marker in stress research (SPENCER and DEAK 2017). Usually, cortisol analysis is carried out in blood, saliva, urine, and faeces samples (MÖSTL and PALME 2002). These conventional biological matrices provide insights into cortisol concentrations from minutes to hours before sampling (COOK 2012). However, cortisol is released in a pulsatile, and circadian rhythm (JACOBSON 2005), so repeated measurements may be necessary to use these materials to assess long-term stress, that is, stress that occurs over several weeks to months (DHABHAR 2018). With a growing interest in studying long-term stress in farm animals, minimally or non-invasive methods are increasingly the focus of stress research and animal-welfare science.

About 20 years ago, scientists took up the results of forensic and drug research in human hair and analysed cortisol in this novel sampling material for the first time (CIRIMELE et al. 2000, KOREN et al. 2002). Cortisol is predominantly incorporated into a growing hair by diffusion from blood vessels (MEYER and NOVAK 2012), so hair provides average cortisol concentrations from the period of hair growth (weeks to years) (STALDER and KIRSCHBAUM 2012). Hair sampling is also minimally invasive, hair can be stored easily, and longer hair strands offer the possibility of creating a retrospective calendar (KIRSCHBAUM et al. 2009, RUSSELL et al. 2012). These numerous advantages of hair have stimulated research on hair cortisol analysis, not only in humans but increasingly in wild and domesticated animals as well (RUSSELL et al. 2012, BURNARD et al. 2017, MESARCOVA et al. 2017). Previous studies have investigated various determinants of variations in hair cortisol concentrations (HCCs) and have shown the dependence of HCC not only on stress-related factors but also on individual and environmental determinants (BURNARD et al. 2017, STALDER et al. 2017). However, basic knowledge about this relatively new method of cortisol assessment is still missing, especially in farm animals. With my current research, I would like to

1

contribute to compensating for this lack of knowledge by examining HCCs in cattle and pigs. Therefore, the general aims of the present work are to investigate influencing factors on HCC, including animal-based, seasonal and hair-specific factors as well as contamination and elimination, and to examine the potential of hair cortisol concentration as an indicator of long-term stress in cattle and pigs. The following chapters provide the most important background information for contemporary hair cortisol studies. After giving an overview of the principles of farm animal welfare and an explanation of the stress response in mammals, basic knowledge about hair as biological material is presented. In this context, different pathways of cortisol incorporation and elimination are described. Following this introductory part of the thesis, I give an overview of the specific aims and hypotheses of the present studies, which are presented in detail in the results section as publications comprising a literature review (Study 1) and three experimental studies (Studies 2–4). The present work is therefore a cumulative dissertation containing four peer-reviewed papers published in an international journal. Finally, all results are discussed in general against the background of the current state of knowledge, including an evaluation of the usability of hair cortisol concentrations in cattle and pigs and the presentation of future perspectives for further research and applications.

2 Review of the literature

2.1 The relevance of stress assessment in animal welfare

A common biological definition of stress introduced by BROOM and JOHNSON (1993) is 'an environmental effect on an individual which overtaxes its control systems and reduces its fitness'. SELYE (1975) differentiated the terms 'distress', the negative, pathological form of stress, and 'eustress', the positive form of stress with beneficial outcomes. The terms 'stress' and 'distress' are often used interchangeably, as negative stress is the most commonly mentioned type of stress. Thus, stress is a state of threatened physiological and/or psychological homeostasis to which the organism reacts with behavioural and physiological responses called 'adaptation' and 'coping' (LAZARUS and FOLKMAN 1984, SCHNEIDERMANN et al. 2005, CHROUSOS 2009). These stress responses are beneficial for the organism as long as they enable it to adapt to and overcome challenges. However, due to a severe stressful event or particularly long-term stress, coping and adaptation may fail to return an organism to physiological and/or psychological homeostasis, leading to maladaptation with deleterious effects on health and welfare (MOBERG 2000, YARIBEYGI et al. 2017).

The current understanding of animal welfare as a measure of the animals' quality of life has developed in the context of the social and cultural history of animal care and use and has roots in an expanding knowledge base of animal physiology and ethology (NATIONAL RESEARCH COUNCIL 2008). Broad public interest in animal welfare was first awakened by the publication of the book Animal Machines by HARRISON (1964), which depicted the husbandry conditions of the time and the associated suffering of farm animals (FRASER 2008). In reaction, the British government appointed a committee under the leadership of Professor F. W. Rogers Brambell to investigate 'the welfare of animals kept under intensive livestock husbandry systems' (BRAMBELL et al. 1965). A main finding of these investigations was that animal welfare is particularly dependent on both the physical and the mental wellbeing of the animal. To properly consider both these aspects and to grant animals basic freedoms, the Farm Animal Welfare Council developed 'five freedoms' based on the recommendations of the Brambell Report (WEBSTER 1995): 1) freedom from hunger and thirst, 2) freedom from discomfort, 3) freedom from pain, injury or disease, 4) freedom to express normal behaviour, and 5) freedom from fear and distress. Although the formulation of these freedoms was a good start towards improving conditions in animal husbandry, they reflect an ethical, anthropocentric view rather than a scientific one (KORTE et al. 2007). Another approach to defining animal welfare was therefore to examine both brain and periphery states in relation to the environmental challenges that led to those states (KORTE et al. 2007). Not constancy or freedoms, but capacity to change is crucial to good health and welfare (KORTE et al. 2007). In contrast to homeostasis, allostasis concept describes the process of achieving 'stability through changes'

(STERLING and EYER 1988) that enable an animal to respond to changing circumstances (MCEWEN and WINGFIELD 2010). BROOM (1986) formulated a widely used definition of welfare:

'The welfare of an individual is its state as regards its attempts to cope with its environment. Coping can sometimes be achieved with little effort and expenditure of resources, in which case the individual's welfare is satisfactory. Or it may fail to cope at all, in which case its welfare is obviously poor'.

How well an animal can cope with challenging situations depends on individual constitution, personality, previous experiences, and the nature of the challenging circumstances (KOOLHAAS et al. 1999, TILBROOK and RALPH 2017). Coping can be either neuroendocrine, behavioural, autonomic, immunological, or most of all a combination of these mechanisms (KOOLHAAS et al. 1999). Thus, animal-based indicators for the assessment of welfare comprise physiological measures (e.g. indicators of stress) as well as behavioural measures and clinical signs.

2.2 Stress response in mammals

2.2.1 Structure and function of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis

A major system of the physiological stress reaction that plays an important role in the adaptive response to long-term stress is the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (Fig. 1) (JACOBSON 2005).



Fig. 1: Structure of the HPA axis; the response to stress (blue arrows) and the negative feedback loop (red arrows)

Neurons whose cell bodies are located in the hypothalamus (specifically, the Nucleus paraventricularis) produce corticotrophin-releasing hormone (CRH) and neurohormone arginine vasopressin (AVP) (SAPOLSKY et al. 2000, SPENCER and DEAK 2017). When an organism is confronted with stressors, CRH is released and stimulates the G-protein-coupled CRH-receptor-1 in the endocrine cells of the anterior pituitary (JACOBSON 2005). There, these corticotrophs release the adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH), which is a cleavage product of proopiomelanocortin (SPENCER and DEAK 2017). Especially during repeated or chronic stimulation of the hypothalamus, AVP may function as a co-factor for the activation of ACTH-producing corticotrophs (SPENCER and DEAK 2017). In the adrenal glands (specifically, the zona fasciculate), ACTH leads to the conversion of cholesterol into glucocorticoids (GCs) by stimulating the melanocortin-2 receptor and finally the release of GCs into the blood (JACOBSON 2005). Hence, the HPA axis is a classical neuroendocrine system that serves to control adrenocortical GC secretion by the brain. Glucocorticoids, such as cortisol and corticosterone, have numerous effects on peripheral tissues, which can roughly be summarised as the organisation of energy consumption and energy distribution to overcome the homeostatic challenge caused by stress (JACOBSON 2005). Furthermore, the increased secretion of GCs has a regulating effect on the HPA axis itself. As a consequence of this negative feedback, the release of CRH and ACTH is inhibited, thus reducing the production of GCs. Therefore, the plasma levels of GCs are always within a species-specific physiological range if all organs involved are functioning properly.

2.2.2 Characteristics and effects of cortisol

The main glucocorticoid in most mammals and fishes is cortisol, whereas in rodents and birds it is corticosterone (JACOBSON 2005, SPENCER and DEAK 2017). Cortisol belongs to the class of steroid hormones and is released in a pronounced pulsatile and circadian rhythm depending on the day-night cycle. In diurnally active animals, cortisol peak levels are observed during the early morning, while nadir levels occur in the evening. In nocturnal animals, this cycle is reversed (JACOBSON 2005, FRIES et al. 2009, MÖSTL 2014). Steroid hormones are characterised by their typical biochemical structure of 17 carbon atoms arranged in four ring systems (GRANNER et al. 2015). Due to its liposolubility, the cortisol molecule can passively diffuse into cells across the phospholipid bilayers and activate intracellular receptors. There are two GC receptors: the mineralocorticoid receptor (MR) and the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) which both belong to the transcription factor (REUL and DE KLOET 1985, GRANNER et al. 2015). After binding cortisol in the cytoplasm, the receptor is activated and translocated into the cell nucleus. Locally, the receptor binds to deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA), modulates the transcription of specific genes, and thereby influences the synthesis of proteins (DE KLOET et al. 1998, 2005). Besides this receptor-mediated regulation of gene expression (genomic effects), which reacts with a slight delay, steroid receptors

5

also act due to rapid, receptor-mediated effects (non-genomic effects) (GROENEWEG 2011). This DNA-binding-independent functioning can be achieved due to protein-protein interactions with other transcription factors and enables, for instance, the negative feedback of cortisol on the HPA axis (GROENEWEG 2011). Cortisol can react with both MRs and GRs but binds with a tenfold higher affinity to MRs (SPENCER and DEAK 2017). Due to its numerous biological functions, cortisol is not only an important hormone in the stress response but also has various regulatory effects in the whole organism. As part of the provision of energy substrates, cortisol inhibits the uptake of glucose into cells and stimulates gluconeogenesis, which increases the glucose level in the bloodstream (KUO et al., 2015). Additionally, it inhibits lipogenesis, increases the decomposition of proteins and bones, and thereby influences muscle growth and the occurrence of osteoporosis (LUKERT and RAISZ 1990, GRANNER et al. 2015). In the gastro-intestinal system, the blood supply and secretion of digestive enzymes, protective mucus and saliva declines, while the production of gastric acid increases, elevating the risk of ulcer formation due to excessive cortisol release (YARIBEYGI et al. 2017). In addition, cortisol can increase blood pressure and heart rate and inhibit the immune system through various mechanisms (GRANNER et al. 2015, YARIBEYGI et al. 2017). Furthermore, cortisol facilitates the foetal development of organs such as the eyes, nervous system, and lungs (CHALLIS et al. 2001, GRANNER et al. 2015).

2.2.3 Conventional biological matrices for cortisol analysis

Cortisol is commonly used as an individual-based physiological indicator to assess stress, and its altered secretion is traditionally measured in blood samples (MORMÈDE et al. 2007). In mammals, cortisol is transported in the bloodstream mainly by binding to proteins, such as corticosteroid-binding globulin. About 90% of systemic cortisol is bound, while the remaining 10% is unbound in the bloodstream (MENDEL 1989, SPENCER and DEAK 2017). According to the free hormone transport hypothesis (MENDEL 1989), only unbound cortisol can diffuse into target tissues, so the cortisol concentrations detected in saliva samples, for example, are a reflection of this free cortisol fraction. Due to its simple and minimally invasive sampling procedure, salivary cortisol is applied increasingly frequently, especially for the repeated determination of cortisol in human and animal research (NEGRÃO et al. 2004, HELLHAMMER et al. 2009, MUNSTERHJELM et al. 2013). After a short half-life of about 15 minutes, cortisol is converted into biologically inactive, water-soluble metabolites that are predominantly excreted with urine and to a lesser extent with faeces (MÖSTL and PALME 2002, SPENCER and DEAK 2017). Cortisol and its metabolites can therefore also be determined in urine and faeces samples. All these biological matrices have their advantages and disadvantages, which various review articles have presented in detail (MORMÈDE et al. 2007, NOVAK et al. 2013, SPENCER and DEAK 2017). Blood, saliva, urine and faeces samples differ, for example, in their stability and storage possibilities, invasiveness of collection and dependence on the circadian rhythm. Cortisol measurements in blood and saliva samples reflect only the short-term hormone levels of the preceding minutes or hour and are therefore best suited to assess acute stress. Cortisol analysis in urine and faeces reveals average cortisol concentrations over periods ranging from hours (urine) to days (faeces), so if the aforementioned conventional matrices are used to assess long-term stress (weeks to month), it would be necessary to perform repeated sampling. Furthermore, the cortisol concentration in these biological materials is strongly influenced by short-term fluctuations in cortisol release, such as circadian rhythms, stress due to the sampling procedure, food intake, and exercise (OTOVIC and HUTCHINSON 2015).

2.3 Hair as a matrix for cortisol analysis

2.3.1 Hair structure and hair types

In mammals, hair is a skin appendage located in the epidermis and surrounded by sweat glands, sebaceous glands, and the erector muscle (HARKEY 1993, PRAGST and BALIKOVA 2006). Macroscopically, hair can be categorised into two main parts: the hair shaft and hair root (BOUMBA et al. 2006) (Fig. 2). The hair shaft is a dead, metabolically inactive tissue (PRAGST and BALIKOVA 2006) that protrudes above the skin and is therefore visible. The hair shaft consists of protein complexes (65–95%), water (15–35%), lipids (1–9%), pigments, and small quantities of trace elements (KIDWELL and BLANK 1996, ROBBINS 2002), and it has three layers: the cuticle, cortex, and medulla (CRUZ et al. 2016). The cuticle is an outer hydrophobic protection layer. Interestingly, although the cuticle is hydrophobic, its inner layers have hydrophilic properties and are therefore prone to swelling in aqueous liquids (ROBBINS 2002, KIDWELL and SMITH 2007). As a result, hair samples that appear dry from the outside may contain up to 30% moisture by weight (ZAHN 1989, CRUZ et al. 2016). The cuticle consists of flat, keratinised cells that overlap like roof tiles (HARKEY 1993, KIDWELL and BLANK 1996). The largest part of the hair shaft is called the cortex and consists of long, stratified, keratinised cells that form spindle-shaped fibres (CRUZ et al. 2016). This typical structure of macro- and microfibrils connected by cell membrane complexes is the reason for the flexibility of the hair shaft (ROBBINS 2002). Additionally, the cortex contains pigment granules filled with melanin, which gives the hair a typical colour and supports its photoprotective properties by dissipating absorbed ultraviolet radiation (HOTING et al. 1995, MADEA 2004). Melanin is produced in melanocytes located in the distal part of the hair root. There are two types of melanin: eumelanin (brown and black) and pheomelanin (red) (BOUMBA et al. 2006, CRUZ et al. 2016). The central part of the hair shaft is the medulla. It is surrounded by the cortex and consists of a thin cord of larger cells among air-filled spaces. The function of the medulla is still not fully understood, and not all hairs contain this part (HARKEY 1993, ROBERTSON 1999).



Fig. 2: Hair structure

The second main part of the hair – the hair root or hair follicle – is located approximately 2–4 mm below the skin surface (cattle: 2 mm (UDO 1978), pigs: 3.5 mm (personal data), humans: 4 mm (MADEA 2004)). The lowest part of the hair follicle is thickened and forms the hair bulb (CRUZ et al. 2016). An invagination at the basal end of the bulb forms the hair papilla, through which the hair is supplied with blood vessels. Besides the hair bulb, the hair follicle also consists of an outer and an inner epithelial root sheath and a fibrous root sheath (ROBERTSON 1999, CRUZ et al. 2016). The epithelial root sheath is an invagination of the epidermis, the hair shaft's anchor in the skin and the site of hair growth. The outer part of the hair root is the fibrous root sheath. This is where the musculus arrector pili is attached, which enables the hair to straighten up and contribute to thermoregulation (ROBERTSON 1999).

Due to the slightly inclined positions of hairs in the skin, they have specific growth directions which points in the direction of movement on the body and from proximal to distal on the legs (SALOMON et al. 2008). Hair density is species-specific and seasonal, and it depends on the number of active hair follicles (MOWAFY and CASSENS 1976b). However, the total number of hair follicles is already determined at the time of birth (MOWAFY and CASSENS 1976b, CRUZ et al. 2016). Hair types can be differentiated by their size and structure (SALOMON et al. 2008). The dominant hair type in most mammals is guard hair, which forms the main part of the fur, causes species-specific coat patterns and serves as a protective insulation layer (KONDO 2001; SALOMON et al. 2008). Additionally, species such as bears, boars, dogs and sheep have wool hairs, which are thin and puckered hairs that form an undercoat for thermal insulation (MEYER and GÖRGEN 1986, KONDO 2001, MEINDERS 2017). Pigs are covered with special guard hairs called bristles. These are stiff hairs with splitting ends, which in other mammalian species only appear as protective hairs around the head, such as eyelashes (SALOMON et al. 2008, MOHAN et al. 2015). Particularly striking are long

hairs, which appear, for example, as manes and tails in horses or as tail tips in cows and are characterised by an exceptionally long growth phase (HARKEY 1993, SALOMON et al. 2008). Another special case among the hair types is tactile hairs, which are surrounded by a blood sinus and many nerve fibres (SARKO et al. 2011).

2.3.2 Hair growth cycle

Hair growth takes place in the hair bulb and occurs in cycles of active growth and resting phases (CHASE 1954), with the rate of hair growth depending on the species and body region (HARKEY 1993, MADEA 2004). Active growth only occurs in the anagen phase, which is the longest stage and lasts , for instance, about 3–5 months in pigs (MOWAFY and CASSENS 1976a) and about five years in human scalp hair (CRUZ et al. 2016). During this growth phase, hair follicle cells differentiate and enable the hair shaft to grow (HARKEY 1993, ROBERTSON 1999). Additionally, melanocytes are activated to produce pigments. Since the hair follicle is supplied with blood via the papillae in the anagen phase, the incorporation of substances derived from the blood mainly occurs during this period (MEYER and NOVAK 2012). The anagen is followed by the transitional phase, known as catagen, which lasts about 20 days in pigs (MOWAFY and CASSENS 1976a) and several weeks in humans (MADEA 2004). The blood vessels begin to recede, pigmentation and differentiation discontinue, and the hair bulb shortens (ROBERTSON 1999). Finally, the hair reaches the resting phase, which is called telogen. In human scalp hair, this phase lasts about three months (CRUZ et al., 2016), whereas in animals, the duration of this resting phase is strongly influenced by environmental conditions (LING 1970). In the telogen phase, the hair stops growing completely and is finally expelled by the appearance of a new hair (ROBERTSON 1999). In humans, scalp hairs grow in a mosaic pattern, so hairs are always in different growth stages beside each other. However, growth stages undergo seasonal changes, showing maximum telogen hairs in August and September (ROBBINS 2002). In most domestic mammals, hair loss is observed as a seasonal change of hair in the spring and autumn, a phenomenon called shedding (LING 1970, STENN and PAUS 2001). Hair growth occurs mainly in waves with the synchronised activity of hair follicles (LING 1970, MEYER et al. 1980). In this way, animal species can adapt to changing climatic conditions. In domesticated pigs, the growth wave starts in the abdominal area and moves caudally over the sides to the sacral part of the back. From here, it then spreads cranially over the flanks and back to the head (MEYER et al. 1980). Due to domestication, a clear distinction between spring and winter shedding is not possible. However, at the beginning of summer, follicle activity increases and the hair coat becomes denser (MOWAFY and CASSENS 1976a). In cattle, clear shedding can be observed in the spring, with the whole body covered with loose, dull hairs (MEYER et al. 1980). In European cattle breeds, new summer hair first appears on the head and neck and gradually spreads towards the shoulders (MEYER et al. 1980). The growth wave of the regionally, synchronously developing

9

hair follicles then follows a narrow strip caudally along the spine, from where it spreads to the lateral body wall. The ventral flanks and abdominal region are the last parts of the body affected by the hair change. In contrast, shedding in autumn is comparatively inconspicuous, does not follow any pattern and is rather diffuse (MEYER et al., 1980).

2.3.3 Incorporation of cortisol into the hair

2.3.3.1 Passive diffusion

The first evidence that hair can store substances permanently emerged in the mid-19th century when arsenic was detected in the hair of a corpse (MADEA 2004). Almost 150 years later, CIRIMELE et al. (2000) detected cortisol in human hair and KOREN et al. (2002) in the hair of wildlife. Because research on the incorporation of drugs into human hair is more advanced than investigations of hair cortisol, the hypotheses on the incorporation of cortisol into hair were mostly adopted from drug research. At the beginning of hair research, it was assumed that substances were only incorporated into hair by passive diffusion from blood vessels that enter the hair root via the hair papillae (HENDERSON 1993). Since steroids are lipophilic hormones and can penetrate biological membranes passively, diffusion from the bloodstream seems the most important way to incorporate cortisol into the hair (HENDERSON 1993, MEYER and NOVAK 2012). Therefore, unbound cortisol from the blood is incorporated into the hair shaft caused by the concentration gradient and thus may reflect systemic cortisol concentrations. However, there is no evidence of where exactly steroid hormones are stored within the hair shaft. Studies from drug research have suggested that the stable retention of substances is mainly due to their binding to melanin and proteins (CONE 1996). Incorporation via passive diffusion is dependent on the blood supply, so only actively growing hair during the anagen phase can incorporate cortisol from the bloodstream (MEYER and NOVAK 2012). In addition, there is a time delay between cortisol incorporation, which takes place several millimetres below the skin surface, and when this hair section emerges from the skin surface (RUSSELL et al. 2012).

2.3.3.2 Multi-compartment model

Besides the diffusion of cortisol from blood vessels into growing hair, substances can be incorporated into the hair shaft from other sources (Fig. 3). The multi-compartment model proposed by HENDERSON (1993) assumes that substances from the skin or the environment can also be integrated into the keratinised hair shaft (BOUMBA et al. 2006). Due to the structure of the hair and its cuticle, substances that are lipophilic, non-polar and have radii of less than 0.4 nm can easily penetrate the hair shaft (MADEA 2004). Previous studies showed that body fluids containing cortisol, such as sebum, sweat, saliva and urine, can be additional sources of cortisol (MACBETH et al. 2010, CATTET et al. 2014, GRASS 2017). Sebum is a complex mixture of lipids and cell debris

produced in small follicle-associated holocrine glands (sebaceous glands) and secreted directly into the hair canal (HARKEY 1993, ZOUBOULIS et al. 2016). It keeps the hair smooth and protects the skin from desiccation (ROBBINS 2002). Additionally, eccrine sweat glands produce and secrete sweat on the skin surface. Sweat is an aqueous solution consisting mainly of water and NaCl, and it is primarily involved in thermoregulation (BAKER 2019). Due to the proximity of the hair and these glands, cortisol-containing body fluids cover the hair surface and thus enable the incorporation of cortisol into the hair shaft. The hair, especially in animals, can also be contaminated with saliva and urine that contain cortisol (MÖSTL and PALME 2002). Like external contamination with body fluids, WANG et al. (2019) showed that exogenous cortisol from a cortisol-containing cream can be incorporated into the hair shaft. Furthermore, follicle cells themselves may produce cortisol and form an independent 'peripheral HPA axis' (ITO et al. 2005, SLOMINSKI et al., 2007). However, the quantities of this peripheral cortisol are comparatively small and therefore play only a subordinate role.



Fig. 3: Pathways of incorporation and elimination of cortisol into/from the hair shaft (adapted from MEYER and NOVAK 2012, STALDER and KIRSCHBAUM 2012, GRASS 2017). Blood cortisol, the presumed main source of incorporated cortisol, is marked by green hexagons () and cortisol from

other sources by blue hexagons (
).

2.3.4 Elimination of cortisol from the hair

Previous studies on human hair have shown that extensive cosmetic treatments, such as dyeing and bleaching, can reduce concentrations of substances in the hair shaft (JURADO et al. 1997, BOUMBA et al. 2006). In this context, recent studies have investigated the impacts of different hair treatments on cortisol concentrations in hair and revealed contradictory results (HAMEL et al. 2011, DETTENBORN et al. 2012, KRISTENSEN et al. 2017). However, a meta-analysis of the various determinants of hair cortisol in humans showed that the influence of hair-washing frequency and hair treatment might be low (STALDER et al. 2017). Nevertheless, STALDER et al. (2017) recommended that the impact of these factors should be considered in future research. Frequent washing or chemical and physical treatment, such as dyeing, bleaching and brushing, may damage hair cuticles (DAWBER 1996, ROBBINS 2002, DIAS 2015) and thus leach cortisol. When examining hair segments by cutting hair strands into several pieces and analysing them separately, KIRSCHBAUM et al. (2009) observed a decline in cortisol concentrations from the proximal to the distal part of the hair, the so-called 'washout effect'. STALDER et al. (2017) confirmed these findings and showed a decline of 29% in HCC from the first proximal 3 cm to the following distal 3 cm segments of the human hair shaft. Distal hair segments may be exposed to external influences longer than proximal segments and thus may have a more damaged hair structure (DAWBER 1996). Therefore, the impact of external influences could be greater and the loss of cortisol could be higher with increasing distance from the skin surface. In addition to washing and shampooing hair in humans, exposure to rain or bathing in natural waters may have a similar washout effect on cortisol levels in animal hair. Furthermore, previous studies have shown a significant decrease in HCCs after exposure to natural sunlight and artificial light (GRASS et al. 2016, WESTER et al. 2016), presumably due to the enhanced degradation of cortisol, as radiant energy seems capable of directly destroying incorporated substances (GRASS et al. 2016).

2.3.5 Specific characteristics and applications of hair cortisol

Due to continuous hair growth and the associated incorporation of cortisol into the hair shaft, the cortisol level in a hair sample reflects the HPA axis activity from the entire period of hair growth (MEYER and NOVAK 2012, STALDER and KIRSCHBAUM 2012). Since hair growth lasts several months to years (MOWAFY and CASSENS 1976a, BINZ and BAUMGARTNER 2016), hair as a biological matrix may be a promising indicator for the assessment of long-term stress. Since cortisol, which is incorporated into the hair shaft, has a high stability when protected from light, hair samples can easily be stored at room temperature in the dark (RUSSELL et al., 2012). In addition, sampling hair is minimally invasive, and the procedure itself has no influence on the cortisol in the collected sample (RUSSELL et al. 2012, STALDER and KIRSCHBAUM 2012). Another special characteristic of

12

hair as a sampling material is the possibility of using it as a 'retrospective calendar' (KIRSCHBAUM et al. 2009). Barring cortisol-degrading influences, the continuous incorporation and stable retention of cortisol in the hair shaft during hair growth capture the average cortisol concentrations of the previous months and possibly years, depending on the hair length (KIRSCHBAUM et al. 2009). Assuming a hair growth rate of one centimetre per month in human scalp hair (BINZ and BAUMGARTNER 2016), the proximal centimetre above the skin represents the last month of hair growth, the next distal centimetre the second last month and so on (RUSSELL et al. 2012). In humans, analysing hair segments is thus increasingly common to monitor the therapy of patients with hyper- or hypocortisolism, for example (THOMSON et al. 2010, GOW et al. 2011, HODES et al., 2018) or to assess cortisol fluctuation during pregnancy (D'ANNA- HERNANDEZ et al. 2011, BRAIG et al. 2015). Research on hair cortisol in humans has focused on changes in cortisol related to mental health, including psychiatric disorders (VIVES et al. 2015, STALDER et al. 2017) and various social stressors, such as unemployment (DETTENBORN et al. 2010) and stress at school (GROENEVELD et al. 2013, MINKLEY et al. 2015). Furthermore, hair cortisol analysis is also used in the diagnosis, prognosis and therapy of other clinical conditions, such as Cushing syndrome, adrenal insufficiency and cardiovascular disease (WESTER and VAN ROSSMUN 2015, GREFF et al. 2019, IOB and STEPTOE 2019). Besides, there is first evidence that stress management can help to reduce stress and thus lower hair cortisol concentrations (IGLESIAS et al. 2015).

When investigating the impacts of different stressors on HCC, it was found that non-stressrelated factors also influence the incorporation and elimination of cortisol into/from the hair shaft (STALDER et al. 2017). These influencing factors can be categorised into individual- or animal-based factors, as well as seasonal and hair-specific factors. Individual-based factors include, for example, the age and sex of the individual and the reproductive cycle in females. These factors are directly dependent on physiological fluctuations in HPA axis activity, such as increased systemic cortisol levels prior to delivery (OBEL et al. 2005). Hair-specific influencing factors can be derived from the special characteristics of hair as a biological sampling material. Due to the pigmentation of the hair and the potential light-protecting and binding properties of melanin, the colour of the hair sample can influence hair cortisol levels (STAUFENBIEL et al. 2015, BINZ et al. 2018). In addition, varied blood supply, skin temperature and external influences on different body regions can influence the HCC in the sampling region (SHARPLEY et al. 2010, LI et al. 2012).

3 Research focuses and aims

Under commercial husbandry conditions, farm animals can be exposed to various stresses and strains caused by poor housing conditions, for instance. Since stress can compromise animal welfare and lead to impaired product quality, interest is growing in the study of stress indicators and their application in monitoring programmes. Previous studies in various species have shown that hair cortisol concentration seem to be a promising retrospective marker of systemic cortisol levels and therefore a possible long-term indicator of stress. Thus, the general aims of the present work are to investigate influencing factors on HCC, and to examine the potential of hair cortisol concentration as an indicator of long-term stress in cattle and pigs. For this purpose, four studies have been conducted which build on each other (Fig. 4). First of all, the aims of Study 1 were to present the current state of knowledge regarding the possible use of HCCs for the assessment of stress in non-human animals and to identify knowledge gaps in hair cortisol research as a basis for subsequent studies. Considering the findings of this review, Study 2 aimed to identify the impact of the potential influencing factors on HCCs in cattle and pigs. After that, the aim of Study 3 was to investigate whether and when long-term increased systemic cortisol levels were reflected in elevated HCCs in these species. Based on the results of Studies 2 and 3 and on hints in the literature, I assumed that in addition to the influencing factors already examined, contamination and elimination by washout may affect HCCs. Thus, Study 4 was conducted to investigate the impact of contaminating hair with cortisol-containing body fluids and the elimination effect of water treatment on hair cortisol levels in vitro.

For **Study 1**, I performed extensive literature research and presented the results as a review article. Hair-specific characteristics, including the benefits and limitations of hair, were summarised and compared with other sampling materials for cortisol analysis. After an overview of the impact of stressors, various non-stress-related factors were identified that may influence the cortisol concentrations in animal hair, and practical recommendations for the use of hair cortisol were given.

Considering the findings of that review, **Study 2** focused on investigating influencing factors, including animal-based, seasonal and hair-specific variables, such as age and sex, hair colour, sampling region and hair segments. It is assumed that hair cortisol levels reflect variations in HPA axis activity and hair-specific differences due to growth, location and maturation of the hair.

14



Fig. 4: Overview of the studies conducted within the present thesis

In **Study 3**, we examined the effect of long-term stress, the best time for hair sampling after a period of long-term stress and the most suitable type of hair samples. For these purposes, repeated intramuscular (i.m.) injections of ACTH were administered to induce HPA axis activity and simulate long-term stress over four weeks. The HCC analysis was performed in three different hair sample types (natural, regrown and segmented hairs) at four sampling times. Based on average hair growth rates in cattle and pigs, models for the time course of cortisol incorporation into the hair shaft were established, and we tested whether and after what time period long-term elevated systemic cortisol levels were reflected by increased cortisol concentrations in different hair sample types. It was hypothesised that repeated ACTH administrations increased cortisol concentrations in all hair sample types, with a higher magnitude in regrown hair and the highest levels within four weeks after the stress period.

As a follow-up to the findings of Studies 2 and 3, **Study 4** was conducted. In this *in vitro* study, bovine and porcine hair samples were repeatedly contaminated with urine, saliva and faeces of the respective species, treated with water or left untreated. A potential relationship between the cortisol concentration in the contaminating fluid and the amount of cortisol incorporated into the hair was considered using urine and saliva with physiologically high and low cortisol concentrations. This study was based on the hypothesis that externally contaminating hairs with body fluids increases their cortisol concentrations depending on the cortisol concentration in the fluid.

15

4 Results

4.1 Study 1: Hair cortisol for the assessment of stress (review)

The use of hair cortisol for the assessment of stress in animals

Susen Heimbürge, Ellen Kanitz, Winfried Otten

This work was published in General and Comparative Endocrinology 270 (2019) 10–17

Highlights:

- Hair cortisol concentration (HCC) is a useful biomarker of long-term stress.
- Minimally invasive hair sampling offers many benefits in animal-welfare research.
- Age, pregnancy, hair colour, body region, sex and season of year may affect HCC.
- Sampling protocols with a standardisation of interfering factors should be used.

Statement of contribution:

My own contribution to the first publication of my thesis comprised the conceptualisation of the manuscript, the literature research and the interpretation and summary of the findings considering their relevance. I wrote and submitted the manuscript with the support of and in agreement with the co-authors.

General and Comparative Endocrinology 270 (2019) 10-17

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



General and Comparative Endocrinology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ygcen



The use of hair cortisol for the assessment of stress in animals

Susen Heimbürge, Ellen Kanitz, Winfried Otten*

Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN), Institute of Behavioural Physiology, Wilhelm-Stahl-Allee 2, 18196 Dummerstorf, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Hair cortisol HPA axis Animal welfare Confounder Biomarker Long-term stress

ABSTRACT

The hair cortisol concentration (HCC) is assumed to be a retrospective marker of integrated cortisol secretion and stress over longer periods of time. Its quantification is increasingly used in psychoneuroendocrinological studies in humans, but also in animal stress and welfare research. The measurement of HCCs for the assessment of stress offers many considerable benefits for use in domesticated and wild animals, especially due to the easy and minimally invasive sampling procedure and the representation of longer time periods in one sample. This review aims to outline the different fields of application and to assess the applicability and validity of HCC as an indicator for chronic stress or long-term activity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in wild and domesticated animals. Specific hair characteristics are presented and the advantages and limitations of using HCC are discussed. An overview of findings on the impact of stress- and health-related factors on HCCs and of diverse influencing factors causing variation in hair cortisol levels in different species is given. Recommendations for the use of hair cortisol analysis are proposed and potential fields of future research are pointed out. The studies indicate an effect of age and pregnancy on HCCs, and cortisol incorporation into hair was also found to depend on hair colour, body region, sex and season of year, but these results are less consistent. Furthermore, the results in animals show that a wide array of stressors and pathological conditions alters the cortisol concentrations in hair and that HCC thereby provides a reliable and valid reflection of long-term cortisol secretion in many species. However, more research is necessary to investigate the underlying mechanisms of cortisol incorporation into the hair and to explore the hair growth characteristics in the species of interest. To overcome confounding influences, the use of standardized sampling protocols is strongly advised.

1. Introduction

Investigations of physiological stress responses to acute or long-term stress routinely use cortisol measurement as an indicator for the activity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis. Common matrices for the analysis of cortisol or its metabolites are blood, saliva, urine and faeces. In these biological materials, the measured cortisol levels represent only a retrospective timespan of a few minutes up to one or two days (Meyer and Novak, 2012; Novak et al., 2013). Thus, to assess chronic stress or long-term activity of the HPA axis, repeated and, in some cases, elaborate samplings have to be applied. Using a novel approach, Cirimele et al. (2000) analysed ten different corticoids in human scalp hair, and Koren et al. (2002) investigated cortisol concentrations in hair of rock hyrax, indicating the suitability of hair cortisol as an innovative indicator for the assessment of chronic stress. The potential benefits of hair cortisol analyses caused a rapid expansion of this research area, especially in psychoneuroendocrinological studies in humans, but also increasingly in animal stress and welfare research. In this context, the evaluation of chronic or repeated stress is particularly important, because it may cause higher biological costs of coping with the stressor, diverting resources away from other biological functions such as immune competence, reproduction or growth (Moberg, 2000; Möstl and Palme 2002). There are several reviews providing deeper insights into research using human hair samples, cortisol incorporation into the hair, sampling techniques and analytical methods (Burnard et al., 2017; Gao et al., 2016, 2013; Russell et al., 2012; Stalder and Kirschbaum, 2012). This review aims to assess the applicability and validity of hair cortisol concentrations (HCCs) as an indicator for chronic stress or long-term activity of the HPA axis in wild and domesticated animals and is the first review which outlines the various fields of application of hair cortisol analysis focused on animal species. Hair-specific characteristics are presented and the advantages and limitations of using HCC in comparison to other matrices are discussed. An overview of findings on the impact of stress- and health-related factors on HCCs in different animal species and of diverse influencing factors, such as age, sex and hair colour, causing variation in HCC is given. Finally, missing knowledge is highlighted and recommendations for the use of hair cortisol analysis and further research are proposed.

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: otten@fbn-dummerstorf.de (W. Otten).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2018.09.016

Received 21 June 2018; Received in revised form 10 September 2018; Accepted 29 September 2018

Available online 02 October 2018

0016-6480/ \otimes 2018 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/BY/4.0/).

2. Stress response of the HPA axis

Physiological stress responses are crucial for an organism to adapt to acute and chronic stressors. One major neuroendocrine system involved in the physiological response to stress is the HPA axis (Dallman et al., 1987). Activation of the HPA axis is accompanied by the release of glucocorticoids (GCs), which induce homeostatic processes in energy metabolism and neurobiological function (Miller and O'Callaghan, 2002; Sapolsky et al., 2000). The HPA axis comprises three major components, the hypothalamus, the anterior pituitary and the adrenal cortex. Neurons of the paraventricular nuclei of the hypothalamus synthesise corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH), which triggers the release of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) from the anterior pituitary into the blood (Johnson et al., 1992; Spencer and Deak, 2017). In the adrenal cortex, ACTH stimulates the production and release of GCs, with cortisol being the principal GC in most mammals and fish, and corticosterone being the major GC in birds and rodents (Mormède et al., 2007; Spencer and Deak, 2017).

There are numerous regulatory functions of cortisol throughout the body, e.g., lipolytic and proteolytic activity to mobilise energy stores, gluconeogenesis, suppression of immune reactions and neurobiological effects (Sapolsky et al., 2000). Activation of the HPA axis and the release of GCs are usually pulsatile and follow diurnal and ultradian rhythms (Mormède et al., 2007; Ralph and Tilbrook, 2016; Spiga et al., 2014). Exposure to stressors is commonly associated with increased HPA axis activity, and therefore, the response of cortisol is generally considered an indicator for stress (Dallman et al., 1987; Sapolsky et al., 2000). The magnitude of the cortisol response to acute stressors can indicate stressor intensity, and changes in the basal levels or long-term profiles were shown to be associated with chronic stress, mental health disorders and pathological conditions in humans (McEwen, 2008; Walker et al., 2013). However, there are also pitfalls that must be considered when using cortisol concentrations as a stress marker because increased HPA activity can also be caused by metabolic processes, positive affective states, mating behaviour and physical activity (Mormède et al., 2007; Ralph and Tilbrook, 2016). Commonly, cortisol and its metabolites can be measured in different sample matrices, like blood, saliva, urine and faeces (Cook, 2012). More recently, the specific characteristics of hair cortisol were examined as a potential tool for measuring the long-term activity of the HPA axis (Burnard et al., 2017; Russell et al., 2012; Stalder and Kirschbaum, 2012).

3. Hair-specific characteristics and cortisol incorporation

Information about how substances can be incorporated into the hair shaft can be derived from the multi-compartment model by Henderson (1993), but the mechanisms of cortisol incorporation are not yet fully understood (Meyer and Novak, 2012). Hair growth occurs in cycles consisting of three phases: active growth (anagen), transition (catagen) and resting (telogen) (Harkey, 1993). Systemic cortisol can be only incorporated into the growing hair shaft from blood vessels via passive diffusion during the anagen phase (Meyer and Novak, 2012). In this case, incorporation occurs in the hair follicle which is located several millimetres below the skin surface (Harkey, 1993; Udo, 1978). Thus, there is a time delay between cortisol incorporation into the hair and the time point at which this hair section arrives at the skin surface (Montillo et al., 2014; Stalder and Kirschbaum 2012). This time delay depends on hair growth velocity, may vary between species and body regions (Burnett et al., 2014: Trevisan et al., 2017) and must be taken into account when using HCC as a stress indicator.

There are several reports raising concerns about the validity of HCC to represent HPA axis activity and systemic cortisol alone. Salaberger et al. (2016) could show that hair of sheep that was brushed or treated with dexamethasone contained higher HCC compared with untreated hair. These findings indicate that GCs in the hair shaft may derive from other sources, e.g. contamination or local production by hair follicle

General and Comparative Endocrinology 270 (2019) 10-17

cells (Keckeis et al., 2012; Slominski et al., 2007). Incorporation of cortisol into the hair from the blood alone was also questioned by studies in brown bears (Cattet et al., 2014; Macbeth et al., 2010). The authors found differing HCCs among different capture methods, which could not be explained by cortisol incorporation with hair growth and thus may indicate contamination by excreta, saliva, sweat, or by local cortisol sources such as skin cells or sebaceous glands.

For the use of HCC as a biomarker of stress, it is important that the sample contains enough actively growing hairs, which can be achieved by the "shave-reshave" method. A certain area is shaved at the beginning of the period of interest, and the regrown hair in the same area is reshaved at the end of this period (Davenport et al., 2008; Meyer and Novak, 2012). In addition to the hair growth cycle, which relates to single hairs, the seasonal shedding rhythm of the whole coat, different hair growth rates (depending on species, age, sex and sampling region), and possible confounding effects such as variation in skin temperature and hair colour have to be considered (Mowafy and Cassens, 1975; Sharplev et al., 2012).

Kirschbaum and colleagues showed in humans that there is a decline in HCC from the first proximal hair segments to the distal ones, the socalled washout effect (Kirschbaum et al., 2009). Explanations for these results could be UV radiation (Wester et al., 2016), hair washing frequency and hair treatment in humans (Stalder et al., 2017) or the influence of grooming in animals (Acker et al., 2018). However, other studies revealed diverging results regarding the washout effect. Carlitz et al. (2015) and Duran et al. (2017) found a decrease in HCC along the hair shaft in chimpanzees and horses, whereas in dogs, grizzly bears and orang-utans, HCC seem to be stable along the whole hair (Bennett and Hayssen, 2010; Carlitz et al., 2014; Macbeth et al., 2010).

In summary, the various hair-specific characteristics like cyclic hair growth, the time delay for sampling and a potential decline of HCC along the hair shaft have to be considered when using HCC as a stress indicator. However, there is a particular need to further elucidate the mechanisms of cortisol incorporation into the hair shaft and potential sources of contamination.

4. Comparison of matrices for analyses of cortisol and metabolites

4.1. Sampling procedure

For the evaluation of stress, it is essential that the process of sampling does not interfere with the stress marker. This could be the case with blood samples, for which animals have to be captured and restrained before sampling (Sheriff et al., 2011). In addition, a venous puncture itself is a stressful, invasive sampling method, and thus, there is growing interest in non-invasive or minimally invasive sampling techniques. Saliva sampling is minimally invasive and therefore highly practicable in various animal species. However, preceding feed or water intake may interfere saliva sampling by increased salivation or contamination with food. Collecting faeces from the environment is a noninvasive sampling method, but results usually cannot be assigned to individual animals, whereas the collection of urine is difficult and not practicable for many approaches. In comparison, the process of hair sampling is minimally invasive and painless. Moreover, it is possible to collect shed hair in sleeping nests (Carlitz et al., 2016) or abraded hair from fences without disturbance of the animals (Cattet et al., 2014). Shaving and sampling of hair is an easy procedure that can be performed after a short instruction and that, in contrast to blood sampling, does not require the presence of a professional. Furthermore, centrifugation, refrigeration and freezing of samples are not required initially (Russell et al., 2012). As a precaution, hair samples could be stored in a dry and dark place to avoid a possible washout effect by UV radiation (Wester et al., 2016). Nevertheless, hair cortisol seems to have a high long-term stability over month and years, as shown in cattle (González-de-la-Vara et al., 2011), bears (Macbeth et al., 2010) and human mummies (Webb et al., 2010).

4.2. Represented time periods of stress

The different sample matrices in which cortisol or its metabolites can be measured provide information about diverging time periods (Sheriff et al., 2011). Cortisol levels in blood and saliva represent only a short time period, and thus, repeated sampling is necessary for an integrated cortisol response and daily fluctuations have to be considered (Russell et al., 2012). In comparison, cortisol and its metabolites in urine and faeces are detectable from previous hours up to days, however with considerable species-specific differences in the time course of excretion (Möstl and Palme, 2002). During hair growth, cortisol is continuously incorporated into the hair shaft. Therefore, it is possible to assess HPA axis activity during the last weeks and months in one hair strand, depending on hair length and growth rate (Meyer and Novak, 2012). In this way, the necessity and effort of taking repeated samples can be avoided. Thus, HCC is a useful marker for long-term stress but not for short, single or scarce events (Ashlev et al., 2011; Tallo-Parra et al., 2017). However, the time delay between incorporation of cortisol into the hair shaft and the appearance of this section of hair at the skin surface has to be considered. Long hair can be cut into segments, where each segment represents a proximate measure of a particular time period, and thus, a "retrospective calendar" of stressful events can be created (Russell et al., 2012). In this context, the cortisol concentrations in lanugo and vellus hair of neonates could be used for the assessment of prenatal stress (Kapoor et al., 2016).

5. Hair cortisol as a measure of stress

5.1. Experimental stimulation

Administrations of ACTH are experimentally used in various species to induce the release of cortisol from the adrenal cortex and to assess the HPA axis response (Mormède et al., 2007; Otten et al., 2004; Rushen et al., 2008). As repeated ACTH applications can mimic the HPA response to recurrent stressors (Otten et al., 2004), these experimentally induced cortisol releases were also used to validate HCC as an indicator for long-term stress. Dairy cattle, treated three times with ACTH during two weeks, showed significantly higher HCCs than salinetreated or control animals (González-de-la-Vara et al., 2011). Comparable results were found after repeated ACTH treatments over periods ranging from two weeks to more than two months in goats (Endo et al., 2018), Canada lynx (Terwissen et al., 2013) and chipmunks (Mastromonaco et al., 2014). However, HPA activation by single doses of ACTH might be insufficient to affect HCC. Ashley et al. (2011) applied a single dose of ACTH in caribou and reindeer, and Tallo-Parra et al. (2017) treated calves two times with ACTH. Both of them failed to see an effect on HCC, indicating the robustness of hair cortisol levels against occasional stress reactions. This may be due to the fact that a short section of increased cortisol in the hair shaft after a single shortterm stress is not sufficient to modify HCC measured in a later sample of whole hairs. Using a slightly different approach, Schubach et al. (2016) administered CRH to Angus heifers twice daily over a period of two weeks and found significantly higher HCCs in CRH-treated animals compared with hair samples from control heifers. Together, the findings suggest that repeated stimulation of the HPA axis by administrations of ACTH or CRH is reflected by an increased accumulation of cortisol in the hair shaft. This also implies that HCC can be used for the integrative assessment of long-term HPA axis activity.

5.2. Living, housing and management conditions

It was shown in companion animals that poor living conditions affect HPA axis activity and thus HCCs. Solitary housing of dogs decreased HCC compared with dogs in multi-dog households (Bennett and Hayssen, 2010), but increased HCC compared with paired housing (Grigg et al., 2017). Nicholson and Meredith (2015) showed a positive

General and Comparative Endocrinology 270 (2019) 10-17

correlation between HCC and the length of time dogs were regularly left alone, indicating a higher stress level caused by solitary housing. Additionally, it was shown that competition dogs had higher HCC than companion and professional working dogs (Roth et al., 2016). Furthermore, a number of studies in farm, zoo and wild animals have investigated the relationship between HCC and housing conditions or stressful procedures. In pigs, housing in barren conditions caused significantly higher HCCs compared with housing in enriched pens (Casal et al., 2017b), and weekly mixing of animals resulted in elevated HCCs (Casal et al., 2017a). In beef cattle, a substantial reduction in stocking density from 25,000 to 14 square metres per heifer resulted in significantly increased cortisol concentrations in tail switch hair (Schubach et al., 2017), whereas minor differences in stocking density of cattle had no effect on HCC (Silva et al., 2016). Accordingly, Dettmer et al. (2014) observed a higher HCC in rhesus macaques from highdensity environments than in animals living at a lower population density. Castration of calves is a stressful and painful procedure, which leads to increased plasma and saliva cortisol concentrations (González et al., 2010; Petherick et al., 2014). In line with these findings, Creutzinger et al. (2017) showed a significantly higher HCC in surgically castrated compared with sham-castrated calves, indicating that surgical castration likewise leads to a higher HCC. However, the effect of this single stressful procedure on HCC was not consistent, as other studies reveal no significant effect in cattle (Marti et al., 2017, 2015). Capture and handling of brown bears (Cattet et al., 2014), the intervention of humans in the habitat of wild chimpanzees (Carlitz et al., 2016), heavily hunting of wolves (Bryan et al., 2015) and the relocation of monkeys (Davenport et al., 2006; Fairbanks et al., 2011; Yamanashi et al., 2016a), rabbits (Peric et al., 2017) and cows (Comin et al., 2011) from their habitual environment are also stressors that can cause an increase in HCC. Interestingly, in the study of Peric et al. (2017), not only relocation induced an increase of HCC, but also the change of employees in the facility. Farming of Asiatic black bears on bile farms causes a plethora of physical and mental sufferings (Maas, 2000) and thus, unsurprisingly, relocation of these bears from a bile farm to a rehabilitation facility was accompanied by a decline in HCC (Malcolm et al., 2013). In summary, a wide range of different stressors associated with the housing, management and handling of animals increase HPA axis activity, which can be reflected by an increased HCC, especially when the period of stress experience covers weeks or months

5.3. Social behaviour

The social environment of animals and stress induced by social interactions and dominance are important modulators of HPA axis activity (Creel et al., 2013). Whether social stress affects dominants or subordinates to a greater degree depends on the species- and sex-specific allostatic load of social status, which may be assessed by GC profiles in blood, urine and faeces (Goymann and Wingfield, 2004). Likewise, the relationship between social rank and hair cortisol concentrations is ambiguous between species. Koren et al. (2008) reported that singing rock hyrax, which are more dominant, show a higher HCC in comparison with non-singing males. On the other hand, in female rhesus macaques living in less stringent groups, elevated HCCs were found in low-ranking compared with higher ranking monkeys (Qin et al., 2013). It was shown in lemurs and chimpanzees that receiving aggressions like chasing, hitting or biting, also relates to a higher HCC (Tennenhouse et al., 2017; Yamanashi et al., 2018, 2016b, 2013). Furthermore, Finkler and Terkel (2010) found a significant positive correlation between agonistic behaviour and hair cortisol levels in female cats, indicating that aggressive cats had higher HCCs. Animal temperament may be an additional personality trait affecting HCC, as shown in chipmunks where HCC was positively correlated with docility (Martin and Réale, 2008), but no relationship between temperament and HCC was found in cattle (Cooke et al., 2017; Lockwood et al., 2017). In conclusion, social environment and behaviour can affect HCC,

but the outcome is closely linked to species-specific and individual characteristics.

5.4. Body condition and nutritional status

Several studies also investigated hair cortisol as a measure of nutritional stress and body condition in different species. In this regard, Bryan et al. (2013) analysed cortisol in hair from salmon-eating grizzly bears and found a significant negative correlation between HCC and salmon availability. Likewise, Macbeth et al. (2012) and Cattet et al. (2014) showed that HCCs in polar bears and free-ranging brown bears are negatively associated with body condition. Also in pigs, it was shown that lean sows had higher HCCs compared with normal-weight sows (Trevisan et al., 2017). The effects of water restriction during heat-stress conditions on cortisol levels in the blood and hair of sheep were investigated by Ghassemi Nejad et al. (2014). HCC was higher in animals that suffered a 3-hour water restriction after feeding than in sheep that had free access to water or only a 2-hour water restriction. These findings suggest that HCC may be a useful indicator of water restriction or nutritional stress caused by increased foraging behaviour and/or mobilisation of energy stores during periods of reduced food availability

5.5. Diseases and disorders

The appearance of medical disorders and clinical diseases can be accompanied by altered activity of the HPA axis. As shown in sheep, infection of the right hind foot with ovine footrot caused a decrease in HCC in both limbs (Stubsjoen et al., 2015). A study in eastern grey kangaroos described a significantly higher HCC in animals infected with lumpy jaw disease compared with healthy control animals, however, this effect was dependent on body region where hairs were sampled (Sotohira et al., 2017). As might be expected, HCC in dogs with Cushing syndrome was higher than in healthy controls, indicating that HCC can be a helpful tool for the diagnosis and therapy of hypercortisolism and adrenal insufficiency (Corradini et al., 2013; Ouschan et al., 2013). Studies in rhesus macaques showed a positive correlation of HCC with hair loss, although there were no indices of concomitant stressors causing the alopecia (Lutz et al., 2016; Novak et al., 2014). Likewise, a significantly higher HCC was observed in dogs with atopic dermatitis compared with healthy dogs (Park et al., 2016). The positive correlation of HCC with the extent of cutaneous lesions indicates that hair cortisol may be increased as a consequence of chronic physical discomfort caused by itchy, dry and inflamed skin in dogs (Park et al., 2016). Infections with gastro-intestinal parasites, however, revealed no significant effects on HCC in reindeer (Carlsson et al., 2016) or pigs (Trevisan et al., 2017).

In addition to the previous studies, which were focused on a certain disease, health status per se as measured by the occurrence of different clinical diseases was found to elevate HCC in cows (Burnett et al., 2015; Comin et al., 2013). Expectedly, this increase depends on the duration of the disease because a higher HCC was found in chronically ill compared with acutely ill animals (Braun et al., 2017a). Additionally, mental disorders can also affect HCC in non-human primates. Qin et al. (2015) showed that rhesus macaques that spent longer times in huddle posture, which is interpreted as a sign of depression, had a significantly higher HCC than those who huddled for shorter periods of time. In summary, the majority of studies revealed that the appearance of medical disorders and diseases can be accompanied by an increase in HCC; however, elevated HCC may only indicate the occurrence of but not the type of disorder.

6. Factors influencing hair cortisol concentrations

For the use of HCC as a marker of long-term stress, it is important to consider its determinants, which may confound results and need to be General and Comparative Endocrinology 270 (2019) 10-17

controlled for when making comparisons between, but also within individuals or groups. Potential influencing factors comprise, for example, age, sex, pregnancy, season of year, and hair-specific features such as hair colour or body region from which the sample is taken.

6.1. Age

Elevated cortisol levels were found in hair samples obtained from 15-day-old calves compared with those from 2-year-old cows (González-de-la-Vara et al., 2011) and in new-born foals compared with foals at 30 or 60 days of age (Comin et al., 2012a; Montillo et al., 2014). Additionally, infant and juvenile non-human primates show higher circulating levels of GCs than adults, and this is similarly reflected in an age-related decline in HCC (rhesus monkeys: Dettmer et al., 2014; vervet monkeys and baboons: Laudenslager et al., 2012; Fourie and Bernstein, 2011; further primates: Fourie et al., 2016). This may be caused by lower corticosteroid binding globulin concentrations in infants, resulting in increased plasma concentrations of free cortisol as shown in humans (Grant et al., 2017; Gunnar and Donzella, 2002). However, it was also found in baboons that HCC can increase again later in life (Fourie et al., 2015). When different age groups were only compared within juvenile or adult animals no differences in HCC were found, as shown in orang-utans (Carlitz et al., 2014) and dogs (Roth et al., 2016). Together, these findings indicate that there is an age-dependent decline in HCC from young to adult age groups. However, the precise time course seems to be species-specific and may even comprise a later increase at older ages.

6.2. Sex

Findings in American black bears (Lafferty et al., 2015) and covotes (Schell et al., 2017) indicate higher HCCs in males than in females. Increasing testosterone levels in adolescent males are associated with the manifestation of reproductively relevant behaviours, which themselves may be experienced as stressful events and may result in elevated cortisol concentrations (Bergman et al., 2005). Furthermore, higher cortisol levels in males may be caused by lower activity of the glucocorticoid-metabolising enzyme 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 2, as shown in humans (Raven and Taylor, 1996). In contrast, studies in polar bears (Bechshoft et al., 2011), brown bears (Cattet et al., 2014) and non-human primates (Dettmer et al., 2014; Fourie et al., 2016; Laudenslager et al., 2012) showed significantly higher HCCs in females than in males. This may be partly explained by sex differences in the body condition index (Cattet et al., 2014) or in sex-specific effects of gonadal steroids on basal and stress-induced HPA axis activity (Laudenslager et al., 2012; Veldhuis et al., 2013). Accordingly, castrated female cats had lower HCCs than intact cats (Finkler and Terkel, 2010). In addition, studies in Asiatic black bears (Malcolm et al., 2013), Canada lynx (Terwissen et al., 2013), chimpanzees (Yamanashi et al., 2013) and orang-utans (Carlitz et al., 2014) failed to find significant differences between sexes. In summary, the influence of sex on HCC seems to be inconsistent. A diverging cortisol secretion between males and females may depend on numerous factors such as different behavioural pattern, body condition and metabolism of gonadal steroids.

6.3. Pregnancy

Cortisol plays an important role in the maturation of foetal organ systems and the induction of parturition (Challis et al., 2001), and previous studies in many species have shown an increase in circulating cortisol with progressing pregnancy until delivery (Edwards and Boonstra, 2018; Obel et al., 2005). In vervet monkeys, a significant positive correlation of HCC with the month of pregnancy could also be shown. Females sampled within one month after delivery had significantly higher HCCs than did females sampled earlier in pregnancy or non-pregnant females (Fairbanks et al., 2011). Bacci et al. (2014)

reported higher hair cortisol levels during late pregnancy and lactation in sows than during early-mid pregnancy. In cows, HCC remained largely unchanged during pregnancy but increased significantly in the month of parturition (Braun et al., 2017b). The few studies so far in different animal species show a general increase of HCC during pregnancy.

6.4. Season of year

Various studies in different species show inconsistent results for seasonal influences. Higher HCCs during winter and lower ones during summer were observed in pigs (Bacci et al., 2014) and dogs (Roth et al., 2016). Martin and Réale (2008) reported higher cortisol levels in hair from chipmunks harvested in summer compared with spring. In brown bears, the cortisol levels tended to be greater in hair samples obtained from late summer and fall than in samples from spring (Cattet et al., 2014). Hair cortisol concentrations in cows deriving from regions with different temperatures generally increased from spring to summer and were lower from late summer until fall. However, the rise in cortisol levels from spring to summer appeared to be more intense in the coldtemperate region than in the warm-temperate region (Uetake et al., 2018). Additionally, a seasonal increase in sexual and territorial behaviour may induce stress and increase HCC as shown in deer bucks (Ventrella et al., 2018). Together, these findings suggest that HCC may reflect seasonal differences in behaviour and environmental impact, such as that of temperature, daylight period and food availability.

6.5. Hair colour

Studies in cattle (Burnett et al., 2014; González-de-la-Vara et al., 2011) and chimpanzees (Yamanashi et al., 2013) revealed a higher HCC in white hair than in black hair. Similarly, in a dog study conducted by Bennett and Hayssen (2010), a lower HCC was observed in black than in yellow samples. Tallo-Parra et al. (2015) found higher hair cortisol levels in black hair compared with white hair of the same cow, however black hair samples derived from different body regions, which may confound the results. Other studies in cattle failed to find significant differences between different-coloured hairs (Ghassemi Nejad et al., 2017; Nedić et al., 2017). Reasons for the contradictory findings on HCC in dark and bright hair are not totally understood but could be related to physical space within the hair shaft, increased blood flow in skin covered by black hair, interactions with melanin or higher washout in darker hair due to UV radiation (Burnett et al., 2014; Gratacós-Cubarsí et al., 2006; Neumann et al., 2017; Pragst and Balikova, 2006). Collectively, studies on the influence of hair colour on HCC show inconsistent results and the underlying mechanisms of cortisol incorporation into different-coloured hairs require further investigations.

6.6. Body region

Numerous studies in wild and domesticated animals revealed differences in HCC depending on body region (caribou and reindeer: Ashley et al., 2011; chimpanzees: Carlitz et al., 2015; Yamanashi et al., 2013; marmots: Acker et al., 2018; kangaroos: Sotohira et al., 2017; Canada lynx: Terwissen et al., 2013; cattle: Burnett et al., 2014; Moya et al., 2013; pigs: Casal et al., 2017a,b; horses: Duran et al., 2017). Indeed, other studies in rabbits (Comin et al., 2012b), bears (Macbeth et al., 2012), reindeer (Carlsson et al., 2016) and covotes (Schell et al., 2017) failed to find region-specific variations of HCC. One possible explanation for differences in HCC between body regions could be a varying proportion of hair follicles in the anagen, catagen and telogen phases caused by cyclic hair growth and the shedding rhythm in animals. Cortisol is mainly incorporated into the hair during the anagen growth phase. Thus, higher HCCs would be found in body regions with more follicles in the anagen phase or with follicles having a longer anagen phase (Burnard et al., 2017). Additionally, washout by different

General and Comparative Endocrinology 270 (2019) 10-17

weather exposure, contamination by faeces, grooming, and differing hair growth rates and skin blood flow may be potential causes for region-specific differences (Acker et al., 2018; Burnett et al., 2014; Carlitz et al., 2015; Casal et al., 2017a; Moya et al., 2013). Although quantitative differences in HCC exist between body regions in many species, comparisons between subjects are possible as long as the sampling site is not varied (Burnard et al., 2017).

7. Conclusions and future directions

The measurement of hair cortisol for the assessment of stress offers many considerable benefits for use in animals, especially due to the easy and minimally invasive sampling procedure and the representation of longer time periods in one sample. It has been shown that a wide array of stressors and pathological conditions alter the cortisol concentrations in hair and that HCC thereby provides a reliable and valid reflection of long-term cortisol secretion in many species. Therefore, hair cortisol concentrations may be used as a helpful indicator in animal welfare research. However, there are various factors influencing HCC. There is a distinct effect of age and pregnancy on hair cortisol levels, and it was also found that cortisol incorporation may depend on hair colour, body region, sex and season. However, the latter factors are inconsistent and may be caused by species-specific differences. Thus, for investigations of stress effects, hair sampling protocols should be used which standardise these interfering factors as far as possible. Recommendations for sampling and use of hair in cortisol analysis may comprise for example (1) the use of animals with the same age group, sex and reproductive state; (2) the sampling of hairs from the same body region and colour; (3) the consideration of the time delay between cortisol incorporation and sampling of hair; (4) the avoidance of external contaminations and (5) the use of the "shave-reshave" method if possible. However, more research is necessary to elucidate the influence of possible interfering factors, to investigate the underlying mechanisms of cortisol incorporation into the hair shaft and to explore the hair growth characteristics in the species of interest. In addition, the measurement of hair cortisol concentrations opens up new avenues for stress research, e.g., the use of hair segments as a retrospective calendar and of neonatal hair for the assessment of prenatal stress.

Declarations of interest

None.

Funding

This work was supported (1) by funds of the Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture (BMEL) based on a decision of the Parliament of the Federal Republic of Germany via the Federal Office for Agriculture and Food (BLE) under the innovation support programme [Grant number 2817901415, RetroCort], and (2) by the QS-Wissenschaftsfonds. The publication of this article was funded by the Open Access Fund of the Leibniz Institute of Farm Animal Biology (FBN).

References

- Acker, M., Mastromonaco, G., Schulte-Hostedde, A.I., 2018. The effects of body region, season and external arsenic application on hair cortisol concentration. Conserv. Physiol. 6, cog037. https://doi.org/10.1093/complay/cog037.
- Ashley, N.T., Barboza, P.S., Macbeth, B.J., Janz, D.M., Cattet, M.R.L., Booth, R.K., Wasser, S.K., 2011. Glucocorticosteroid concentrations in feces and hair of captive caribou and reindeer following adrenocorticotropic hormone challenge. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 172, 382-391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wgcnp.2011.03.093
- Endocrinol. 172, 382–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.03.029. Bacci, M.L., Nannoni, E., Govoni, N., Scorrano, F., Zannoni, A., Forni, M., Martelli, G., Sardi, L., 2014. Hair cortisol determination in sows in two consecutive reproductive cvcles. Reprod. Biol. 14, 218–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.repbio.2014.06.001.
- cycles. Reprod. Biol. 14, 218–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.repbio.2014.06.001.Bechshoft, T.O., Sonne, C., Dietz, R., Born, F.W., Novak, M.A., Henchey, E., Meyer, J.S., 2011. Cortisol levels in hair of East Greenland polar bears. Sci. Total Environ. 409,

831-834. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.10.047.

Bennett, A., Hayssen, V., 2010, Measuring cortisol in hair and saliva from dogs: coat color and pigment differences. Domest Ann. Endocrinol. 39, 171–180. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.domaniend.2010.04.003.

- Bergman, T.J., Beehner, J.C., Cheney, D.L., Seyfarth, R.M., Whitten, P.L., 2005. Correlates of stress in free-ranging male chacma baboons, Papio hamadryas ursi Behav. 70, 703–713. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2004.12.017
- Braun, U., Clavadetscher, G., Baumgartner, M.R., Riond, B., Binz, T.M., 2017a. Hair cortisol concentration and adrenal gland weight in healthy and ill cows. Schweiz. Arch. Tierheilkd. 159, 493–495. https://doi.org/10.17236/sat00128.
- Braun, U., Michel, N., Baumgartner, M.R., Hässig, M., Binz, T.M., 2017b. Cortisol concentration of regrown hair and hair from a previously unshorn area in dairy cows. Res. Vet. Sci. 114, 412–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2017.07.005. Bryan, H.M., Smits, J.E., Koren, I., Paquet, P.C., Wynne-Edwards, K.E., Musiani, M.,
- 2015. Heavily hunted wolves have higher stress and reproductive steroids than wolves with lower hunting pressure. Funct. Ecol. 29, 347–356. https://doi.org/10. /1365-2435.12354.
- Bryan, H.M., Darimont, C.T., Paquet, P.C., Wynne-Edwards, K.E., Smits, J.E.G., 2013. Stress and reproductive hormones in grizzly bears reflect nutritional benefits and social consequences of a salmon foraging niche. PLoS One 8, 1–10. https://doi.or 10 1371/iournal.pone.0080537
- Burnard, C., Ralph, C., Hynd, P., Edwards, J.H., Tilbrook, A., 2017. Hair cortisol and its potential value as a physiological measure of stress response in human and nonhuman animals. Anim. Prod. Sci. 57, 401-414. https://doi.org/10.1071/At
- Hanna Hannard H Hannard Han tions in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 7685-7690. https://doi.org/10.3168/ 014-8444
- Burnett, T.A., Madureira, A.M.L., Silper, B.F., Tahmasbi, A., Nadalin, A., Veira, D.M. Cerri, R.L.A., 2015. Relationship of concentrations of cortisol in hair with health, biomarkers in blood, and reproductive status in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98, 4414–4426. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2014-8871.
 Carlitz, E.H.D., Kirschbaum, C., Miller, R., Rukundo, J., van Schaik, C.P., 2015. Effects of
- body region and time on hair cortisol concentrations in chimpanzees (Pan troglo-dytes). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 223, 9–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.09.
- Carlitz, E.H.D., Kirschbaum, C., Stalder, T., van Schaik, C.P., 2014. Hair as a long-term retrospective cortisol calendar in orang-utans (Pongo spp.): new perspectives for stress monitoring in captive management and conservation. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 195, 151–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.11.002. Carlitz, E.H.D., Miller, R., Kirschbaum, C., Gao, W., Hänni, D.C., van Schaik, C.P., 2016.
- Measuring hair cortisol concentrations to assess the effect of anthropogenic impacts on wild chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes). PLoS One 11, e0151870. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0151870. Carlsson, A.M., Mastromonaco, G., Vandervalk, E., Kutz, S., 2016. Parasites, stress and
- reindeer: infection with abomasal nematodes is not associated with elevated glucocorticoid levels in hair or faeces. Conserv. Physiol. 4, cow058. https://doi.org/10
- Casal, N., Manteca, X., Peña, J. R., Bassols, A., Fàbrega, E., 2017a, Analysis of cortisol in har samples as an indicator of stress in pigs. J. Vet. Behav. Clin. Appl. Res. 19, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2017.01.002.
- Casal, N., Manteca, X., Escribano, D., Cerón, J.J., Fàbrega, E., 2017b. Effect of environmental enrichment and herbal compound supplementation on physiological stress indicators (chromogranin A, cortisol and tumour necrosis factor- α) in growing pigs. Animal 11, 1228-1236. https://doi.org/10.1017/\$1751731116002561
- Cattet, M., Macbeth, B.J., Janz, D.M., Zedrosser, A., Swenson, J.E., Dumond, M., Stenhouse, G.B., 2014. Quantifying long-term stress in brown bears with the hair cortisol concentration: a biomarker that may be confounded by rapid changes in esponse to capture and handling. Conserv. Physiol. 2, cou026. https://doi.org/10.
- 1093/comphys/could2.
 Challis, J.R.G., Sloboda, D., Matthews, S.G., Holloway, A., Alfaidy, N., Patel, F.A., Whittle, W., Fraser, M., Moss, T.J.M., Newnham, J., 2001. The fetal placental hypothalamic pituitary adrenal (HPA) axis, parturition and post natal health. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 185, 135–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0303-7207(01)00624-4.
 Cirimele, V., Kintz, P., Dumestre, V., Goulle, J.P., Ludes, B., 2000. Identification of ten corticosteroids in human hair by liquid chromatography-ionspray mass spectrometry. Forensic Sci. Int. 107, 381–388. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0379-0738(99)00180-2.
- Comin, A., Peric, T., Corazzin, M., Veronesi, M.C., Meloni, T., Zufferli, V., Cornacchia, G., Prandi, A., 2013. Hair cortisol as a marker of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activation in Friesian dairy cows clinically or physiologically compromised. Livest. Sci. 152. 36-41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2012.11.021.
- Comin, A., Prandi, A., Peric, T., Corazzin, M., Dovier, S., Bovolenta, S., 2011. Hair cortisol levels in dairy cows from winter housing to summer highland grazing. Livest. Sci. 138, 69-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2010.12.009
- Comin, A., Veronesi, M.C., Montillo, M., Faustini, M., Valentini, S., Cairoli, F., Prandi, A., 2012a. Hair cortisol level as a retrospective marker of hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal axis activity in horse foals. Vet. J. 194, 131-132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
- Comin, A., Zufferli, V., Peric, T., Canavese, F., Barbetta, D., Prandi, A., 2012b. Hai cortisol levels determined at different body sites in the New Zealand white rabbit. World Rabbit Sci. 20, 149–154. https://doi.org/10.4995/wrs.2012.1106. Cook, N.J., 2012. Review: Minimally invasive sampling media and the measurement of
- corticosteroids as biomarkers of stress in animals. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 92, 227-259.
- Contesteroires as Joint and State and Manuals, Carl 5, July 2017, 2017
 Cooke, R.F., Schubach, K.M., Marques, R.S., Peres, R.F.G., Silva, L.G.T., Carvalho, R.S., Cipriano, R.S., Bohnert, D.W., Pires, A.V., Vasconcelos, J.L.M., 2017. Effects of

General and Comparative Endocrinology 270 (2019) 10-17

temperament on physiological, productive, and reproductive responses in beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 95, 1-8, https://doi.org/10.2527/jas2016.10

- Grradini, S., Accorsi, P.A., Boari, A., Beghelli, V., Mattioli, M., Famigli-Bergamini, P., Fracassi, F., 2013. Evaluation of hair cortisol in the diagnosis of hypercortisolism in dogs. J. Vet. Intern. Med. 27, 1268-1272. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvim.12135.
- Creel, S., Dantzer, B., Goymann, W., Rubenstein, D.R., 2013. The ecology of stress: Effects of the social environment. Funct. Ecol. 27, 66–80. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2012.02029.x.
- Creutzinger, K.C., Stookey, J.M., Marfleet, T.W., Campbell, J.R., Janz, D.M., Marques, F.J., Seddon, Y.M., 2017. An investigation of hair cortisol as a measure of long-term stress in beef cattle: results from a castration study. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 97, 499-509.
- https://doi.org/10.1139/cjas-2016-0206. Dallman, M.F., Akana, S.F., Cascio, C.S., Darlington, D.N., Jacobson, L., Levin, N., 1987. Regulation of ACTH secretion: variation on a theme of B. Recent Prog. Horm. Res. 43, 113-173
- Davenport, M.D., Lutz, C.K., Tiefenbacher, S., Novak, M.A., Meyer, J.S., 2008. A rhesus monkey model of self injury: effects of relocation stress on behavior and neu roendocrine function. Biol. Psychiatry 63, 990-996. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. 2007 10 02
- Davenport, M.D., Tiefenbacher, S., Lutz, C.K., Novak, M.A., Meyer, J.S., 2006. Analysis of endogenous cortisol concentrations in the hair of rhesus macaques. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 147, 255–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2006.01.005.
 Dettmer, A.M., Novak, M.A., Meyer, J.S., Suomi, S.J., 2014. Population density-depen-
- dent hair cortisol concentrations in rhesus monkeys (Macaca mulatta). Psychoneuroendocrinology 42, 59–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyne Duran, M.C., Janz, D.M., Waldner, C.L., Campbell, J.R., Marques, F.J., 2017. Hair cortisol
- concentration as a stress biomarker in horses: associations with body location and surgical castration. J. Equine Vet. Sci. 55, 27-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcvs. 2017.03.220.
- Edwards, P.D., Boonstra, R., 2018. Glucocorticoids and CBG during pregnancy in mam-mals: diversity, pattern, and function. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 259, 122–130. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2017.11.012.
- Endo, N., Yamane, H., Rahayu, L.P., Tanaka, T., 2018. Effect of repeated adrenocorti-cotropic hormone administration on reproductive function and hair cortisol concentration during the estrous cycle in goats. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 259, 207–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygccn.2017.11.027. Fairbanks, L.A., Jorgensen, M.J., Bailey, J.N., Breidenthal, S.E., Grzywa, R., Laudenslager,
- M.L., 2011. Heritability and genetic correlation of hair cortisol in vervet monkeys in Iow and higher stress environments. Psychoneuroendocrinology 36, 1201–1208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2011.02.013.
 Finkler, H., Terkel, J., 2010. Cortisol levels and aggression in neutered and intact free-
- roaming female cats living in urban social groups. Physiol. Behav. 99, 343–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2009.11.014. Fourie, N.H., Bernstein, R.M., 2011. Hair cortisol levels track phylogenetic and age re-
- lated differences in hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis activity in non-human primates. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 174, 150–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen. 2011.08.013.
- Fourie, N.H., Brown, J.L., Jolly, C.J., Phillins-Conroy, J.E., Boyers, J., Bernstein, R.M., 2016. Sources of variation in hair cortisol in wild and captive non-human pri Zoology 119, 119–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.zool.2016.01.001.
- Fourie, N.H., Jolly, C.J., Phillips-Conroy, J.E., Brown, J.L., Bernstein, R.M., 2015. Variation of hair cortisol concentrations among will opulations of two babon species (Papio anubis, P. hamadryas) and a population of their natural hybrids. Primates 56, 259–272. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10329-015-0469-z.
- Gao, W., Kirschbaum, C., Grass, J., Stalder, T., 2016. LC–MS based analysis of endogenous steroid hormones in human hair. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 162, 92–99. https:// oi.org/10.1016/j.jsbmb.2015.12.022.
- Gao, W., Stalder, T., Foley, P., Rauh, M., Deng, H., Kirschbaum, C., 2013. Quantitative analysis of steroid hormones in human hair using a column-switching LC-APCI-MS/ MS assay. J. Chromatogr. B Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 928, 1-8. https://doi. rg/10.1016/j.jchromb.2013.03.008
- Ghassemi Nejad, J., Kim, B.W., Lee, B.H., IJ, K., Sung, 2017. Coat and hair color: hair cortisol and serotonin levels in lactating Holstein cows under heat stress conditions.
- Gonso and J. Sky, 190–194. https://doi.org/10.1111/asj.12662.
 Ghassemi Nejad, J., Lohakare, J.D., Son, J.K., Kwon, E.G., West, J.W., Sung, K.I., 2014.
 Wool cortisol is a better indicator of stress than blood cortisol in ewes exposed to heat stress and water restriction. Animal 8, 128-132. https://doi.org/10.1017/
- González-de-la-Vara, M. del R., Valdez, R.A., Lemus-Ramirez, V., Vázquez-Chagoyán, J.C., Villa-Godoy, A., Romano, M.C., 2011. Effects of adrenocorticotropic hormone challenge and age on hair cortisol concentrations in dairy cattle. Can. J. Vet. Res. 75,
- González, L.A., Schwartzkopf-Genswein, K.S., Caulkett, N.A., Janzen, E., McAllister, T.A., Fierheller, E., Schaefer, A.L., Haley, D.B., Stookey, J.M., Hendrick, S., 2010. Pain mitigation after band castration of beef calves and its effects on performance, behavior, Escherichia coli, and salivary cortisol. J. Anim. Sci. 88, 802-810. https://doi.
- Goymann, W., Wingfield, J.C., 2004. Allostatic load, social status and stress hormones: The costs of social status matter. Anim. Behav. 67, 591-602. https://doi.org/10. hay 2003 08 007
- Grant, K.S., Worlein, J., Meyer, J.S., Novak, M.A., Kroeker, R., Rosenberg, K., Ken ney, C., Burbacher, T.M., 2017. A longitudinal study of hair cortisol concentrations in Macaca nemestrina mothers and infants. Am. J. Primatol. 79, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1002/
- Gratacós-Cubarsí, M., Castellari, M., Valero, A., García-Regueiro, J.A., 2006. Hair analysis

for veterinary drug monitoring in livestock production. J. Chromatogr. B Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 834, 14-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jch mb.2006.03.

- Grigg, E.K., Nibblett, B.M., Robinson, J.Q., Smits, J.E., 2017. Evaluating pair versus litary housing in kennelled domestic dogs (Canis familiaris) using behaviour and hair cortisol: a pilot study. Vet. Rec. Open 4, e000193. https://doi.org/10.1136/vetreco-
- Gunnar, M.R., Donzella, B., 2002. Social regulation of the cortisol levels in early human development. Psychoneuroendocrinology 27, 199-220. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0306-4530(01)00045-2.
- Harkey, M.R., 1993. Anatomy and Physiology of Hair. Forensic Sci. Int. 63, 9-18. https:// 0.1016/0379-0738(93)90255-
- Henderson, G.L., 1993. Mechanisms of drug incorporation into hair. Forensic Sci. Int. 63, **19–29**. https://doi.org/10.1016/0379-0738(93)90256-A. nson, E.O., Kamilaris, T.C., Chroussos, G.P., Gold, P.W., 1992. Mechanisms of stress: a dynamic overview of hormonal and behavioral homeostasis. Neurosci. Biobehav. Joh
- Rev. 16, 115-130.
- Kapora, A., Lubach, G.R., Ziegler, T.E., Coe, C.L., 2016. Hormone levels in neonatal hair reflect prior maternal stress exposure during pregnancy. Psychoneuroendocrinology 66, 111–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.01.010.Keckeis, K., Lepschy, M., Schöpper, H., Moser, L., Troxler, J., Palme, R., 2012. Hair cortisol: a parameter of chronic stress? Insights from a radiometabolism study in guinca pigs. J. Comp. Physiol. B 182, 985–996. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00360-012.0 c74.7 012-0674-7
- chbaum, C. Tietze, A., Skoluda, N., Dettenborn, L., 2009. Hair as a retrospective calendar of cortisol production Increased cortisol incorporation into hair in the third trimester of pregnancy. Psychoneuroendocrino 34, 32-37. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.psyneuen.2008.08.024.
- Koren, L., Mokady, O., Geffen, E., 2008. Social status and cortisol levels in singing rock hyraxes. Horm. Behav. 54, 212–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2008.02.020. en, L., Mokady, O., Karaskov, T., Klein, J., Koren, G., Geffen, E., 2002. A novel method using hair for determining hormonal levels in wildlife. Anim. Behav. 63, 403–406.
- doi.org/10.1006/anbe.2001.1907. Infferty, D.J.R., Laudenslager, M.L., Mowat, G., Heard, D., Belant, J.L., 2015. Sex, diet, and the social environment: Factors influencing hair cortisol concentration in free-
- ranging black bears (Ursus americanus). PLoS One 10, 1-14. https://doi.org/10. pone.0141489 denslager, M.L., Jorgensen, M.J., Fairbanks, L.A., 2012. Developmental patterns of hair cortisol in male and female nonhuman primates: lower hair cortisol levels in
- vervet males emerge at puberty. Psychoneuroendocrinology 37, 1736–1739. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.03.015. doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.03.015.
 Lockwood, S.A., Kattesh, H.G., Rhinehart, J.D., Strickland, L.G., Krawczel, P.D., Wilkerson, J.B., Kirkpatrick, F.D., Saxton, A.M., 2017. Relationships among tem-perament, acute and chronic cortisol and testosterone concentrations, and breedin
- soundness during performance testing of Angus bulls. Theriogenology 89, 140–145. /doi.org/10.1016/i.theriogenology.2016.10.019 Lutz, C.K., Coleman, K., Worlein, J.M., Kroeker, R., Menard, M.T., Rosenberg, K., Meyer, J.S., Novak, M.A., 2016. Factors influencing alopecia and hair cortisol in rhesus
- macaques (Macaca mulatta). J. Med. Primatol. 45, 180-188. https://doi.org/10. Maas, B., 2000. The veterinary, behavioural and welfare implications of bear farming in
- Asia. Technical Report. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.29240.34561.
 Macbeth, B.J., Cattet, M.R.L., Stenhouse, G.B., Gibeau, M.L., Janz, D.M., 2010. Hair cortisol concentration as a noninvasive measure of long-term stress in free-ranging grizzly bears (Ursus arctos): considerations with implications for other wildlife. Can. J. Zool 88, 935–949. https://doi.org/10.1139/Z10-057. Macbeth, B.J., Cattet, M.R.L., Obbard, M.E., Middel, K., Janz, D.M., 2012. Evaluation of
- hair cortisol concentration as a biomarker of long-term stress in free-ranging polar bears. Wildl. Soc. Bull. 36, 747–758. https://doi.org/10.1002/wsb.219. Malcolm, K.D., McShea, W.J., Van Deelen, T.R., Bacon, H.J., Liu, F., Putman, S., Zhu, X.,
- Brown, J.L., 2013. Analyses of fecal and hair glucocorticoids to evaluate short- and long-term stress and recovery of Asiatic black bears (Ursus thibetanus) removed from bile farms in China. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 185, 97–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. .2013.01.014
- Marti, S., Devant, M., Amatayakul-Chantler, S., Jackson, J.A., Lopez, E., Janzen, E.D., Schwartzkopf-Genswein, K.S., 2015. Effect of anti-gonadotropin-releasing factor vaccine and band castration on indicators of welfare in beef cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 93,
- 1581–1591. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas2014-8346.
 Marti, S., Meléndez, D.M., Pajor, E.A., Moya, D., Heuston, C.E.M., Gellatly, D., Janzen, E.D., Schwartzkopf-Genswein, K.S., 2017. Effect of band and knife castration of beef calves on welfare indicators of pain at three relevant industry ages: II. Chronic pain. J. Anim. Sci. 95, 4367–4380. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas2017.1763. Martin, J.G.A., Réale, D., 2008. Animal temperament and human disturbance: implica-
- tions for the response of wildlife to tourism. Behav. Processes 77, 66-72. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.beproc.2007.06.004. Mastromonaco, G.F., Gunn, K., McCurdy-Adams, H., Edwards, D.B., Schulte-Hostedde,
- A.I., 2014. Validation and use of hair cortisol as a measure of chronic stress in eastern unks (Tamias striatus). Conserv. Physiol. 2, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1093/
- McEwen, B.S., 2008. Central effects of stress hormones in health and disease: under standing the protective and damaging effects of stress and stress mediators. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 583, 174–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2007.11.07t. Meyer, J.S., Novak, M.A., 2012. Minireview: Hair cortisol: a novel biomarker of hy-
- pothalamic-pituitary-adrencortical activity. Endocrinology 153, 4120–4127. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2012-1226.
 Miller, D.B., O'Callaghan, J.P., 2002. Neuroendocrine aspects of the response to stress.

General and Comparative Endocrinology 270 (2019) 10-17

Metabolis 51, 5-10.

- Moberg, G.P., 2000, Biological responses to stress; implications for animal welfare. In: Woberg, G.P., Mench, J.A. (Eds.), The Biology of Animal Stress. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, New York, pp. 1–21.
- Möstl, E., Palme, R., 2002. Hormones as indicators of stress. Domest. Anim. Endoor 67 74
- Montillo, M., Comin, A., Corazzin, M., Peric, T., Faustini, M., Veronesi, M.C., Valentini, S., Bustaffa, M., Prandi, A., 2014. The Effect of temperature, rainfall, and light condi-Dohandi, M., Panda, M., 2014. The Entert of Compensation for the second seco
- Marcel, Y., Marteuffel, G., Prunet, P., van Reenen, C.G., Richard, S., Veissier, I., 2007. Exploration of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal function as a tool to evaluate an-imal welfare. Physiol. Behav. 92, 317–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbch.2006. 12 00
- Mowafy, M., Cassens, R.G., 1975. Microscopic Structure of Pig Skin. J. Anim. Sci. 41,
- 1281-1290. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas1975.4151281x.Moya, D., Schwartzkopf-Genswein, K.S., Veira, D.M., 2013. Standardization of a non-invasive methodology to measure cortisol in hair of beef cattle. Livest. Sci. 158, 138-144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2013.10.007.
- Kobal, S., Snoj, T., Kirovski, D., 2017. Cortisol concentration in hair, blood and milk of Holstein and Busha cattle. Slov. Vet. Res. 54, 163–172. https://doi.org/10.26873/ SVR-398-2017.
- Neumann, A., Noppe, G., Liu, F., Kayser, M., Verhulst, F.C., Jaddoe, V.W.V., Van Ross E.F.C., Tiemeier, H., 2017. Predicting hair cortisol levels with hair pigmentation genes: A possible hair pigmentation bias. Sci. Rep. 7, 8529. https://doi.org/10.1038/ 41598-017-07034-1
- Nicholson, S.L., Meredith, J.E., 2015. Should stress management be part of the clinical care provided to chronically ill dogs? J. Vet. Behav. Clin. Appl. Res. 10, 489-495.
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2015.09.002.
 Novak, M.A., Hamel, A.F., Coleman, K., Lutz, C.K., Worlein, J., Menard, M., Ryan, A., Rosenberg, K., Meyer, J.S., 2014. Hair loss and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axis activity in captive rhesus macaques (Macaca mulatta), J. Am. Assoc. Lab. Anim. Sci. 53, 261-266.
- Novak, M.A., Hamel, A.F., Kelly, B.J., Dettmer, A.M., Meyer, J.S., 2013. Stress, the HPA
- and salivary cortisol during pregnancy. Psychoneuroendocrinology 30, 647–656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2004.11.006. Otten, W., Kanitz, E., Tuchscherer, M., Schneider, F., Brüssow, K.P., 2004. Effects of
- adrenocorticotropin stimulation on cortisol dynamics of pregnant gilts and their fe-tuses: implications for prenatal stress studies. Theriogenology 61, 1649–1659. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2003.09.009.
- Ouschan, C., Kuchar, A., Möstl, E., 2013. Measurement of cortisol in dog hair: a non-invasive tool for the diagnosis of hypercortisolism. Vet. Dermatol. 24, 428–431. https://doi.org/10.1111/vdc.12043.
- Park, S.H., Kim, S.A., Shin, N.S., Hwang, C.Y., 2016. Elevated cortisol content in dog hair with atopic dermatitis. Jpn. J. Vet. Res. 64, 123–129. https://doi.org/10.14943/jjvr. 64.2.123.
- Peric, T., Comin, A., Corazzin, M., Montillo, M., Canavese, F., Stebel, M., Prandi, A., 2017. Relocation and hair cortisol concentrations in New Zealand White Rabbits. J. Appl. Anim. Welf. Sci. 20, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888705.2016.1183489.
- Petherick, J.C., Small, A.H., Mayer, D.G., Colditz, I.G., Ferguson, D.M., Stafford, K.J., 2014. A comparison of welfare outcomes for weaner and mature Bos indicus bulls surgically or tension band castrated with or without analgesia: 2. Responses related to stress, health and productivity. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 157, 35-47. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.applanim.2014.05.005. Pragst, F., Balikova, M.A., 2006. State of the art in hair analysis for detection of drug and
- alcohol abuse. Clin. Chim. Acta 370, 17-49. https://doi.org/10.1016/i.cca.
- Qin, D.-D., Dominic Rizak, J., Feng, X.-L., Chu, X.-X., Yang, S.-C., Li, C.-L., Lv, L.-B., Ma, Y.-Y., Hu, X.-T., 2013. Social rank and cortisol among female rhesus macaques (Macaca mulatta). Zool. Res. 34, E42-E49. https://doi.org/10.3724/SP.J.1141.2013.
- Qin, D., Rizak, J., Chu, X., Li, Z., Yang, S., Lü, L., Yang, L., Yang, Q., Yang, B., Pan, L., Yin, Y., Chen, L., Feng, X., Hu, X., 2015. A spontaneous depressive pattern in adult female rhesus macaques. Sci. Rep. 5, 11267. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep11267.
 Ralph, C.R., Tilbrook, A.J., 2016. Invited review: the usefulness of measuring gluco-
- corticoids for assessing animal welfare. J. Anim. Sci. 94, 457-470. https://doi.org/ as2015-964
- Raven, P.W., Taylor, N.F., 1996. Sex differences in the human metabolism of cortisol.
- Endocr. Res. 22, 751–755. https://doi.org/10.1080/07435809609043772.
 Roth, L.S.V., Faresjö, Å., Theodorsson, E., Jensen, P., 2016. Hair cortisol varies with season and lifestyle and relates to human interactions in German shepherd dogs. Sci.

Rep. 6, 19631. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep19631.
Rushen, J., De Passillé, A.M., Keyserlingk, M.A., Weary, D.M., 2008. The Welfare of Cattle. Springer Science & Business Media, Dordrecht.
Russell, E., Koren, G., Rieder, M., Van Uum, S., 2012. Hair cortisol as a biological marker

- of chronic stress: current status, future directions and unanswered questions. Psychoneuroendocrinology 37, 589–601. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2011. 09.009
- Salaberger, T., Millard, M., El Makarem, S., Möstl, E., Grünberger, V., Krametter-Frötscher, R., Wittek, T., Palme, R., 2016. Influence of external factors on hair cortisol concentrations. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 233, 73–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.

2016.05.005.

- Sapolsky, R.M., Romero, L.M., Munck, A.U., 2000, How do glucocorticoids influence Sapoisky, K.M., Komero, L.M., Munck, A.U., 2000. How do glucocorticolos influence stress resonses? Integrating permissive, suppressive, stimulatory, and preparative actions. Endocr. Rev. 21, 55–89. https://doi.org/10.1210/cr.21.1.55.
 Schell, C.J., Young, J.K., Lonsdorf, E.V., Matco, J.M., Santymire, R.M., 2017. Investigation of techniques to measure cortisol and testosterone concentrations in coyote hair. Zoo Biol. 36, 220–225. https://doi.org/10.1002/zoo.21359.
- Schubach, K.M., Cooke, R.F., Brandao, A.P., Lippolis, K., Hinchliff, M.T., Bohnert, D.W.,
- Schubach, K.M., Cooke, R.F., Brandao, A.F., Lippolis, K., Hinchilft, M.T., Bonnert, D.W., Cerri, R.L.A., 2016. Using hair cortisol concentrations to assess the adrenocortical stress response in beef cattle administered corticotrophin-release hormone. J. Anim. Sci. 94, 109. https://doi.org/10.2527/jam2016-0230.
 Schubach, K.M., Cooke, R.F., Brandao, A.P., Lippolis, K.D., Silva, L.G.T., Marques, R.S., Bohnert, D.W., 2017. Impacts of stocking density on development and puberty at-tainment of replacement beef heifers. Animal 11, 2260–2267. https://doi.org/10. 1017/0171210141001000 1017/S17517 31117001070.
- Sharpley, C.F., McFarlane, J.R., Slominski, A., 2012. Stress-linked cortisol concentrations in hair: what we know and what we need to know. Rev. Neurosci. 23, 111-121. s://doi.org/10.1515/Rns.2011.058.
- Sheriff, M.J., Dantzer, B., Delehanty, B., Palme, R., Boonstra, R., 2011. Measuring stress in wildlife: techniques for quantifying glucocorticoids. Oecologia 166, 869–887. loi.org/10.1007/s00442-011-1943-v
- Silva, P.R.B., Lobeck-Luchterhand, K.M., Cerri, R.L.A., Haines, D.M., Ballou, M.A., Endres, M.I., Chebel, R.C., 2016. Effects of prepartum stocking density on innate and adaptive leukocyte responses and serum and hair cortisol concentrations. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 169, 39–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2015.11.007.Slominski, A., Wortsman, J., Tuckey, R.C., Paus, R., 2007. Differential expression of HPA
- axis homolog in the skin. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 265, 143-149. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.mce.2006.12.012. Sotohira, Y., Suzuki, K., Sano, T., Arai, C., Asakawa, M., Hayashi, H., 2017. Stress a
- sessment using hair cortisol of kangaroos affected by the lumpy jaw disease. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 79, 852-854. https://doi.org/10.1292/jvms.16-0633.Spencer, R.L., Deak, T., 2017. A users guide to HPA axis research. Physiol. Behav. 178,
- 43-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbch.2016.11.014
- biga, F., Waler, J.J., Terry, J.R., Lightman, S.J., 2014. HPA axis-rhythms. Compr. Physiol. 4, 1273–1298. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.cl40003.Stalder, T., Kirschbaum, C., 2012. Analysis of cortisol in hair state of the art and future
- directions. Brain. Behav. Immun. 26, 1019-1029. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bb 2012.02.002
- miedgen, S., Alexander, N., Klucken, T., Vater, A., Wichmann, S., Stalder, T., Steudte-Sch ktar, in actuate schimetegen, b., includier, i.a. Rateken, i.e. valer, i.e.
- Stubsjoen, S.M., Bohlin, J., Dahl, E., Knappe-Poindecker, M., Fjeldaas, T., Lepschy, M., Palme, R., Langbein, J., Ropstad, E., 2015. Assessment of chronic stress in sheep (part I): The use of cortisol and cortisone in hair as non-invasive biological markers. Small
- Rumin. Res. 132, 25–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smallrumres.2015.09.015.
 Tallo-Parra, O., Lopez-Bejar, M., Carbajal, A., Monclús, L., Manteca, X., Devant, M., 2017.
 Acute ACTH-induced elevations of circulating cortisol do not affect hair cortisol concentrations in calves. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 240, 138-142. https://doi.org/10.
- 1016/j.ygen.2016.0.007. Tallo-Parra, O., Manteca, X., Sabes-Alsina, M., Carbajal, A., Lopez-Bejar, M., 2015. Hair cortisol detection in dairy cattle by using EIA: protocol validation and correlation

General and Comparative Endocrinology 270 (2019) 10-17

with faecal cortisol metabolites. Animal 9, 1059-1064. https://doi.org/10.1017/

- \$1751731115000294 Tennenhouse, E.M., Putman, S., Boisseau, N.P., Brown, J.L., 2017. Relationships between steroid hormones in hair and social behaviour in ring-tailed lemurs (Lemur catta). Primates 58, 199-209. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10329-016-0566-
- Terwissen, C.V., Mastromonaco, G.F., Murray, D.L., 2013. Influence of adrenocortico-trophin hormone challenge and external factors (age, sex, and body region) on hair cortisol concentration in Canada lynx (Lynx canadensis). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.
- 194, 162–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.09.010. Trevisan, C., Montillo, M., Prandi, A., Mkupasi, E.M., Ngowi, H.A., Johansen, M.V., 2017. Hair cortisol and dehydroepiandrosterone concentrations in naturally Taenia solium infected pigs in Tanzania. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 246, 23–28. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ygcen.2017.03.007.Udo, H.M.J., 1978. Hair coat characteristics in Friesian heifers in the Netherlands and
- Kenya, Mededelingen Landbouwhogeschool Wageningen Nederland 78–86.
 Uetake, K., Morita, S., Sakagami, N., Yamamoto, K., Hashimura, S., Tanaka, T., 2018. Hair cortisol levels of lactating dairy cows in cold- and warm-temperate regions in Japan.
- Cortiso Fecto and Anna Santa and Anna Carlo and Anna Carlo and Anna Sci. J. 89, 494–497. https://doi.org/10.1111/asj.12934.
 dhuis, J.D., Sharma, A., Roelfsema, F., 2013. Age-dependent and gender-dependent regulation of hypothalamic-adrenocorticotropic-adrenal axis. Endocrin. Metab. Clin.
- 201–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecl.2013.02.002.
 Ventrella, D., Elmi, A., Barone, F., Carnevali, G., Govoni, N., Bacci, M.L., 2018. Hair testosterone and cortisol concentrations in pre-and post-rut Roe Deer Bucks: corre lations with blood levels and testicular morphometric parameters. Animals 8, e113. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani8070113. Walker, E.F., Trotman, H.D., Pearce, B.D., Addington, J., Cadenhead, K.S., Cornblatt,
- B.A., Tsuang, M.T., 2013. Cortisol levels and risk for psychosis: initial findings from the North American prodrome longitudinal study. Biological Psychiatry 74, 410–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.02.016.
- Webb, E., Thomson, S., Nelson, A., White, C., Koren, G., Rieder, M., Van Uum, S., 2010. Kieley, Humberg, Kieley, K., Koren, S., Koren, G., Koten, G., Kieley, R., Yun Colli, J., 2016. Assessing individual systemic stress through cortisol analysis of archaeological hair. J. Archaeol. Sci. 37, 807–812. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2009.11.010. Wester, V.L., van der Wulp, N.R.P., Koper, J.W., de Rijke, Y.B., van Rossum, E.F.C., 2016.
- Hair cortisol and cortisone are decreased by natural sunlight. Psychoneuroendocrinology 72, 94–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.06. 016.
- Yamanshi, Y., Morimura, N., Mori, Y., Hayashi, M., Suzuki, J., 2013. Cortisol analysis of hair of captive chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 194, 55–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.08.013.
- Yamanashi, Y., Teramoto, M., Morimura, N., Hirata, S., Inoue-Murayama, M., Idani, G., 2016a. Effects of relocation and individual and environmental factors on the longterm stress levels in captive chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes): monitoring hair cortisol and behaviors. PLoS One 11, e0160029. https://doi.org/10.1371/jou 0160029
- Yamanashi, Y., Teramoto, M., Morimura, N., Hirata, S., Suzuki, J., Hayashi, M., Kinoshita, K., Murayama, M., Idani, G., 2016b. Analysis of hair cortisol levels in captive chimpanzees: effect of various methods on cortisol stability and variability. MethodsX 3, 110–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mex.2016.01.004.
- Yamanashi, Y., Teramoto, M., Morimura, N., Nogami, E., Hirata, S., 2018. Social re-lationship and hair cortisol level in captive male chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes). Primates 59, 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10329-017-0641-8.

4.2 Study 2: Effects of animal-based, seasonal and hair-specific factors on hair cortisol concentrations

Within a hair's breadth - Factors influencing hair cortisol levels in pigs and cattle

Susen Heimbürge, Ellen Kanitz, Armin Tuchscherer, Winfried Otten

This work was published in General and Comparative Endocrinology 288 (2020) 113359

Highlights:

- Various factors may influence hair cortisol concentration (HCC) in pigs and cattle.
- HCC is affected by body region, age, hair colour and season of sampling.
- Distal hair segments exhibit higher HCCs in both species.
- There were no differences in HCC between the sexes.

Statement of contribution:

For the second publication, I designed and performed the experiments in consultation with the coauthors of the manuscript and with the support of technicians at the Institute of Behavioural Physiology. I analysed the data and presented and interpreted the results. The final manuscript and figures were prepared with the support of and in agreement with the co-authors.

General and Comparative Endocrinology 288 (2020) 113359

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



General and Comparative Endocrinology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ygcen



Within a hair's breadth – Factors influencing hair cortisol levels in pigs and cattle



Susen Heimbürge^a, Ellen Kanitz^a, Armin Tuchscherer^b, Winfried Otten^{a,*}

^a Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN), Institute of Behavioural Physiology, Wilhelm-Stahl-Allee 2, 18196 Dummerstorf, Germany ^b Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN), Institute of Genetics and Biometry, Wilhelm-Stahl-Allee 2, 18196 Dummerstorf, Germany

ARTICLE INF	0
-------------	---

Keywords: Hair cortisol

HPA axis Long-term stress

Animal welfare

Pigs

Cattle

ABSTRACT

During the last two decades, hair cortisol concentration (HCC) has proven to be a promising marker for the evaluation of increased hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activity caused by repeated or long-term stressful conditions. A minimally invasive sampling procedure, simple storage and the retrospective characteristic of one hair sample are reasons why HCC is increasingly used not only in human medicine but also in animal welfare research. However, before applying HCC as a reliable indicator for stress, it is important to investigate potential influencing factors in addition to stressors in the species of interest. Thus, the aim of our study was to elucidate the impact of age, sex, hair color, body region, age of hair segments and season of hair sampling on HCC in pigs and cattle. Hair samples were taken by electric elippers and analyzed by ELISA after extraction. Our results show similar effects of influencing factors in both species. Significantly increased HCCs were found in young animals after birth compared with older age groups. In addition, HCCs were significantly higher in samples obtained from the tail tip in comparison with samples from the shoulder, neck and back regions, in black hair compared with white hair and in distal hair segments. Season had an impact on HCC only in cattle, which exhibited higher levels in winter than in summer. In conclusion, age, body region, hair color, hair segment and season affect hair cortisol concentrations and should be considered and controlled for when HCC is applied as a potential stress indicator in pigs and cattle. In addition, further research is necessary to elucidate the mechanisms by which cortisol is incorporated into the hair shaft.

1. Introduction

The physiological response to stress is associated with enhanced activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, which triggers an increased release of glucocorticoids from the adrenal cortex, such as cortisol (Dallman et al., 1987). Thus, elevated cortisol concentration is routinely used as an indicator of stress in many species (Sheriff et al., 2011). During the last two decades, analyses of hair cortisol concentrations (HCCs) have increasingly gained importance for the assessment of longterm stress in humans (Stalder et al., 2017; Greff et al., 2019) and animals (Burnard et al., 2017; Heimbürge et al., 2019). In particular, farm animals undergo many potentially stressful situations under commercial husbandry conditions, e.g., due to confined housing environments and frequent management procedures (Fraser et al., 2001). As a result, there is growing interest in using animal-based welfare indicators to improve the wellbeing of farm animals. In this context, HCC could be a potential marker for increased stress in farm animals. However, previous studies on HCCs in diverse animal species revealed various sources of variation in hair cortisol levels in addition to stressors. These influencing factors

comprise animal-based (e.g., age), external (e.g., season) or hair-specific (e.g., age of hair segment) factors, which may confound results and need to be controlled for when making comparisons between, as well as within, individuals or groups (Heimbürge et al., 2019). Thus, it is necessary to evaluate the effects of potential influencing factors on HCCs in the species of interest before applying HCC as a possible stress indicator. Because only a small number of studies investigated interfering factors on HCC in pigs and cattle (e.g., pigs: Bacci et al., 2014; Casal et al., 2017; cattle: Burnett et al., 2014; Uetake et al., 2018), there is still a need to clarify their impact in these species. Therefore, the aim of this study was to investigate the effects of variation in individual and contextual factors, such as age and sex of the animals, hair color, body region, age of hair segments and season of hair sampling, on HCCs in pigs and cattle.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Animals and sampling procedure

All animals in this study were housed and fed according to the

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: otten@fbn-dummerstorf.de (W. Otten).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2019.113359

Received 17 September 2019; Received in revised form 4 December 2019; Accepted 7 December 2019

Available online 09 December 2019

0016-6480/ \otimes 2019 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/BY/4.0/).

relevant German directives for their particular age and performance. The procedures used in this study for animal handling and hair sampling complied with the German Animal Protection law and were approved by the relevant authority (Landesamt für Landwirtschaft, Lebensmittelsicherheit und Fischerei, Mecklenburg-Vorpommern, Germany; LALLF M-V/AZ 7221.3-1.1-059/17).

We studied the effects of different body regions and hair segments on HCC in German Landrace pigs and the effect of hair color on HCC in Saddleback pigs. Animals from both breeds were born and raised in the Experimental Pig Unit of the Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN Dummerstorf). For the evaluation of age, sex and season, we used crossbred sows (German Landrace (GL) X German Large White (GLW)) and their litters ((GLxGLW) × Pietrain) from a commercial pig farm situated nearby. All pigs were housed indoors. Additionally, studies were performed in Holstein Friesian cattle kept in the Experimental Cattle Unit of the FBN Dummerstorf or the neighboring Landesgut Dummerstorf under loose housing conditions with free stalls. When samples were taken from sows and cows, animals within the same reproductive stage were used.

Hair samples were carefully clipped by an electric hair clipper (Wahl Professional KM 10, Mosonmagyaróvár, Hungary) as close as possible to the skin (trimmer blade: Oster Cryogen-X Nr. 50 (0.2 mm), Boca Raton, USA) and collected by hand. Dirty areas were avoided if possible. In the case of very short hair (e.g., regrown hair), samples were collected using a hand-held vacuum cleaner (cleanmaxx zyklon PC-P006EA, DS Produkte GmbH, Gallin, Germany) with a paper filter in the suction tube. Hair samples were dried, weighed and stored protected from light at room temperature (RT) until analysis.

2.2. Body region

For the evaluation of HCCs in different body regions, we used a total of 46 sows (mean \pm SD age: 17 \pm 11 months) and 40 cows (mean \pm SD age: 62 \pm 21 months). From both species, hair samples were shaved from the back and the tail tip, as well as from the neck region, in pigs and from the shoulder region in cattle (Fig. 1A, B).

For the determination of the hair growth rate in these regions, previously shaved areas were shaved again after 6–10 weeks in 16 sows and 12 cows. From cows, only black hair samples were collected. The hair length of 30 single hairs per animal per body region was measured with a decimal Vernier caliper, and the mean hair growth rate was calculated as mm per month (30 days).

2.3. Age and sex

In pigs, the effects of age and sex were evaluated in 36 animals (18 castrated males and 18 females) from three age groups: 2, 10 and

General and Comparative Endocrinology 288 (2020) 113359

27 weeks of age and 18 sows (mean \pm SD age: 19 \pm 3 months). In cattle, the effect of age was investigated by comparing HCC in female animals across four different age groups, including newborn calves (n = 19), 6-month-olds (n = 18), 18-month-old cattle (n = 18) and cows (n = 46, mean \pm SD age: 56 \pm 20 months). The effect of sex was evaluated in 40 newborn calves (21 males and 19 females). From all animals, a hair sample was taken from the back as described above.

2.4. Hair color

A total of 36 Saddleback piglets (4–5 weeks of age, 13 males and 18 females) and 36 cows (mean \pm SD age: 61 \pm 15 months) were used to investigate the effect of hair color on HCC. One sample of black hair and one of white hair were shaved from each animal. Due to the specific coat pattern of Saddleback pigs, the black hair sample was collected from the back, whereas the white hair sample originated from the chest. In cattle, all samples were collected from the back.

2.5. Hair segment

In pigs, hair segments were sampled from 22 sows (mean \pm SD age: 14 \pm 9 months). Four hair segments were taken from the back by an electric clipper with an adjustable cutting length (hair clipper series 1000 QC5005/10, Philips, Drachten, Netherlands) and using a vacuum cleaner with a paper filter for sampling. Initially, hair was shaved at a length of 3 cm, with this sample representing the distal part longer than 3 cm. Thereafter, the remaining proximal 3 cm of the hair were shaved in repeated portions by reducing the cutting length by 1 cm each (Fig. 2). HCC was analyzed separately for each segment.

In cattle, the effect of the age of hair segments on HCC was investigated by taking hair strands from the tail tips of 20 cows (mean \pm SD age: 63 \pm 23 months). Hair strands were shaved close to the skin, and afterwards, the proximal 6 cm of each strand was cut into three 2-cm segments. HCC was analyzed separately for each segment.

2.6. Seasonality

To investigate the effect of seasonality, we used a total of 75 sows (mean \pm SD age: 17 \pm 4 months) and 72 cows (mean \pm SD age: 64 \pm 17 months). Sows were housed indoors and kept in commercial insemination pens on the day of sampling. All cows were lactating and kept in loose housing with free stalls. Hair samples were taken from 37 sows and 37 cows in July 2017 and from an additional 37 sows and 35 cows in January 2018. Sampling days were chosen at approximately 4–5 weeks after summer and winter solstice to ensure that hair samples were grown around the time of the longest and shortest daylight hours. Hair samples were collected from the back region as described above.



Fig. 1. Sampling regions in pigs (A) and cattle (B). Neck: dorsal line of the cervical spine; shoulder: region over the spina scapulae; back (pigs): dorsal region of the musculus gluteus maximus; back (cattle): area over the transverse process of the lumbar vertebrae; tail tip: distal end of the tail.



Fig. 2. Hair segments in pigs. Segmentation of porcine hair was achieved first by cutting the distal hair section longer than 3 cm (> 3 cm) and then 1 cm segments from distal to proximal (2–3 cm, 1–2 cm, 0–1 cm).

2.7. Analysis of cortisol concentration in hair

Hair samples of pigs and cattle were processed as previously described by Meyer et al. (2014) with some modifications. Each hair sample was placed in a 15-ml screw-cap polypropylene tube, then 5 ml isopropanol was added, and the tube was gently mixed on a rotator at RT for 3 min. After decanting, the wash cycle was repeated. The hair samples were then dried for approximately 2-3 days in clean protected dishes at RT. We transferred 200 mg of each sample in 10-ml stainless steel grinding jars with two 12-mm stainless steel grinding balls, snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and pulverized using a Retsch ball mill (MM 400, Retsch GmbH, Haan, Germany) for 2 min at 30 Hz. Approximately 50 mg of pulverized hair was weighed out and transferred into a 2-ml microcentrifuge tube. One milliliter of methanol (HPLC grade) was added, and the tubes were incubated at RT for 18-24 h with slow shaking to extract the steroids. Following extraction, samples were spun in a microcentrifuge at 12,000 rpm for 2 min, and 0.6 ml of each methanol extract was aliquoted into a 1.5-ml tube and then vaporized using a vacuum evaporator (SC210A SpeedVac® Concentrator, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA, USA). The dried extracts were reconstituted with 0.4 ml phosphate buffer provided in the assay kit. Hair cortisol concentrations were analyzed in duplicate using a commercially available ELISA kit designed for free cortisol quantification in saliva (DES6611, Demeditec Diagnostics GmbH, Kiel, Germany) according to the instructions of the manufacturer. The resulting values were converted from ng/ml to pg/mg for data analysis.

General and Comparative Endocrinology 288 (2020) 113359

The detection limit of our procedure is 1.1 pg/mg based on the lowest standard provided in the assay kit. The intra- and interassay coefficients of variation were 4.3% and 7.8% for cortisol analyses in hair of cattle and 4.5% and 6.8% for hair cortisol in pigs, respectively.

2.8. Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using the SAS System for Windows, version 9.4 (Copyright, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). All data were analyzed using the MIXED model procedure for performing analyses of variance (ANOVA) with hair cortisol concentration or, in one case, hair growth rate as the dependent variable. The experiments differed in fixed factors and covariates, as shown in detail in Table 1. When two fixed factors were used, their interaction was also included in the model. Repeated measures on the same animal were taken into account by the repeated statement of the MIXED procedure using a compound symmetry structure of the block diagonal residual covariance matrix. Multiple pairwise comparisons were made using the Tukey-Kramer test. Statistical tests were considered to be significant if p < 0.05. Results are presented as least squares means (LSM) \pm standard error (SE).

3. Results

3.1. Body region

There was a significant effect of body region on the hair growth rate in both species (both: p < 0.001). Pairwise comparison indicated a significantly higher hair growth rate at the tail tip in comparison to hair in the neck and back regions of pigs (both: p < 0.001, Fig. 3A) and compared to hair in the shoulder and back regions of cattle (both: p < 0.001, Fig. 3B). In addition, in cattle, hair located in the back grew faster than hair in the shoulder region (p < 0.001, Fig. 3B).

Further, ANOVA revealed a significant effect of body region on HCC in pigs and cattle (both: p < 0.001). Pairwise comparisons indicated that cortisol concentrations in hair from the tail tip were significantly higher compared to cortisol concentrations in hair from the back and neck in pigs (both: p < 0.001, Fig. 3C) and compared to cortisol levels in hair from the back and shoulder region in cattle (both: p < 0.001, Fig. 3D). In addition, in pigs, HCCs were higher in the back compared to the neck region (p < 0.01, Fig. 3C).

3.2. Age and sex

The results of the ANOVA revealed a significant influence of age group on hair cortisol levels in both species (both: p < 0.001). In pigs, pairwise comparisons indicated highest hair cortisol concentrations in piglets in comparison to 10-week-old pigs, 27-week-old pigs and sows (p < 0.001).

Table 1

Fixed factors and covariates used in the statistical models for "hair growth rate" and "hair cortisol concentration" (influencing factors of main interest: underlined; covariates: *italic*). When two fixed factors were used, their interaction was also considered.

Pigs		Cattle	
Fixed factors	Covariates	Fixed factors	Covariates
Body region	ali i	Body region	x.
Body region,	Litter number	Body region,	Sampling day,
Replicate		Hair color	Lactation number
Age group		Age group,	¥2
		Hair color	
Sex,		Sex,	
Age group		Hair color	
Hair color,		Hair color	¥1
Sex			
Hair segment	•	Hair segment	
Season		Season,	
		Hair color	
	Fixed factors Body region Body region, Replicate Age group Sex, Age group Hair color, Sex Hair segment Season	Body region · Body region, Litter number Body region, Litter number Replicate - Age group - Sex, - Age group - Hair color, - Sex - Hair segment - Season -	Body region · Body region Body region, Litter number Body region, Body region, Litter number Body region, Replicate Hair color Age group · Age group, Hair color Sex, · Age group · Hair color Sex, · Sex, Age group · Hair color Hair color, · Hair color Sex · Season, Hair segment · Season,, Hair color · Hair color




Fig. 3. (A and B) Effect of body region on hair growth rate in pigs (A) and cattle (B). (C and D) Effect of body region on hair cortisol concentrations in pigs (C) and cattle (D). Data are presented as LSM \pm SE, and significant differences are indicated by asterisks (***p < 0.001, **p < 0.01).

Additionally, adult sows showed significantly higher HCC than 10-weekold pigs (p < 0.01, Fig. 4A). In cattle, the highest HCCs were found in newborn calves compared to cortisol levels in 6-month-old, 18-month-old and adult cattle (p < 0.001, Fig. 4B). The hair color of different cattle and the interaction of age group and hair color did not influence HCC.

S. Heimbürge, et al.

mg, females: 51.7 ± 2.9 pg/mg, p = 0.43). The interaction of sex and age group in pigs and sex and hair color in cattle did not influence HCC.

3.3. Hair color

There was no significant effect of sex of the animals on hair cortisol concentrations, neither in pigs (males: $93.7 \pm 6.0 \text{ pg/mg}$, females: $102.5 \pm 6.0 \text{ pg/mg}$, p = 0.31) nor in cattle (males: $48.4 \pm 2.9 \text{ pg/}$

In both species, the statistical analysis revealed a significant influence of hair color on HCC within animals (pigs: p < 0.05, cattle: p < 0.001). Pairwise comparison revealed higher HCCs in black hair



Fig. 4. Effect of age group on hair cortisol concentrations in pigs (A) and cattle (B). Data are presented as LSM \pm SE, and significant differences are indicated by asterisks (***p < 0.001, **p < 0.01).



General and Comparative Endocrinology 288 (2020) 113359



Fig. 5. Effect of hair segments on hair cortisol concentrations in pigs (A) and cattle (B). Data are presented as LSM \pm SE, and significant differences are indicated by asterisks (***p < 0.001, **p < 0.01).

compared to white hair of the same animal in pigs (black: 66.9 \pm 4.8 pg/mg, white: 60.2 \pm 3.8 pg/mg, p < 0.05) and cattle (black: 8.5 \pm 0.3 pg/mg, white: 7.2 \pm 0.3 pg/mg, p < 0.001). Sex and the interaction of hair color and sex did not influence HCC in pigs.

3.4. Hair segment

ANOVA indicated a significant effect of hair segment on HCC in pigs and cattle (both: p < 0.001). Pairwise comparisons revealed a significant increase in hair cortisol levels from proximal to distal hair segments in both species (Fig. 5A, B).

3.5. Seasonality

There was no significant effect of season on HCC in pigs (summer: 76.4 \pm 8.0 pg/mg, winter: 67.9 \pm 8.0 pg/mg, p = 0.46). However, in cattle, there was a significant influence of season with higher HCC in winter samples compared to summer samples (winter: 8.6 \pm 0.3 pg/mg, summer: 6.2 \pm 0.3 pg/mg, p < 0.001). Additionally, in cattle, ANOVA indicated a significant effect of hair color on HCC with higher HCC in black hair samples compared to white samples (p < 0.05). The interaction of season and hair color was not significant.

4. Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first extensive study on factors influencing hair cortisol levels in pigs and cattle. Our results show that different ages, hair segments, body regions and hair colors significantly affect HCCs in pigs and cattle, whereas sex did not influence HCCs. The season of sampling was a source of variation in HCC for cattle only.

The cortisol levels in porcine hair in our study were generally higher than those found in previous studies in pigs (e.g., Nannoni et al., 2018; Roelofs et al., 2019), whereas HCCs in cattle hair were similar to concentrations found in other studies (e.g., Burnett et al., 2015; Ghassemi Nejad et al., 2017). It is known that diverging levels could be caused by different methodological processing and analytical methods (Greff et al., 2019) as well as by different breeds or ages of the animals or by different sampling regions (Peric et al., 2013; Dulude-de Broin et al., 2019).

4.1. Body region

In our study, hair growth rates ranged from 5.3 to 12.0 mm/month in pigs and from 3.5 to 17.0 mm/month in cattle, with highest values being observed at the tail tip. In pigs, growth rates in the neck and the back region were similar to those found previously in the rump region of sows (Bacci et al., 2014). In cattle, our results revealed slightly elevated growth rates than those found by Burnett et al. (2014), who also revealed faster growth of hair in the tail tip compared to hip and shoulder regions. Studies in primates showed average growth rates from 7 mm to 27 mm/month, depending on the species (Fourie et al., 2016; Tennenhouse et al., 2017). These differences may be caused by diverging hair types, such as hairs of different lengths, or with a different blood supply to the skin in the examined body regions. The knowledge of hair growth velocities is important for the interpretation of HCC results to enable the assessment of recent causes of variation, especially when using HCC as a retrospective calendar. Thus, it is advisable to determine the hair growth rate in different body regions of the species of interest.

Our findings regarding the impact of body region on hair cortisol levels are in accordance with results from a study in pigs, in which lower HCCs were found in cranio-dorsal regions than in dorso-lumbar areas (Casal et al., 2017). Increased cortisol levels in tail hair were also found in cattle (Burnett et al., 2014; Moya et al., 2013), whereas in horses, higher HCCs were found in mane hair than in hair from the tail (Duran et al., 2017). Studies in other species showed inconsistent results regarding the influence of body region on HCC (e.g., rabbits: Comin et al., 2012; coyote: Schell et al., 2017, sheep: Fürtbauer et al. 2019). Possible explanations for this inconsistency between animal species could be different hair growth cycles with diverse lengths of growth phases, species-specific shedding rhythms or diverging hair structures (Neurand et al., 1980; Meyer et al., 1980). Additionally, differences in HCCs between body regions of the same animal may be caused by an enhanced "wash out" of hair cortisol (e.g., by UV-radiation (Wester et al., 2016) and grooming (Acker et al., 2018)), increased skin blood flow (Carlitz et al., 2015) or elevated incorporation due to external contamination. Furthermore, body sites may differ in hair color (Sotohira et al., 2017) or hair type (Tallo-Parra et al., 2015), which may be additional influencing factors.

4.2. Age and sex

Our finding of elevated hair cortisol levels in piglets and calves after birth is in accordance with findings in other species (horses: Montillo et al., 2014; macaques: Grant et al., 2017). Indeed, hair collected at this time was grown *in utero* (Meyer and Görgen, 1986) and therefore may reflect enhanced prenatal cortisol concentrations during late gestation. As found in pigs, maternal cortisol levels increase throughout gestation (Otten et al., 2013) and fetal cortisol concentrations during late gestation (Kanitz et al., 2012), and plasma concentrations in piglets after birth are elevated compared to later ages (Otten et al., 2013). In

addition, young animals have lower corticosteroid binding globulin levels, resulting in higher unbound plasma cortisol concentrations (Kanitz et al., 2012; Grant et al., 2017), which may contribute to the increased HCCs at this age. There was a striking decrease in HCC from 2-week-old piglets to 10-week-old pigs in our study, which may be due to shedding of the birth coat (Slee, 1963; Ling, 1970). Furthermore, we found an increase in cortisol concentrations in sows compared to younger animals. Elevated HCCs at older ages were also described in humans and primates (Dettenborn et al., 2012; Fourie et al., 2015), where the increase was attributed to reduced HPA axis feedback sensitivity (Sapolsky et al., 1986). In our study, elevated HCCs in sows could also be caused by their reproductive cycle, as preliminary data indicate that hair samples collected in the insemination period exhibit higher HCC than samples taken in other periods of the reproductive cycle (unpublished data).

Our findings regarding the lack of sex differences in HCC are in accordance with previous reports in some species (Asiatic black bears: Malcolm et al., 2013; Canada lvnx: Terwissen et al., 2013; pigs: Roelofs et al., 2018: dogs: Packer et al., 2019). However, several studies indicate higher HCC in males than in females (e.g., horses: Medill et al., 2015; chimpanzees: Yamanashi et al., 2016; muskoxen: Di Francesco et al., 2017) or elevated HCC in females compared to males (e.g., bears: Bechshoft et al., 2011; primates: Fourie et al., 2016; goats: Dulude-de Broin et al., 2019). These diverging findings may result from different habitats or housing conditions that may influence HPA axis activity. Free-ranging animals may also exhibit more distinctive sex-specific behavior, such as territorial fights and mating rituals, which may raise cortisol levels in males (Bergman et al., 2005). In contrast, sexual behavior is reduced in farm animals that are often housed in gender-separated groups or were sometimes castrated, as is the case in our study. Castration may lead to lower HCC, as shown in cats (Finkler and Terkel, 2010). The lack of differences in HCC between males and females in our study may be further caused by the rather limited sample from older animals. We were only able to sample newborn cattle and castrated male pigs until the age of 27 weeks because male pigs and cattle are almost exclusively intended for fattening and merely reach the age of sexual maturity.

4.3. Hair color

Our results regarding hair coloration and HCC are in line with findings from a previous study in cattle (Tallo-Parra et al., 2015). Comprehensive studies in humans provide further evidence that dark hair is related to higher HCCs (Rippe et al., 2016; Binz et al., 2018). The underlying mechanisms have not been elucidated, but it is speculated that an increased blood flow in skin covered by black hair may favor the incorporation of cortisol via blood vessels (Burnett et al., 2014) or that the number of melanocytes facilitates the incorporation of lipophilic substances (Pragst and Balikova, 2006). In addition, it is possible that melanin in black hair could have a UV filtering effect and thereby inhibit the degradation of cortisol by UV radiation. However, within the same animal, different-colored hair is often collected from different body regions, as is the case with our study in piglets. Due to the breedspecific markings of Saddleback pigs, white hair could only be shaved from the chest, whereas black hair was shaved from the back region. Therefore, the effect of hair color on HCC in piglets is not independent of the influence of body region. In contrast with our results, other studies reported higher HCCs in white hair compared to black hair in cattle (Burnett et al., 2014; González-de-la-Vara et al., 2011) and chimpanzees (Yamanashi et al., 2013).

4.4. Hair segment

In our study, the hair cortisol concentrations of hair cortisol in most distal segments were approximately 11 times higher than proximal segments in pigs and 2.5 times higher in cattle. To the best of our

General and Comparative Endocrinology 288 (2020) 113359

knowledge, an increase in HCC along the hair shaft was only reported in two previous studies on Asiatic black bears (Malcolm et al., 2013) and sheep (Fürtbauer et al., 2019). The majority of studies in other species revealed a decline in cortisol concentrations from proximal to distal hair segments, the so-called "washout effect" (e.g., humans: Kirschbaum et al., 2009; chimpanzees: Carlitz et al., 2015; cattle: Nedić et al., 2017). Studies in humans suggest that UV radiation, hair washing and hair styling can cause degradation or elimination of HCC (Hamel et al., 2011; Stalder et al., 2017; Wester et al., 2016; Grass et al., 2016). In addition, sunlight, hair washing or even natural friction can degrade hair cuticle cells (Dawber, 1996; Richena and Rezende, 2016). Since distal hair segments were exposed to external influences for a longer period of time, their surface structure may be more damaged. Our observation that hairs of the most distal hair segment in pigs often showed split ends may support this assumption. Thus, these parts of the hair may be more susceptible to external contamination by cortisol-containing fluids, e.g., sweat, sebum, saliva and urine, either from the animal itself or from conspecifics. In such cases, cortisol from external sources may not only accumulate at the hair surface but could also be incorporated into the hair shaft, causing an increase in HCCs. Further research should focus on the mechanisms of incorporation and elimination of hair cortisol for validation of HCC as a reliable stress indicator

4.5. Seasonality

The results of our study show no differences in HCC between hair samples collected in summer or winter season in pigs; however, in cattle, increased HCCs were found in winter compared to summer samples. Previous studies also reported elevated HCCs during winter in cattle (Braun et al., 2017), pigs (Bacci et al., 2014) and muskoxen (Di Francesco et al., 2017), whereas in Japanese cattle, enhanced cortisol levels were found in samples shaved in June followed by a decrease until September and a renewed increase in samples taken in December (Uetake et al., 2018). Season is a complex influencing factor comprising numerous determinants, which may vary over the year, e.g., temperature, daylight, weather conditions or season-specific sexual, territorial or nutritional behavior. These factors and the use of different species and sampling times hamper the comparability of HCC results between studies. In addition, diverging cortisol incorporation in hair over a period of one year could be caused by seasonal changes in coat characteristics. In the northern hemisphere, winter hair of animals is commonly longer and denser than hair coat during the summer season (Berman and Volcani, 1961; Mowafy and Cassens, 1976) and can be accompanied by an enhanced growth of undercoat in some species. which seems to have lower HCCs than guard hair (Hayman and Nay, 1961: Macbeth et al., 2010: Dulude-de Broin et al., 2019).

The seasonal sampling times in our study were chosen to reflect periods around summer and winter solstice with a maximum difference in day length. The pigs were housed indoors only and thus likely less susceptible to external influences. However, cattle in our study were kept under freely ventilated loose housing conditions and may be more affected by changing environmental conditions, such as daylight, ambient temperature and precipitation. Previous studies indicate that sunlight and UV radiation degrade cortisol in hair (Wester et al., 2016). The greater exposure of cattle to these influences during summer months may therefore be a reason for lower HCCs. In addition, Sharma et al. (2019) found a positive correlation between HCC in the tail hair of cows and the occurrence of dirty flanks in the animals and dung in the lying area. Thus, seasonal differences in the degree of contamination in farm animals may also contribute to seasonal variations of HCCs.

5. Conclusions

Our findings demonstrate that age, body region, hair color, age of the hair segments and season are influencing factors on HCCs and have

similar effects in pigs and cattle. These factors should thus be considered and standardized whenever possible when using hair cortisol as a potential marker for increased stress in these species. For example, it is advisable to only compare HCC results from animals of the same age group with hair samples from the same body region and of the same hair color. Since our study revealed highly elevated cortisol levels in the hair of newborn animals with a subsequent decrease, we also recommend considering animals at older ages for comparison. Further, at least in cattle and possibly in other farmed animals that are housed partly outdoors, the season of sampling should be taken into account because HCCs are also affected by seasonal influences.

In addition, the age of hair segments seems to be a confounding factor that cannot be controlled or standardized as easily as the other influencing factors. Considering the remarkable increase of HCC from proximal to distal hair segments in our study, it is advisable to use regrown hair from previously shaved areas for the reflection of a particular time period. This approach will help to minimize the confounding effect of cortisol accumulation in older hair segments, which may be caused by contamination. For the use of HCC as an indicator of stress and long-term activation of the HPA axis, it is therefore advisable to use hair sampling protocols with the best possible standardization of the identified influencing factors. In addition, the mechanisms of incorporation and accumulation of cortisol into the hair shaft should be further investigated.

Funding

This work was supported (1) by funds of the Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture (BMEL) based on a decision of the Parliament of the Federal Republic of Germany via the Federal Office for Agriculture and Food (BLE) under the innovation support program [grant number 2817901415, RetroCort], and (2) by the QS Wissenschaftsfonds. The publication of this article was partly funded by the Open Access Fund of the Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN).

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Susen Heimbürge: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Writing - original draft. Ellen Kanitz: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing - review & editing, Funding acquisition. Armin Tuchscherer: Formal analysis. Winfried Otten: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Writing - review & editing, Funding acquisition.

Acknowledgements

We gratefully thank the technicians of the Psychophysiological Unit of the Institute of Behavioural Physiology, FBN Dummerstorf, for their technical assistance. In addition, we thank the staff of the Experimental Pig Unit, the Experimental Cattle Unit, the Landesgut Dummerstorf and the commercial pig farm for excellent cooperation and animal care. Special thanks are also due to Dani Diez for the preparation of the illustrations.

References

- Acker, M., Mastromonaco, G., Schulte-Hostedde, A.I., 2018. The effects of body region, season and external arsenic application on hair cortisol concentration. Conserv. Physiol. 6, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/conphys/coy037.Bacci, M.L., Nannoni, E., Govoni, N., Scorrano, F., Zannoni, A., Forni, M., Martelli, G.,
- Sardi, L., 2014. Hair cortisol determination in sows in two consecutive reproductive cycles. Reprod. Biol. 14 (3), 218–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.repbio.2014.06. 001
- Bechshoft, T., Sonne, C., Dietz, R., Born, E.W., Novak, M.A., Henchey, E., Meyer, J.S., 2011. Cortisol levels in hair of East Greenland polar bears. Sci. Total Environ. 409 (4),
- 70 (3), 703-713, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2004.12.017
- Berman, A., Volcani, R., 1961. Seasonal and regional variations in coat characteristics of

General and Comparative Endocrinology 288 (2020) 113359

dairy cattle. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 12 (3), 528-538. https://doi.org/10.1071/

- Binz, T.M., Rietschel, L., Streit, F., Hofmann, M., Gehrke, J., Herdener, M., Quednow, B.B., Martin, N.G., Rietschel, M., Kraemer, T., Baumgartner, M.R., 2018. Endoger cortisol in keratinized matrices: Systematic determination of baseline cortisol levels in hair and the influence of sex, age and hair color. Forensic Sci. Int. 284, 33-38. doi.org/10.1016/j.forsciint.2017.12.032
- Braun, U., Michel, N., Baumgartner, M.R., Hässig, M., Binz, T.M., 2017. Cortisol con-centration of regrown hair and hair from a previously unshorn area in dairy cows Res., Vet. Sci. 114, 412-415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2017.07.005.
- nard, C., Ralph, C., Hynd, P., Edwards, J.H., Tilbrook, A., 2017. Hair cortisol and its potential value as a physiological measure of stress response in human and nonhuman animals. Anim. Prod. Sci. 57 (3), 401-414. https://doi.org/10.1071/ AN15622
- Burnett, T.A., Madureira, A.M., Silper, B.F., Tahmasbi, A., Nadalin, A., Veira, D.M., Cerri, R.L., 2015. Relationship of concentrations of cortisol in hair with health, biomarkers in blood, and reproductive status in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98 (7), 4414–4426. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2014-8871.
- Burnett, T.A., Madureira, A.M., Silper, B.F., Nadalin, A., Tahmasbi, A., Veira, D.M., Cerri, R.L., 2014. Short communication: factors affecting hair cortisol concentrations in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97 (12), 7685–7690. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.
- Carlitz, E.H.D., Kirschbaum, C., Miller, R., Rukundo, J., van Schaik, C.P., 2015. Effects of body region and time on hair cortisol concentrations in chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 223, 9-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.09.
- Casal, N., Manteca, X., Peña, L.R., Bassols, A., Fàbrega, E., 2017. Analysis of cortisol ir hair samples as an indicator of stress in pigs J. Vet. Behav. Clin. Appl. Res. 19, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2017.01.002.
 Comin, A., Zufferli, V., Peric, T., Canavese, F., Barbetta, D., Prandi, A., 2012. Hair cortisol
- levels determined at different body sites in the New Zealand white rabbit. World Rabbit Sci. 20, 149–154. https://doi.org/10.4995/wrs.2012.1106. Dallman, M.F., Akana, S.F., Cascio, C.S., Darlington, D.N., Jacobson, L., Levin, N., 1987.
- Regulation of ACTH secretion: variations on a theme of B. Recent Prog. Horm. Res. 43, 113–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-571143-2.50010-1. Dawber, R., 1996. Hair: its structure and response to cosmetic preparations. Clin.
- Dermatol. 14 (1), 105–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/0738-081x(95)00117-x. Dettenborn, L., Tietze, A., Kirschbaum, C., Stalder, T., 2012. The assessment of cortisol in
- human hair: associations with sociodemographic variables and potential con-founders. Stress 15 (6), 578–588. https://doi.org/10.3109/10253890.2012.654479. Di Francesco, J., Navarro-Gonzalez, N., Wynne-Edwards, K., Peacock, S., Leclerc, L.-M.,
- Tomaselli, M., Davison, T., Carlsson, A., Kutz, S., 2017. Oiviut cortisol in muskoxen as a potential tool for informing conservation strategies. Conserv. Physiol. 5, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1093/conphys/cox052.
 Dulude-de Broin, F., Côté, S.D., Whiteside, D.P., Mastromonaco, G.F., 2019. Faecal me-
- tabolites and hair cortisol as biological markers of HPA-axis activity in the Rocky mountain goat. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 280, 147–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j .2019.04.022
- an, M.C., Janz, D.M., Waldner, C.L., Campbell, J.R., Marques, F.J., 2017. Hair cortisol concentration as a stress biomarker in horses: associations with body location and Dura surgical castration. J. Equine Vet. Sci. 55, 27-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs
- Finkler, H., Terkel, J., 2010. Cortisol levels and aggression in neutered and intact freeroaming female cats living in urban social groups. Physiol. Behav. 99, 343–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbch.2009.11.014.Fourie, N.H., Brown, J.L., Jolly, C.J., Phillips-Conroy, J.E., Rogers, J., Bernstein, R.M.,
- 2016. Sources of variation in hair cortisol in wild and captive non-human primates. Zoology 119, 119–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.zool.2016.01.001. Fourie, N.H., Jolly, C.J., Phillips-Conroy, J.E., Brown, J.L., Bernstein, R.M., 2015.
- Fourie, N.H., Johy, C.J., Philips-Colley, J.E., Brown, J.L., Bernstein, K.M., 2015. Variation of hair cortical concentrations among wild populations of two baboon species (Papio anubis, P. hamadryas) and a population of their natural hybrids. Primates 56 (3), 259–272. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10329-015-0469.
 Fraser, D., Mench, J., Millman, S., 2001. Farm animals and their welfare in 2000. In: Salem, D.J., Rowan, A.N. (Eds.), The State of the Animals 2001. Humane Society Press, Washington, DC, pp. 87–99.
- Firtbauer, I., Solman, C., Fry, A., 2019. Sheep wool cortisol as a retrospective measure of long-term HPA-axis activity and links to body mass. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 68, 39–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.domaniend.2018.12.009.
- Ghassemi Neiad, J., Kim, B.W., Lee, B.H., Sung, K. Il, 2017, Coat and hair color: hair
- Grassemi velad, J., Kim, B.W., Ice, B.H., Sung, K. H. 2017. Coat and nair color: nair cortisol and serotonin levels in lactating Holstein cows under heat stress conditions. Anim. Sci. J. 88, 190–194. https://doi.org/10.1111/asj.12662.
 González-de-la-Vara, M. del R., Valdez, R.A., Lemus-Ramirez, V., Vázquez-Chagoyán, J.C., Villa-Godoy, A., Romano, M.C., 2011. Effects of adrenocorticotropic hormone hell. challenge and age on hair cortisol concentrations in dairy cattle. Can. J. Vet. Res. 75, 216-221
- Grant, K.S., Worlein, J.M., Meyer, J.S., Novak, M.A., Kroeker, R., Rosenberg, K., Kenney, C., Burbacher, T.M., 2017. A longitudinal study of hair cortisol concentrations in Macaca nemestrina mothers and infants. Am. J. Primatol. 79, 1-9. https://doi.org/
- Grass, J., Miller, R., Carlitz, E.H.D., Patrovsky, F., Gao, W., Kirschbaum, C., Stalder, T., 2016. In vitro influence of light radiation on hair steroid concentrations. Psychoneuroendocrinology 73, 109–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.
- Greff, M.J.E., Levine, J.M., Abuzgaia, A.M., Elzagallaai, A.A., Rieder, M.J., van Uum, S.H.M., 2019. Hair cortisol analysis: an update on methodological considerations and clinical applications. Clin. Biochem. 63, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiochem.

2018.09.010.

- Hamel, A.F., Meyer, J.S., Henchey, E., Dettmer, A.M., Suomi, S.J., Novak, M.A., 2011. Effects of shampoo and water washing on hair cortisol concentrations. Clin. Chim Acta 412, 382–385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2010.10.019.
- Hayman, R.H., Nay, T., 1961. Observations on hair growth and shedding in cattle. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 12 (3), 513–527. https://doi.org/10.1071/AR9610513. Heimbürge, S., Kanitz, E., Otten, W., 2019. The use of hair cortisol for the assessment of
- stress in animals. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 270, 10-17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. n 2018 09 016
- Kanitz, E., Otten, W., Tuchscherer, M., Gräbner, M., Brüssow, K.P., Rehfeldt, C., Metges, C.C., 2012. High and low protein: carbohydrate dietary ratios during gestation alter material-fetal cortisol regulation in pigs. PLoS One 7 (12), e52748. https://doi.org. 10.1371/journal.pone.0052748.
 Kirschbaum, C., Tietze, A., Skoluda, N., Dettenborn, I., 2009. Hair as a retrospective
- calendar of cortisol production increased cortisol incorporation into hair in the third trimester of pregnancy. Psychoneuroendocrinology 34, 32–37. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.psyr euen.2008.08.024
- Ling, J.K., 1970. Pelage and molting in wild mammals with special reference to aquatic forms. Q. Rev. Biol. 45 (1), 16–54. https://doi.org/10.1086/406361. Macbeth, B.J., Cattet, M.R.L., Stenhouse, G.B., Gibeau, M.L., Janz, D.M., 2010. Hair
- cortisol concentration as a noninvasive measure of long-term stress in free-ranging grizzly bears (Ursus arctos): considerations with implications for other wildlife. Can. J. Zool. 88, 935–949. https://doi.org/10.1139/Z10-057.
- Malcolm, K.D., McShea, W.J., Van Deelen, T.R., Bacon, H.J., Liu, F., Putman, S., Zhu, X., Brown, J.L., 2013. Analyses of feeal and hair glucocorticoids to evaluate short- and long-term stress and recovery of Asiatic black bears (Ursus thibetanus) removed from bile farms in China. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 185, 97-106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. 2013 01 014
- Medill, S.A., Janz, D.M, Mcloughlin, P.D., 2015. Hair testosterone and cortisol concentrations and their relationships to physiological and social status in feral horses
- (Equus ferus caballus). In: 3rd International Equine Science Meeting 2015. err, W., Görgen, S., 1986. Development of hair coat and skin glands in fetal porcine integument. J. Anat. 144, 201–220. Meyer,
- Mergument, J., Anat. 144, 201–220.
 Meyer, W., Neurand, K., Schwarz, R., 1980. Der Haarwechsel der Haussäugetiere 2. Topographischer Ablauf, Vergleich Haustier-Wildtier und Steuerungsmechanismen. Disch. Tierärztl. Wschr. 87, 77–116.
 Meyer, J., Novak, M., Hamel, A., Rosenberg, K., 2014. Extraction and analysis of cortisol from human and monkey hair. J. Vis. Exp. 83, e50882. https://doi.org/10.3791/ 50097
- Montillo, M., Comin, A., Corazzin, M., Peric, T., Faustini, M., Veronesi, M.C., Valentini, S., Bustaffa, M., Prandi, A., 2014. The effect of temperature, rainfall, and light conditions on hair cortisol concentrations in newborn foals. J. Equine Vet. Sci. 34, 774–778.
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs.2014.01.011. Mowafy, M., Cassens, R.G., 1976. Hair growth in the domestic pig-quantitative aspects. J. Am. Leather Chem. Assoc. 71 (2), 71–82.
- Moya, D., Schwartzkopf-Genswein, K.S., Veira, D.M., 2013. Standardization of a non-Wys, D., Schwartzop Octowen, K.S., Yens, D.M., 2015. Sandardzatop of a hor-invasive methodology to measure cortisol in hair of beef cattle. Livest. Sci. 158, 138–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2013.10.007.
 Nannoni, E., Sardi, L., Vitali, M., Trevisi, E., Ferri, M.E., Bacci, M.L., Govoni, N., Barbieri,
- S., Martelli, G., 2018. Enrichment devices for undocked heavy pigs: effects on animal welfare, blood parameters and production traits blood parameters and production traits. Ital. J. Anim. Sci. 18 (1), 45-56. https://doi.org/10.1080/1828051X.2018 472531
- Nedić, S., Pantelić, M., Vranješ-Durić, S., Nedić, D., Jovanović, I., Cebulj-Kadunc, N., Kobal, S., Snoj, T., Kirovski, D., 2017. Cortisol concentrations in hair, blood and milk of Holstein and Busha cattle. Slov. Vet. Res. 54, 163-172. https://doi.org/10.2687. SVR-398-2017. Neurand, K., Meyer, W., Schwarz, R., 1980. Der Haarwechsel der Haussä

ugetiere 1 Allgemeine Poblematik und zeitlicher Ablauf, Dtsch. Tierärztl, Wschr. 87, 1-40.

- Otten, W., Kanitz, E., Tuchscherer, M., Gräbner, M., Nürnberg, G., Bellmann, O., Henning, U., Rehfeldt, C., Metges, C.C., 2013. Effects of low and high protein: carbohydrate ratios in the diet of pregnant gilts on maternal cortisol concentrations and the adrenocortical and sympathoadrenal reactivity in their offspring. J. Anim. Sci. 91 (6), 2680–2692. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2012-6080.
- Packer, R.M., Davies, A.M., Volk, H.A., Puckett, H.L., Hobbs, S.L., Fowkes, R.C., 2019. What can we learn from the hair of the dog? Complex effects of endogenous and exogenous stressors on canine hair cortisol. PLoS One 14 (5), e0216000. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0216000

General and Comparative Endocrinology 288 (2020) 113359

- Peric, T., Comin, A., Corazzin, M., Montillo, M., Cappa, A., Campanile, G., Prandi, A., 2013. Hair cortisol concentrations in Holstein-Friesian and crossbreed F1 heifers. J.
- Dairy Sci. 96 (5), 3023-3027. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2012-6151. Pragst, F., Balikova, M.A., 2006. State of the art in hair analysis for detection of drug and alcohol abuse. Clin. Chim. Acta 370 (1-2), 17-49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca 2006 02 019
- Richena, M., Rezende, C.A., 2016. Morphological degradation of human hair cuticle due to simulated sunlight irradiation and washing. J. Photochem. Photobiol. B 161, 430-440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2016.06.002. Rippe, R.C., Noppe, G., Windhorst, D.A., Tiemeier, H., van Rossum, E.F., Jaddoe, V.W.,
- Verhulst, F.C., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M.J., van IJzendoorn, M.H., van den Akker, E.L., 2016. Splitting hair for cortisol? Associations of socio-economic status, ethnicity, hair color, gender and other child characteristics with hair cortisol and cortisone. Psychoneuroendocrinology 66, 56-64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psy 2015.12.016
- Roelofs, S., Godding, L., de Haan, J.R., van der Staay, F.J., Nordquist, R.E., 2019. Effects of parity and litter size on cortisol measures in commercially housed sows and their offspring. Physiol. Behav. 201, 83-90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2018.12.
- Roelofs, S., van Bommel, I., Melis, S., van der Staay, F.J., Nordquist, R.E., 2018. Low birth weight impairs acquisition of spatial memory task in pigs. Front. Vet. Sci. 5, 142. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2018.00142.
- Sapolsky, R.M., Krey, L.C., McEwen, B.S., 1986. The neuroendocrinology of stress and aging: the glucocorticoid cascade hypothesis. Endocr. Rev. 7 (3), 284-301. https:// (10.1210/edry-7-3-284
- Schell, C.J., Young, J.K., Lonsdorf, E.V., Mateo, J.M., Santymire, R.M., 2017. Investigation of techniques to measure cortisol and testosterone concentrations in
- coyote hair. Zoo Biol. 36 (3), 220-225. https://doi.org/10.1002/zoo.21359. Sharma, A., Umapathy, G., Kumar, V., Phillips, C.J.C., 2019. Hair cortisol in sheltered cows and its association with other welfare indicators. Animals 9 (5), E248. https://
- doi org/10/3390/ani9050248. Sheriff, M.J., Dantzer, B., Delehanty, B., Palme, R., Boonstra, R., 2011. Measur ng stress in wildlife: techniques for quantifying glucocorticoids. Oecologia 166 (4), 869–887. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-011-1943-v.
- Slee, J., 1963. Birthcoat shedding in Wiltshire horn lambs. Anim. Prod. 5 (3), 301–316. https://doi.org/10.1017/S003356100021838.
- Sotohira, Y., Suzuki, K., Sano, T., Arai, C., Asakawa, M., Hayashi, H., 2017. Stress as sessment using hair cortisol of kangaroos affected by the lumpy jaw disease. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 79, 852–854. https://doi.org/10.1292/jvms.16-0633.
- Stalder, T., Steudte-Schmiedgen, S., Alexander, N., Klucken, T., Vater, A., Wichmann, S., Kirschbaum, C., Miller, R., 2017. Stress-related and basic determinants of Kirschbaum, C., Miller, R., 2017. Stress-related and basic determinants of hair cor-tisol in humans: a meta-analysis. Psychoneuroendocrinology 77, 261–274. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.12.017.
- (d).Org/10.1010/j.psylleuti.action \$1751731115000294
- Tennenhouse, E.M., Putman, S., Boisseau, N.P., Brown, J.L., 2017. Relationships between
- steroid hormones in hair and social behaviour in ring-tailed lemurs (Lemur catta). Primates 58 (1), 199–209. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10329-016-0566-7. Terwissen, C.V., Mastromonaco, G.F., Murray, D.L., 2013. Influence of adrenocortico-trophin hormone challenge and external factors (age, sex, and body region) on hair cortisol concentration in Canada Jynx (Lynx canadensis). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 194, 162–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.09.010.
 Uetake, K., Morita, S., Sakagami, N., Yamamoto, K., Hashimura, S., Tanaka, T., 2018. Hair
- cortisol levels of lactating dairy cows in cold- and warm-temperate regions in Japan. Anim. Sci. J. 89, 494–497. https://doi.org/10.1111/asj.12934.
 Wester, V.L., van der Wulp, N.R.P., Koper, J.W., de Rijke, Y.B., van Rossum, E.F.C., 2016.
- Hair cortisol and cortisone are decreased by natural sunlight. Psychoneuroendocrinology 72, 94–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.06.
- Yamanashi, Y., Morimura, N., Mori, Y., Hayashi, M., Suzuki, J., 2013. Cortisol analysis of hair of captive chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 194, 55–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.08.013.
- Yamanashi, Y., Teramoto, M., Morimura, N., Hirata, S., Suzuki, J., Havashi, M., Kinoshita, K., Murayama, M., Idani, G., 2016. Analysis of hair cortisol levels in captive chim-panzees: effect of various methods on cortisol stability and variability. MethodsX 3, 110-117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mex.2016.01.004.

4.3 Study 3: Effects of long-term stress on hair cortisol concentrations

Is it getting in the hair? Cortisol concentrations in native, regrown and segmented hairs of cattle and pigs after repeated ACTH administrations

Susen Heimbürge, Ellen Kanitz, Armin Tuchscherer, Winfried Otten

This work was published in General and Comparative Endocrinology 295 (2020) 113534

Highlights:

- Repeated ACTH applications increase hair cortisol levels (HCC) in cattle and pigs.
- In cattle, HCCs in natural, regrown and segmental hair reflect HPA axis activity.
- Pigs show a blunted cortisol response and no differences in HCCs between groups.
- Seasonal hair growth and contamination may also mask treatment effects in pigs.

Statement of contribution:

I contributed to the third study by designing and conducting the experiments and analysing the sampling material with the assistance of technicians at the Institute of Behavioural Physiology. Additionally, I gathered and analysed the data, interpreted the results and prepared the manuscript and figures, which were edited by the co-authors before submission.

Study 3

General and Comparative Endocrinology 295 (2020) 113534

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



General and Comparative Endocrinology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ygcen



Research paper

Is it getting in the hair? – Cortisol concentrations in native, regrown and segmented hairs of cattle and pigs after repeated ACTH administrations



Susen Heimbürge^a, Ellen Kanitz^a, Armin Tuchscherer^b, Winfried Otten^{a,*}

^a Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN), Institute of Behavioural Physiology, Wilhelm-Stahl-Allee 2, 18196 Dummerstorf, Germany ^b Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN), Institute of Genetics and Biometry, Wilhelm-Stahl-Allee 2, 18196 Dummerstorf, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords:

ACTH

Hair cortisol

Long-term stress

Farm animals

HPA axis

ABSTRACT

Adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) is part of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis response to stress and induces the release of cortisol, which is commonly used as an indicator in stress and animal welfare research. In recent years, hair cortisol concentration (HCC) gained increasing importance as a promising retrospective indicator for stress in animals. Thus, the aim of our study was to validate HCC as a potential indicator of increased endogenous cortisol release in cattle and pigs by repeated ACTH administrations followed by cortisol analysis in different hair types. For this purpose, 34 cattle and 38 gilts were treated either with repeated i.m. injections of ACTH or saline every second day over a period of 4 weeks. Saliva samples were taken before and after injections once a week from selected animals to verify the endogenous cortisol response. At the end of the treatment (week 4) and after 8 and 12 weeks, samples of natural and regrown hair were taken from the caudo-dorsal region of the back and analyzed for cortisol concentrations. In addition, natural hair was sampled after 12 weeks and cut into segments prior to analysis. Treatment with ACTH revealed a significant increase in salivary cortisol after application in both species, although this increase was attenuated in pigs compared to cattle. In week 4, HCCs were significantly elevated in natural and regrown hair of ACTH-treated animals. In cattle, HCCs significantly increased after ACTH treatment in natural, regrown and segmental hair compared with control animals, indicating that HCC may be a promising indicator of stress, as cortisol levels in all hair types reflected the preceding period with increased cortisol release. In pigs, there were no differences in HCCs between treatments. This may be caused by the lower systemic cortisol response in pigs, but seasonally reduced hair growth and external crosscontamination of hair by saliva and urine under commercial husbandry conditions may also interfere with the validity of HCC in this species.

1. Introduction

Under commercial husbandry conditions, farm animals may suffer from diverse stressful situations, such as poor housing conditions, social stress and frequent management procedures (Wood-Gush et al., 1975). Thus, there is growing interest in the use of animal-based, minimally- or non-invasive stress indicators to assess wellbeing in farm animals (Palme, 2012; Barrell, 2019). In addition to behavioral parameters and physical indicators, the analysis of hormones, such as cortisol, is commonly used for the assessment of stress and animal welfare (Mormède et al., 2007). Since the measurement of cortisol in blood, saliva, urine and feces provides several disadvantages, such as frequent and invasive sampling and circadian variation, hair is increasingly used as a promising alternative sampling material (Heimbürge et al., 2019). Numerous studies have already shown that diverse stressors such as crowding (Schubach et al., 2017), lower social rank (Qin et al., 2013) and the occurrence of diseases (Comin et al., 2013) are reflected in elevated hair cortisol concentrations (HCCs). However, further validation of the suitability of HCC as an indicator of long-term stress is needed to investigate the relationship between HCCs and systemic cortisol levels in farm animals. To this end, administrations of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) are used to simulate stress-induced release of endogenous cortisol from the adrenal glands (Kersey and Dehnhard, 2014). Since it is assumed that the main source of hair cortisol is circulating, unbound cortisol, which diffuses from the blood vessels into the growing hair (Stalder and Kirschbaum, 2012), an increased incorporation of cortisol into the hair shaft should be detectable after ACTH administrations, as already shown in previous studies (del González-de-la-Vara et al., 2011; Dulude-de Broin et al., 2019). Thereby, repeated ACTH administrations can be used for the validation

* Corresponding author. E-mail address: otten@fbn-dummerstorf.de (W. Otten).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2020.113534

Received 30 January 2020; Received in revised form 29 May 2020; Accepted 5 June 2020

Available online 12 June 2020

0016-6480/ © 2020 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/BY/4.0/).

General and Comparative Endocrinology 295 (2020) 113534



Fig. 1. Areas for hair sampling in cattle (A) and pigs (B).

of HCC as a retrospective indicator of preceding periods with increased hypothalamic–pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis activity.

In this context, the aim of our study was to determine the relationship between repeated ACTH applications and hair cortisol concentrations in two different species (cattle and pigs), at different sampling times and for the first time in three different hair sample types (natural, regrown and segmented hair). During a 4-week treatment period either with i.m. injections of ACTH or saline, saliva samples were collected before and after administrations to verify the increased endogenous cortisol response. Natural and regrown hair samples were taken at three sampling times after the treatment period. Furthermore, hair segments supposed to represent different time periods were collected at the end of the experiment. Based on average hair growth rates in cattle and pigs, we set up models and then tested whether and after which time period prolonged increased systemic cortisol levels are reflected by increased HCC in different hair sample types of cattle and pigs.

2. Materials and methods

All procedures performed in this study involving animal handling and treatments were in accordance with the German animal protection law and were approved by the local ethics committee (Landesamt für Landwirtschaft, Lebensmittelsicherheit und Fischerei, Mecklenburg-Vorpommern, Germany; LALLF M - V/AZ 7221.3–1.1–059/17).

2.1. Animals and housing

In cattle, the study population consisted of 34 female Holstein Friesian cattle with a mean \pm SD age at the start of the experiment of 7.9 \pm 0.5 months and a body weight of 240.6 \pm 41.5 kg. Cattle were housed in the Experimental Cattle Facility of the Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN Dummerstorf) and were fed and watered ad libitum. Two replicates were carried out between September and January with 18 and 16 animals, respectively. Within each replicate, animals were group-housed on slatted floors (83 m²) with free stalls.

A further experiment was performed using 38 German Landrace gilts with a mean \pm SD age of 4.5 \pm 0.5 months and a body weight of 90.3 \pm 10.6 kg at the start of the experiment. An additional four animals served as reserves to standardize the group size. All gilts were bred and raised in the Experimental Pig Facility of the FBN Dummerstorf. Animals were fed a commercial diet according to the recommendations for their age. Feeding times were twice daily at 7:30 a.m. and 2:00 p.m. and water was available ad libitum. Gilts were

housed in groups of seven animals per pen (slatted floor, 9 m^2), and a total of three replicates with two animal groups each were carried out between March and August.

2.2. Experimental design

A consistent experimental protocol was used in both cattle and pigs. Two weeks before starting the experiments, all animals were allowed to adapt to the housing conditions and were habituated to the handling procedures. Within each replicate, half of the cattle or gilts were randomly allocated to receive ACTH or control treatments. Thus, all animal groups consisted of both ACTH and control animals. The treatment of ACTH animals involved repeated administrations of 2 ml ACTH solution (100 IU Synacthen Depot, Alfasigma S.p.A., Milano, Italy). The dose was chosen based on dose-response curves and results already described in previous studies using this ACTH dose in cattle (Dobson et al., 2000; Biran et al., 2015) and pigs (Otten et al., 2004; Backus et al., 2013). Control animals received repeated injections of 2 ml saline. All animals were injected intramuscularly in the neck region around 9:00 a.m. every second day over a period of 4 weeks, resulting in a total of 14 injections per animal. After the 4-week treatment period, animal groups were kept for an additional eight weeks for hair sampling.

Hair samples were taken from the caudo-dorsal region of the back one day before the start of the treatment period (0), after four weeks (end of treatment) and after eight and 12 weeks. Therefore, the caudodorsal region was divided in four areas (Fig. 1). At the beginning of the experiment, a first sample of natural hair was taken in area "A" by shaving the hair as close to the skin as possible using an electric clipper (Wahl Professional KM 10, Mosonmagyaróvár, Hungary) with a special trimmer blade (Oster Cryogen-X Nr. 50 (0.2 mm), Boca Raton, USA). After 4 weeks, natural hair in area "B" and regrown hair in area "A" was shaved. Accordingly, after 8 and 12 weeks, natural hair was shaved in areas "C" and "D" respectively, and samples of hair regrown during the preceding four weeks were taken from previously shaved areas. There were no differences in hair color within and between pigs. In cattle, the predominant hair color in the caudo-dorsal region (black or white) of each animal determined the color of all hair samples of that animal.

After 12 weeks, additional samples of natural hair were taken from the tail tip of cattle and the back region of pigs to investigate the cortisol concentrations in three hair segments (area "E"). Considering the different hair growth rates in these regions of cattle and pigs a total hair length of 4.5 cm in cattle and 3.0 cm in pigs was chosen to represent the entire 12-week period of the experiment (Heimbürge et al., 2020).

Thus, in cattle, proximal hair strands of the tail tip were collected and subsequently cut in three 1.5-cm segments (area "E", Fig. 1 A). In pigs, hairs were directly harvested in three 1-cm segments in area "E" (Fig. 1 B), by using an adjustable electric clipper (hair clipper series 1000 QC5005/10, Philips, Drachten, Netherlands). Hair samples were collected by hand or, in case of regrown hair and hair segments in pigs, by using a vacuum cleaner (cleanmaxx zyklon PC-P006EA, DS Produkte GmbH, Gallin, Germany) with a paper filter in the suction tube. All hair samples were dried, weighed and stored light-protected at room temperature (RT) until analysis.

To verify the endogenous cortisol release by ACTH during the treatment period, saliva samples were taken from 20 cattle (ACTH and control: n = 10, respectively) as well as from 24 gilts (ACTH and control: n = 12, respectively) for analysis of salivary cortisol concentrations. Saliva sampling was repeatedly performed on one day per week during the 4-week treatment period. Starting at 8:30 a.m. and 30 min before the ACTH/saline application, the first saliva sample was collected by allowing the animals to chew on veterinary cotton swabs until they were thoroughly moistened. Additional samples were taken 1, 2, 3, 6 and 9 h after application. The cotton swabs were placed in tubes, centrifuged at 2,500 g for 10 min at 4 °C and stored at -20 °C until analysis.

2.3. Analysis of cortisol

After thawing, saliva samples were spun at 2,500 g for 5 min, resulting in a clear supernatant with low viscosity. The analysis of cortisol concentrations in 50 μ l saliva samples was performed in duplicate using an ELISA kit for salivary cortisol (Demeditec Diagnostics GmbH, Kiel, Germany) as described by Goursot et al. (2019). For cattle, the sensitivity of this assay was 0.06 ng/ml and the intra- and inter-assay coefficients of variation (CV) were 4.2% and 8.6%, respectively. For pigs, sensitivity of the assay was 0.08 ng/ml and the intra- and inter-assay CV were 3.4% and 7.2%, respectively.

Extraction and analysis of hair cortisol was performed using the procedures described by Heimbürge et al. (2020). Briefly, hair samples were washed twice with isopropanol dried at RT, snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and pulverized using a ball mill (MM 400, Retsch GmbH, Haan, Germany). For cortisol extraction, 1 ml of methanol (HPLC grade) was added to approximately 50 mg of pulverized hair and incubated at RT for 18-24 h with slow shaking. Then, the samples were spun in a microcentrifuge at 12,000 rpm for 2 min, and 0.6 ml of the supernatants were finally dried using a vacuum centrifuge (SpeedVac Concentrator, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA, USA) and stored at -20 °C. The dried extracts were reconstituted in 0.4 ml phosphate buffer and analyzed for hair cortisol using the same ELISA kit as for salivary cortisol (Demeditec Diagnostics GmbH, Kiel, Germany). The cross-reactivities of the antibody with other steroids were as follows: testosterone, < 0.1%; corticosterone, 6.2%; cortisone, 0.8%; 11deoxycorticosterone, 2.6%; 11-deoxycortisol, 50%; dexamethasone, < 0.1%; estriol, < 0.1%; estrone, < 0.1%; prednisolone, 100%; prednisone, 0.9%; progesterone, < 0.1%; 17-hydroxyprogesterone, 1.3%; danazole, < 0.1%; pregnenolone, < 0.1%; estradiol, < 0.1%; androstenedione, < 0.1%. The sensitivity of the assay was 0.8 pg/mg for cattle hair and 1.1 pg/mg for pig hair. Serial dilutions of hair extracts showed parallelism to the cortisol standard curve with no significant difference in slope (p > 0.05). The intra- and inter-assay CV were 4.3% and 7.8% for cortisol analyses in hair of cattle, and 4.5% and 6.8% for hair cortisol in pigs, respectively.

2.4. Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were conducted with the SAS System for Windows, version 9.4 (Copyright, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). All data were analyzed using the MIXED procedure for performing analyses of variance (ANOVA) with hair cortisol or saliva cortisol concentrations

General and Comparative Endocrinology 295 (2020) 113534

as the dependent variables. Data from natural and regrown hair samples from cattle and pigs were analyzed with a model comprising the fixed factors treatment (ACTH, control) and replicate, the repeated factor sampling time (0, 4, 8, 12 weeks) and the interaction of treatment and sampling time. For the statistical evaluation of the hair segments in both species, data were analyzed using a model considering the fixed factors treatment and replicate, the repeated factor segment (1-3) and the interaction of treatment and segment. In cattle, the additional factor hair color was included in the models for HCC in natural and regrown hair, and in pigs, the additional factor animal group (nested within replicate) was included in all models. Furthermore, HCCs were compared between natural und regrown hair of control animals using a model which included the fixed factor hair type (natural, regrown), the repeated factor sampling time (4, 8, 12 weeks) and the interaction of these factors. The statistical model for saliva cortisol in cattle and pigs comprised the fixed factors treatment and replicate, the repeated factors sampling time (-0.5, 1, 2, 3, 6, 9 h) and treatment week (1-4) and all two-way interactions with treatment. AUC (area under curve) was calculated from the saliva cortisol responses of 10 cattle and 12 pigs treated with ACTH, and Pearson correlation coefficients between AUC and the HCCs after the treatment period were estimated with the CORR procedure to evaluate their relationship. Repeated samplings on the same animal were taken into account by the repeated statement of the MIXED procedure using a compound symmetry structure of the block diagonal residual covariance matrix. Multiple pairwise comparisons were made using the Tukey-Kramer test, and the SLICE statement of the MIXED procedure was used to perform partitioned analyses of the least squares means (LSM) for all interactions. Significance was considered at p < 0.05. All results are expressed as LSM \pm standard error (SE).

3. Results

3.1. Salivary cortisol

The results of the ANOVA revealed significant effects of treatment (both species: p < 0.001), sampling time (both species: p < 0.001) and treatment \times sampling time (cattle: p < 0.001, pigs: p < 0.01) on cortisol concentrations in saliva. In cattle, pairwise comparisons indicated significantly increased cortisol concentrations in ACTH-treated animals compared with controls at all sampling times after injection (Fig. 2 A). In pigs, salivary cortisol was significantly elevated in ACTH compared with control animals 1, 2 and 3 h after application (Fig. 2 B). The highest saliva cortisol concentrations were found 2 h (cattle) and 3 h (pigs) after ACTH application.

3.2. Hair cortisol

Cortisol concentrations in natural and regrown hair samples of cattle and pigs are shown in Fig. 3. In cattle, ANOVA revealed significant effects of treatment, sampling time, and their interaction on cortisol concentration in natural hair (all p < 0.001). Pairwise comparison showed elevated HCCs in ACTH compared with control animals in weeks 4, 8 and 12 (all p < 0.001). Additionally, cortisol was significantly higher in weeks 4, 8 and 12 than in week 0 (all p < 0.001; Fig. 3 A). Furthermore, hair color revealed significant effects on cortisol in natural hair (p < 0.001). Thus, cortisol concentrations in black hair were significantly higher compared with white hair (black: 19.6 \pm 1.4 pg/mg, white: 18.2 \pm 1.4 pg/mg). In regrown hair samples of cattle, the results of the ANOVA indicated a significant influence of treatment, sampling time and the interaction of treatment and sampling time on cortisol concentrations (all p < 0.001, Fig. 3B). The pairwise comparison revealed increased HCCs in samples from ACTH-treated animals compared with control animals in week 4 (p < 0.001) and week 8 (p < 0.01). Elevated cortisol concentrations were also found in regrown hair in week 4 (p < 0.001) and 8 (p < 0.01) in comparison to week 12 in the ACTH animals. Hair color





Fig. 2. Salivary cortisol concentrations after ACTH/saline injection in cattle (A) and pigs (B). Data are presented as LSM \pm SE, and significant differences between treatment groups within sampling times are indicated by asterisks (***p < 0.001, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05). Significant differences between sampling times within treatment groups are indicated by different letters (^{a, b, c, d}p < 0.05).

had no significant effect on cortisol in regrown hair (black: 27.5 \pm 4.6 pg/mg, white: 26.6 \pm 4.8 pg/mg). In pigs, cortisol levels in natural hair samples did not differ between ACTH-treated and control animals (p = 0.10), however, ANOVA revealed a significant effect of sampling time and animal group on HCCs (both: p < 0.001). Pairwise comparisons indicated a significant



Fig. 3. (A-B) Cortisol concentrations in natural (A) and regrown (B) hair samples in cattle. (C–D) Cortisol concentrations in natural (C) and regrown (D) hair samples in pigs. Data are presented as LSM \pm SE, and significant differences between treatment groups within sampling times are indicated by asterisks (***p < 0.001, **p < 0.01). Significant differences between sampling times within treatment groups are indicated by different letters (*, b, cp < 0.05).



Fig. 4. Cortisol concentrations in hair segments of cattle (A) and pigs (B). Data are presented as LSM \pm SE, and significant differences between treatment groups within sampling times are indicated by asterisk (*p < 0.05). Significant differences between sampling times within treatment groups are indicated by different letters (^{a, b, c}p < 0.05).

increase in HCC in samples shaved in week 4 in comparison with samples shaved before the treatment period (week 0) in animals of both treatments (all p < 0.001; Fig. 3 C). In addition, HCCs in ACTH animals were significantly elevated in week 12 compared with week 0. In regrown hair samples of pigs, ANOVA revealed a significant effect of sampling time (p < 0.001) and animal group (p < 0.01) on HCC, but no significant effect of treatment or the interaction of treatment and sampling time. Pairwise comparisons showed significantly elevated HCCs in regrown hair of ACTH-treated pigs in week 4 compared to week 8 (p < 0.01; Fig. 3 D).

In hair segments, ANOVA indicated a significant influence of treatment on HCCs (cattle p < 0.001, pigs: p < 0.05). Furthermore, the hair segment (cattle: p < 0.01, pigs: p < 0.001) and the interaction of segment and treatment (cattle: p < 0.01, pigs: p < 0.05) also had significant effects on HCCs in both species. Pairwise comparisons revealed higher HCCs in ACTH-treated cattle compared with controls (p < 0.001), and cortisol concentrations increased from the proximal to the distal hair segments in ACTH-treated animals (Fig. 4 A). In contrast, ANOVA showed generally higher HCC in control than in ACTH pigs (p < 0.05). Hair cortisol levels increased from proximal to distal hair segments in ACTH and control pigs (Fig. 4 B).

In control cattle and pigs there were significant differences between cortisol levels in natural and regrown hair. Cortisol concentrations were higher in natural compared with regrown hair in both species (cattle: 9.8 \pm 0.5 pg/mg vs. 7.4 \pm 0.5 pg/mg, p < 0.01; pigs: 108.6 \pm 7.5 pg/mg vs. 48.6 \pm 7.5 pg/mg, p < 0.001).

The statistical analysis of the relationship between systemic cortisol release and HCC in cattle revealed a significant correlation of the AUC of the saliva samples with HCC in natural hair collected in week 8 (r = 0.84, p < 0.01) and week 12 (r = 0.93, p < 0.001), and with HCC in regrown hair samples from week 4 (r = 0.95, p < 0.001). In pigs, there were no significant correlations between saliva and hair cortisol.

4. Discussion

To the authors' knowledge, this is the first study in which three different hair sample types (natural, regrown and segments) were taken from animals to determine whether and at which sampling time repeated ACTH applications lead to an increase in hair cortisol concentrations.

4.1. Saliva

Numerous studies revealed a high correlation between cortisol concentrations in saliva and cortisol levels in blood in various species (Dorn et al., 2007; Hellhammer et al., 2009; Negrao et al., 2004; Hernandez et al., 2014; Cook et al., 1996), indicating that salivary cortisol can reliably reflect changes in systemic cortisol concentrations. Based on our results from saliva samples we could show that the application of ACTH increased systemic cortisol levels for several hours and resulted in repeated activation of the HPA axis over a period of 4 weeks in cattle and pigs. Thus, our model proved to be effective in simulating the cortisol response to a chronic intermittent stressor. However, comparing both species, the salivary cortisol response was more attenuated in pigs than in cattle with significantly increased cortisol levels for between 3 and 6 h in pigs compared with 9 h in cattle after ACTH application. In comparison, the repeated applications of saline did not alter salivary cortisol levels in control animals, indicating no effect of the treatment itself.

4.2. Natural hair

The hair follicle is located approximately 2 mm under the skin surface in cattle (Udo, 1978) and 3.5 mm in pigs (personal data). Hair in the back region grows approximately 3.5 mm per month in cattle and 7 mm per month in pigs (Heimbürge et al., 2020). Based on these data, we created a model for hair growth in pigs and cattle and hypothesized that natural and actively growing hair of ACTH animals should exhibit increased HCC in week 4 and a maximum concentration in week 8, when it should contain the total amount of cortisol incorporated during the treatment period. We further predicted a decrease in HCC four weeks later (week 12), because newly growing hair portions with basal cortisol levels may lead to a dilution effect (Fig. 5). Due to the cyclic and season-dependent hair growth, samples of natural hair comprise different amount of hairs being in the anagen, catagen and telogen phase. Since only actively growing hair in the anagen phase incorporates cortisol from the blood stream, hair in other stages of the growth cycle could also cause a dilution effect on HCCs in natural hair.

In our study, results in cattle reveal a pronounced increase in cortisol concentrations in all natural hair samples of ACTH-treated animals after the treatment period, with highest cortisol levels in week 8 (4 weeks after the end of treatment), supporting our hypothesis. Furthermore, saliva samples that were collected during the 4-week treatment period and therefore show elevated cortisol levels in ACTH animals, best correlated with samples harvested in week 8 and 12,



Fig. 5. Hair growth model of natural, unshaved hair in the anagen phase during the 12-week experimental period in cattle and pigs. Shading illustrates hair sections with increased cortisol incorporation during the 4-week treatment period.

because at this time all of the increased cortisol was located in the hair shaft over the skin. Additionally, cortisol concentrations of natural hair samples from control animals remained unaffected independent of the week of sampling. Interestingly, natural black hair showed significantly higher HCC than natural white hair, although this effect was not significant in regrown hair samples. Higher HCC in black hair was also reported in cattle and humans (Tallo-Parra et al., 2015; Heimbürge et al., 2020; Binz et al., 2018), whereas other studies showed contradictory results (Burnett et al., 2014, Yamanashi et al., 2013). It is discussed that melanin or an improved blood supply of skin covered with black hair facilitates the incorporation of cortisol (Pragst and Balikova, 2006; Burnett et al., 2014). A further explanation could be a possible degradation of cortisol caused by UV radiation, which might be stronger in white hair because in black hair the pigment may have a sun protective function. Newly grown hair was not as long under UV radiation as natural hair so this effect may not be detectable in regrown hair samples. Our findings regarding the effect of ACTH application on HCC are in accordance with results of a previous study in dairy cattle, where animals received either ACTH or saline weekly for 3 weeks (del González-de-la-Vara et al., 2011). The authors found elevated HCCs in samples from day 14 (directly at the end of treatment) and day 28 (14 days after treatment period) in ACTH-treated cattle, whereas salineinjected and untreated animals showed no increase in HCC.

In contrast, in pigs, we found enhanced cortisol concentrations in natural hair in week 4 (end of the treatment) compared with basal values in week 0. However, no significant differences were found between ACTH and control animals at all sampling times. The lack of differences in HCC between treatments may be partly explained by the weaker salivary cortisol response following ACTH administration in pigs. A further explanation for the missing differences in porcine hair could be the annually hair growth pattern. As mentioned above, hair growth occurs in cycles of three growth phases, whereby cortisol is only incorporated in the anagen phase. In pigs, there is a pronounced seasonality of the follicle activity and porcine hair follicles pass through one cycle per year (Mowafy and Cassens, 1976; Watson and Moore, 1990). The hair growth during the anagen phase takes several months, predominantly during fall and winter. Thus, in our study, natural hair shaved in spring and summer may be mainly in catagen or telogen phases and therefore may incorporate less systemic cortisol.

Unexpectedly, cortisol levels were raised not only in hair samples of ACTH-treated gilts, but also in controls. However, there was no increase in systemic cortisol concentrations in control animals, as shown by salivary cortisol. Since animals in our study were housed under conventional conditions on slatted floors and in mixed groups consisting of ACTH and control animals, it is likely that hair samples from control animals were contaminated with urine and saliva from ACTH-treated animals, which contain high concentrations of cortisol. Contamination may be caused by lying on soiled floor or by social interactions, which frequently occur in group housing under restricted conditions with limited space. In line with this assumption, we could already show in an in vitro study with hair from pigs and cattle that HCC can be increased by contamination with body fluids such as urine (Otten et al., 2020). Additionally, Macbeth (2013) could show that contamination of culvert traps with urine and feces increased HCCs in brown bears. Thus, crosscontamination with saliva, urine and feces may lead to incorporation of external cortisol into the hair shaft and may thus compromise the usefulness of HCC as a stress indicator. In cattle, no effect of contamination was apparent. This may be because cattle were kept on a larger space with free stalls for lying and thus a presumably lower occurrence of soiling and social interactions may have occurred. Furthermore, cattle and pigs differ in their coat and hair characteristics and cattle hair may be less susceptible to contamination due to its density.

4.3. Regrown hair

For sampling of regrown hair, we applied the shave-reshave procedure every four weeks (Meyer and Novak, 2012). Thus, these samples contained only hairs that were actively grown within the preceding four weeks, and therefore might better reflect the systemic cortisol concentration during the previous weeks than natural hair. Assuming the hair growth rate and the follicle depth as described above, we expected increased and similar HCCs in samples shaved from ACTH animals in week 4 and week 8 (Fig. 6). In week 12, all hair portions with elevated HCC should have already been shaved off and no differences were expected (Fig. 6).

Results in cattle revealed high cortisol concentrations in regrown hair samples of ACTH-treated animals in week 4 and week 8 in comparison to control animals, which is in line with this hypothesis. In addition, the correlation of cortisol concentrations in saliva and regrown hair samples was highest in week 4, indicating the close relation between systemic cortisol and the cortisol level in this hair sample. No differences in HCCs between ACTH-treated and control animals were found in week 12. In pigs, HCC in regrown hair of ACTH animals was highest in week 4, and decreased until week 8. Similar to the results found in natural hair, there were no differences between ACTH and control pigs. Again, cross-contamination by body fluids and the attenuated cortisol response to ACTH in pigs compared with cattle may have affected the results for HCC in this hair type.



Fig. 6. Hair growth model of regrown hair in the anagen phase during the 12-week experimental period in cattle and pigs. Shading illustrates hair sections with increased cortisol incorporation during the 4-week treatment period.

Studies using ACTH administrations indicate that the number of applications and the duration of the treatment determine whether the cortisol response to ACTH is reflected in HCC. Studies in caribou. prairie dogs and bull calves where ACTH was injected only once or twice did not find any elevations in hair cortisol concentrations (Ashley et al., 2011; Crill et al., 2019; Tallo-Parra et al., 2017). Furthermore, daily treatment with ACTH for 7 days also had no effect on HCC in goats (Endo et al., 2018). In contrast, in a second experiment from the same study, goats were treated with ACTH twice daily over 2 weeks, and an increase in HCC was then detected. In line with our results, elevated HCCs were best found within one month after treatment but not in later samples, as shown in goats and cattle (Endo et al., 2018; del Gonzálezde-la-Vara et al., 2011). Thus, it can be assumed that periods with increased HPA axis activity should be at least two weeks long to be reflected in increased HCCs. Additionally, hair samples collected within four weeks after the period of interest best represent the treatment or stress load. Considering our hypothesis for regrown hair, it could be assumed that highest HCC may be found in hair samples collected two weeks after the end of treatment. However, an exact explanation of when elevated cortisol concentrations appear in the hair shaft would require an experiment with radiolabeled cortisol similar to those of Keckeis et al. (2012).

4.4. Hair segments

Studies in humans showed that hair segmentation can be applied to create a retrospective calendar of previous alterations in systemic cortisol levels over weeks or months (Kirschbaum et al., 2009). In our study in cattle and pigs, the length of hair segments was chosen to approximately reflect the hair growth during the 12-week experimental period within three segments. Since hair segments were shaved in week 12, HCCs might be elevated in the most distal segments of ACTHtreated animals. Supporting this assumption, we found a significant increase in HCC from the proximal to the distal hair segment in ACTHtreated cattle, while cortisol concentrations in all three segments of control animals remained unchanged. In pigs, and similar to the results in natural and regrown hair, HCC increased from proximal to distal segments not only in ACTH-treated but also in control animals. A possible explanation for this increase by both treatments could be the potential contamination effect as described above. The accumulation of external cortisol seems to be enhanced in older hair segments since these are exposed to external influences for longer and may exhibit more structural damage, e.g., by sunlight exposure or natural friction of hair cuticle cells (Dawber, 1996; Richena and Rezende, 2016; Grass 2017). This assumption is supported by our results showing that HCCs

in younger regrown hair samples were significantly lower than in samples of older natural hair. Thus, in pigs, the effect of ACTH treatment could not be clearly separated from possible contamination and accumulation effects. In contrast to studies in e.g., humans (Kirschbaum et al., 2009), primates (Carlitz et al., 2015) and horses (Duran et al., 2017), where a wash-out effect of cortisol was observed from proximal to distal parts of the hair shaft, studies in sheep (Fürtbauer et al., 2019), bears (Malcolm et al., 2013), cattle and pigs (Heimbürge et al., 2020) reported elevated cortisol levels in distal hair segments. So far, only one study in bears could relate HCC in two different hair segments to preceding stressful events (Malcolm et al., 2013). Thus, our study is the first that applied cortisol concentrations in hair segments of farm animals as a possible retrospective calendar of preceding stress periods with elevated systemic cortisol levels. However, our results show that segmental analysis of HCC could reliably reflect previously increased HPA axis activity only in cattle.

5. Conclusion

The present study reveals that repeatedly elevated systemic cortisol concentrations over 4 weeks increase hair cortisol levels in both cattle and pigs. However, there was no difference in hair cortisol levels between ACTH-treated and control pigs. This may be due to the attenuated systemic cortisol response, a seasonally reduced hair growth and cross-contamination by urine and saliva. Thus, the prevention of these interfering factors seems to be a prerequisite for a possible applicability of HCC as an indicator of stress in pigs. In cattle, HCCs in natural, regrown and segmental hair samples reliably reflected the preceding period with increased systemic cortisol concentrations. Therefore, these three hair sample types can be used as a stress indicator in cattle. The most appropriate time for hair sampling seems to be the period within four weeks after the end of the stress period. Additionally, although there seems to be less interference due to contamination in cattle, it is recommended to perform the shave-reshave procedure and use regrown hair samples for analyses. Such hairs are exposed to external influences for a shorter time, contain more actively growing hairs and thus seem to have a higher retrospective validity than natural hair samples. Further research should focus on the investigation of confounding factors like cortisol-containing body fluids (e.g., saliva and urine) on HCC and on determination of mechanisms for incorporation of external cortisol into the hair shaft.

Funding

This work was supported (1) by funds of the Federal Ministry of

Food and Agriculture (BMEL) based on a decision of the Parliament of the Federal Republic of Germany via the Federal Office for Agriculture and Food (BLE) under the innovation support program [grant number 2817901415, RetroCort], and (2) by the QS Wissenschaftsfonds. The publication of this article was partly funded by the Open Access Fund of the Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN).

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Susen Heimbürge: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Writing - original draft. Ellen Kanitz: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing - review & editing, Funding acquisition. Armin Tuchscherer: Formal analysis. Winfried Otten: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Writing - review & editing, Funding acquisition.

Acknowledgement

We would like to thank the technicians of the Psychophysiological Unit of the Institute of Behavioural Physiology, FBN Dummerstorf, for their excellent work. Furthermore, we gratefully thank the staff of the Experimental Pig Unit and the Experimental Cattle Unit for very good cooperation. In addition, we thank Liza R. Moscovice for carefully reading and correcting the manuscript.

References

- Ashley, N.T., Barboza, P.S., Macbeth, B.J., Janz, D.M., Cattet, M.R., Booth, R.K., Wasser, S.K., 2011. Glucocorticosteroid concentrations in feces and hair of captive caribou and reindeer following adrenocorticotropic hormone challenge. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 172, 382–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wgcn.2011.03.029.
- Endocrinol. 172, 382–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.03.029.
 Backus, B.L., Bryer, P.J., Sutherland, M.A., 2013. Prenatal stress and ketamine affect the behavioral and physiological responsiveness of early adolescent pigs to a novel arena and social confrontation test. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 145, 60–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2013.03.003.
- Barrell, G.K., 2019. An appraisal of methods for measuring welfare of grazing ruminants. Front. Vet. Sci. 6, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2019.00289.
- Binz, T.M., Rietschel, L., Streit, F., Hofmann, M., Gehrke, J., Herdener, M., Quednow, B.B., Martin, N.G., Rietschel, M., Kraemer, T., Baumgartner, M.R., 2018. Endogenous cortisol in keratinized matrices: Systematic determination of baseline cortisol levels in hair and the influence of sex, age and hair color. Forensic Sci. Int. 284, 33–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forsciint.2017.12.032.
- Bran, D., Braw-Tal, R., Gendelman, M., Lavona, Y., Roth, Z., 2015. ACTH administration during formation of preovulatory follicles impairs steroidogenesis and angiogenesis in association with ovulation failure in lactating cows. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 53, 52–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.domaniend.2015.05.002.
- Burnett, T.A., Madureira, A.M., Silper, B.F., Nadalin, A., Tahmasbi, A., Veira, D.M., Cerri, R.L., 2014. Short communication: Factors affecting hair cortisol concentrations in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 7685–7690. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2014-8444.
- Carlitz, E.H.D., Kirschbaum, C., Miller, R., Rukundo, J., van Schaik, C.P., 2015. Effects of body region and time on hair cortisol concentrations in chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 223, 9–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.09. 022.
- Comin, A., Peric, T., Corazzin, M., Veronesi, M.C., Meloni, T., Zufferli, V., Cornacchia, G., Prandi, A., 2013. Hair cortisol as a marker of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activation in Friesian dairy cows clinically or physiologically compromised. Livest. Sci. 152, 36-41. https://doi.org/10.1016/d1ives/2012.11.001
- Sci. 152, 36–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2012.11.021.
 Cook, N.J., Schaefer, A.L., Lepage, P., Morgan Jones, S., 1996. Salivary vs. serum cortisol for the assessment of adrenal activity in swine. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 76, 329–335. https://doi.org/10.4141/cjas96-049.
- Crill, C., Janz, D.M., Kusch, J.M., Santymire, R.M., Heyer, G.P., Shury, T.K., Lane, J.E., 2019. Investigation of the utility of feces and hair as non-invasive measures of glucocorticoids in wild black-tailed prairie dogs (*Cynomys ludovicianus*). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 275, 15–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2019.02.003.
- Dawber, R., 1996. Hair: Its structure and response to cosmetic preparations. Clin. Dermatol. 14, 105–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/0738-081X(95)00117-X. Dobson, H., Ribadu, A.Y., Noble, K.M., Tebble, J.E., Ward, W.R., 2000. Ultrasonography
- Dobson, H., Ribadu, A.Y., Noble, K.M., Tebble, J.E., Ward, W.R., 2000. Ultrasonography and hormone profiles of adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH)-induced persistent ovarian follicles (cysts) in cattle. J. Reprod. Fertil. 120, 405–410. https://doi.org/10. 1530/reprod/120.2.405.
- Dorn, L.D., Lucke, J.F., Loucks, T.L., Berga, S.L., 2007. Salivary cortisol reflects serum cortisol: Analysis of circadian profiles. Ann. Clin. Biochem. 44, 281–284. https://doi. org/10.1258/000456307780480954.
- Dulude-de Broin, F., Côté, S.D., Whiteside, D.P., Mastromonaco, G.F., 2019. Faecal metabolites and hair cortisol as biological markers of HPA-axis activity in the Rocky mountain goat. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 280, 147–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ygcen.2019.04.022.
- Duran, M.C., Janz, D.M., Waldner, C.L., Campbell, J.R., Marques, F.J., 2017. Hair cortisol

General and Comparative Endocrinology 295 (2020) 113534

concentration as a stress biomarker in horses: associations with body location and surgical castration. J. Equine Vet. Sci. 55, 27–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs. 2017.03.201

- Endo, N., Yamane, H., Rahayu, L.P., Tanaka, T., 2018. Effect of repeated adrenocorticotropic hormone administration on reproductive function and hair cortisol concentration during the estrous cycle in goats. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 259, 122–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vgcen.2017.11.027.
- Furthauer, I., Solman, C., Fry, A., 2019. Sheep wool cortisol as a retrospective measure of long-term HPA axis activity and its links to body mass. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 68, 39–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.domaniend.2018.12.009.
- 39–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.domaniend.2018.12.009. González-de-la-Vara, M. del R., Valdez, R.A., Lemus-Ramirez, V., Vázquez-Chagoyán, J.C., Villa-Godoy, A., Romano, M.C., 2011. Effects of adrenocorticotropic hormone challenge and age on hair cortisol concentrations in dairy cattle. Can. J. Vet. Res. 75, 216–221.
- Goursot, C., Düpjan, S., Kanitz, E., Tuchscherer, A., Puppe, B., Leliveld, L.M.C., 2019. Assessing animal individuality: links between personality and laterality in pigs. Curr. Zool. 65, 541–551. https://doi.org/10.1093/cr2v0971.
 Grass, J., 2017. The analysis of cortisol in human scalp hair: Examination of fundamental
- Grass, J., 2017. The analysis of cortisol in human scalp hair: Examination of fundamental methodological questions concerning incorporation and elimination. Dissertationsschrift, Technische Universität Dresden. Heimbürge, S., Kanitz, E., Otten, W., 2019. The use of hair cortisol for the assessment of
- Heimbürge, S., Kanitz, E., Otten, W., 2019. The use of hair cortisol for the assessment of stress in animals. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 270, 10–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ygcen.2018.09.016.
- Heimbürge, S., Kanitz, E., Tuchscherer, A., Otten, W., 2020. Within a hair's breadth Factors influencing hair cortisol levels in pigs and cattle. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 288, 113359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2019.113359.
 Hellhammer, D.H., Wüst, S., Kudielka, B.M., 2009. Salivary cortisol as a biomarker in
- Hellhammer, D.H., Wüst, S., Kudielka, B.M., 2009. Salivary cortisol as a biomarker in stress research. Psychoneuroendocrinology 34, 163–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psyneuen.2008.10.026.
- Hernandez, C.E., Thierfelder, T., Svennersten-Sjaunja, K., Berg, C., Orihuela, A., Lidfors, L., 2014. Time lag between peak concentrations of plasma and salivary cortisol following a stressful procedure in dairy cattle. Acta Vet. Scand. 56, 61. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s13028-014-0061-3.
- Keckeis, K., Lepschy, M., Schöpper, H., Moser, I., Troxler, J., Palme, R., 2012. Hair cortisol: A parameter of chronic stress? Insights from a radiometabolism study in guinea pigs. J. Comp. Physiol. B 182, 985–996. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00360-012-0674-7.
- Kersey, D.C., Dehnhard, M., 2014. The use of noninvasive and minimally invasive methods in endocrinology for threatened mammalian species conservation. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 203, 296–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.04.022. Kirschbaum, C., Tietze, A., Skoluda, N., Dettenborn, L., 2009. Hair as a retrospective
- Kirschbaum, C., Tietze, A., Skoluda, N., Dettenborn, L., 2009. Hair as a retrospective calendar of cortisol production – Increased cortisol incorporation into hair in the third trimester of pregnancy. Psychoneuroendocrinology 34, 32–37. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.psyncuen.2008.08.024.
- Macbeth, B.J., 2013. An evaluation of hair cortisol concentration as a potential biomarket of long-term stress in free-ranging grizzly bears (Ursus arctos), polar bears (Ursus maritimus) and caribou (Rangifer tarandus sp.). University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon.
- Malcoln, K.D., McShea, W.J., Van Deelen, T.R., Bacon, H.J., Liu, F., Putman, S., Zhu, X., Brown, J.L., 2013. Analyses of fecal and hair glucocorticoids to evaluate short- and long-term stress and recovery of Asiatic black bears (Ursus thibetanus) removed from bile farms in China. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 185, 97–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ygcen.2013.01.014.
- Meyer, J.S., Novak, M.A., 2012. Minireview: Hair cortisol: a novel biomarker of hy pothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical activity. Endocrinology 153, 4120–4127. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2012-1226.
- Mormède, P., Andanson, S., Aupérin, B., Beerda, B., Guémené, D., Malmkvist, J., Manteca, X., Manteuffel, G., Prunet, P., van Reenen, C.G., Richard, S., Veissier, I., 2007. Exploration of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal function as a tool to evaluate animal welfare. Physiol. Behav. 92, 317–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2006. 12.003.
- Mowafy, M., Cassens, R.G., 1976. Hair growth in the domestic pig. Quantitative aspects. J. Am. Leather Chem. Assoc. 71, 71–81.
- Negrao, J.A., Porcionato, M.A., De Passille, A.M., Rushen, J., 2004. Cortisol in saliva and plasma of cattle after ACTH administration and milking. J. Dairy Sci. 87 (6), 1713–1718. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.50022.00302(04)73324-X.Otten, W., Heimbürge, S., Kanitz, E., Tuchscherer, A., 2020. It's getting hairy – External
- Otten, W., Heimbürge, S., Kanitz, E., Tuchscherer, A., 2020. It's getting hairy External contamination may affect the validity of hair cortisol as an indicator of stress in pigs and cattle. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 113531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2020. 113531.
- Otten, W., Kanitz, E., Tuchscherer, M., Schneider, F., Brüssow, K.P., 2004. Effects of adrenocorticotropin stimulation on cortisol dynamics of pregnant gilts and their fetuses: implications for prenatal stress studies. Theriogenology 61, 1649–1659. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2003.09.009.
- Palme, R., 2012. Monitoring stress hormone metabolities as a useful, non-invasive tool for welfare assessment in farm animals. Anim Welf. 21, 331–337. https://doi.org/10. 7120/09627286.21.3.331.
- Prast, F., Balikova, M.A., 2006. State of the art in hair analysis for detection of drug and alcohol abuse. Clin. Chim. Acta 370 (1–2), 17–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca. 2006.02.019.
- Qin, D.-D., Dominic Rizak, J., Feng, X.-L., Chu, X.-X., Yang, S.-C., Li, C.-L., Lv, L.-B., Ma, Y.-Y., Hu, X.-T., 2013. Social rank and cortisol among female rhesus macaques (*Macaca mulatua*). Zool. Res. 34, E42–E49. https://doi.org/10.3724/SP.J.1141.2013. E02E42.
- Richena, M., Rezende, C.A., 2016. Morphological degradation of human hair cuticle due to simulated sunlight irradiation and washing. J. Photochem. Photobiol. B Biol. 161,

.

- 430–440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2016.06.002. Schubach, K.M., Cooke, R.F., Brandão, A.P., Lippolis, K.D., Silva, L.G.T., Marques, R.S., Bohnert, D.W., 2017. Impacts of stocking density on development and puberty at-tainment of replacement beef heifers. Animal 11, 2260–2267. https://doi.org/10.
- Infinite of representative of network in the second 2012.02.002.
- 2012.02.002.
 Tallo-Parra, O., Lopez-Bejar, M., Carbajal, A., Monclús, L., Manteca, X., Devant, M., 2017.
 Acute ACTH-induced elevations of circulating cortisol do not affect hair cortisol concentrations in calves. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 240, 138–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.10.007.

Tallo-Parra, O., Manteca, X., Sabes-Alsina, M., Carbajal, A., Lopez-Bejar, M., 2015. Hair

General and Comparative Endocrinology 295 (2020) 113534

cortisol detection in dairy cattle by using EIA: protocol validation and correlation with faccal cortisol metabolites. Animal 9 (6), 1059–1064. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S1751731115000294. Udo, H.M.J., 1978. Hair coat characteristics in Friesian helfers in the Netherlands and

- Udo, H.M.J., 1978. Hair coat characteristics in Friesian heifers in the Netherlands and Kenya. Mededelingen Landbouwhogeschool Wageningen Nederland 78-86.
 Watson, S.A., Moore, G.P., 1990. Postnatal development of the hair cycle in the domestic pig. J. Anat. 170, 1-9.
 Wood-Gush, D.G.M., Duncan, I.J.H., Fraser, D., 1975. Social stress and welfare problems in agricultural animals. In: Hafez, E.S.E. (Ed.), Behaviour of Domestic Animals. Baillière Tindall, London, pp. 182–200.
 Yamanashi, Y., Morimura, N., Mori, Y., Hayashi, M., Suzuki, J., 2013. Cortisol analysis of hair of captive chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 194, 55–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.08.013.

4.4 Study 4: Effects of contamination and elimination on hair cortisol concentrations

It's getting hairy – External contamination may affect the validity of hair cortisol as an indicator of stress in pigs and cattle

Winfried Otten, Susen Heimbürge, Ellen Kanitz, Armin Tuchscherer

This work was published in General and Comparative Endocrinology 295 (2020) 113531

Highlights:

- External factors can influence hair cortisol concentrations (HCCs).
- Contamination is a confounding factor on HCC in pigs and cattle.
- Cortisol in urine causes a concentration-dependent increase in HCC.
- Repeated treatment with water leads to washout of cortisol from porcine hair.

Statement of contribution:

My contribution to the fourth study of my thesis comprised the conceptualisation, practical experimental work and analyses of the sampling material with the support of technicians at the Institute of Behavioural Physiology. In collaboration with the co-authors, the results were interpreted and the figures were prepared. Dr Winfried Otten wrote the first draft of the manuscript, which was edited by Dr Ellen Kanitz and me before it was submitted to the journal.

General and Comparative Endocrinology 295 (2020) 113531

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



General and Comparative Endocrinology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ygcen



Research paper

It's getting hairy – External contamination may affect the validity of hair cortisol as an indicator of stress in pigs and cattle



Winfried Otten^{a,*}, Susen Heimbürge^a, Ellen Kanitz^a, Armin Tuchscherer^b

^a Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN), Institute of Behavioural Physiology, Wilhelm-Stahl-Allee 2, 18196 Dummerstorf, Germany ^b Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN), Institute of Genetics and Biometry, Wilhelm-Stahl-Allee 2, 18196 Dummerstorf, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords:

Pigs

Cattle

Urine

Saliva

Hair cortisol

Contamination

ABSTRACT

Hair cortisol concentration (HCC) is increasingly used for the assessment of enhanced hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis activity, e.g., caused by repeated or long-term stressful conditions or pathologies. However, there is still a lack of knowledge regarding the mechanisms and sources of cortisol incorporation into the hair and possible confounding factors, especially in non-human animals. Farm animals are usually kept under confined housing conditions, have close contact with each other and with soiled environments and may thus be exposed to contamination with urine, feces and saliva, which are known to contain substantial concentrations of cortisol or its metabolites. Therefore, the aim of our study was to investigate the impact of contamination with urine, feces and saliva on the cortisol concentration in the hair of pigs and cattle. In an in vitro experiment, hair strands of 12 pigs and 12 cattle were repeatedly contaminated with urine and saliva, containing either low or high cortisol concentrations, or with the feces of the respective species and were compared with hair treated with water or untreated hair. Contamination was performed over 20 days for two hours daily. Thereafter, all samples were washed, ground, extracted and analyzed for HCCs following the same protocol. Our results showed that contamination with urine caused a considerable and concentration-dependent increase in HCCs in both species. Saliva had a comparable effect only in cattle. In addition, the treatment with water led to a reduction in the cortisol concentration of porcine hair, whereas contamination with feces caused an increase in HCC only in cattle. Our findings provide evidence that contamination of hair with cortisol-containing body fluids causes incorporation of cortisol into the hair shaft, probably via diffusion depending on the concentration gradient. In that case, cortisol in hair derived from contamination cannot be distinguished from cortisol originating from blood. Thus, contamination may affect the validity of hair cortisol as an indicator of HPA axis activity and cannot be prevented by decontamination protocols prior to analysis.

1. Introduction

The analysis of hair cortisol concentrations (HCCs) for the assessment of hypothalamic–pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis activity in humans and animals has increasingly gained attention because it enables the reflection of stress over longer periods of time, and sampling procedures are easy and minimally invasive (Greff et al., 2019; Heimbürge et al., 2019). Sources of variation in HCC by individual, contextual and stressrelated factors have been extensively studied in humans and animals (Heimbürge et al., 2019; Stalder et al., 2017); however, there is still a lack of knowledge on the mechanisms of cortisol incorporation into the hair and confounding sources in addition to systemic cortisol. In animals, there might be particular confounding factors due to specific environmental and housing conditions, which may facilitate external contamination of the hair. Farm animals are usually kept under confined housing conditions, have close and prolonged contact with soiled environments and with each other and may thus be repeatedly exposed to contamination with urine, feces and saliva known to contain substantial concentrations of cortisol or its metabolites (Mormède et al., 2007; Sheriff et al., 2011; Palme, 2012). A study by our group recently showed that hair samples from caudal body regions and older hair segments exhibited increased HCCs in pigs and cattle (Heimbürge et al., 2020a). This may indicate that the soiling of hair in body regions, which are more exposed to excrements, and the longer duration of exposure in older hair segments may facilitate incorporation of external cortisol from contaminants into the hair. Therefore, the aim of our study was to investigate the impact of contamination with urine, feces and saliva as potential confounding factors on the cortisol

https://doi.org/10.1016/i.vgcen.2020.113531

Received 7 February 2020; Received in revised form 22 April 2020; Accepted 6 June 2020

Available online 11 June 2020

0016-6480/ \otimes 2020 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/BY/4.0/).

^{*} Corresponding author at: Institute of Behavioural Physiology, Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN), Wilhelm-Stahl-Allee 2, 18196 Dummerstorf, Germany.

E-mail address: otten@fbn-dummerstorf.de (W. Otten).

concentration in the hair of pigs and cattle. An *in vitro* experiment was conducted in which hair strands of pigs and cattle were repeatedly contaminated with urine or saliva of the respective species, containing either low or high cortisol concentrations. Additional hair strands were contaminated with feces or treated with water and compared with untreated hair. Thereafter, all samples were washed, ground and extracted according to a standard protocol and analyzed for HCCs.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Animals and hair sampling

The procedures performed in this study involving animal handling and hair sampling were in accordance with the German Animal Protection law and were approved by the relevant authority (Landesamt für Landwirtschaft, Lebensmittelsicherheit und Fischerei, Mecklenburg-Vorpommern, Germany). Hair samples were taken from 12 German Landrace sows kept in the Experimental Pig Unit of the Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN Dummerstorf) and from 12 Holstein Friesian cows in the neighboring Landesgut Dummerstorf.

Hair samples were carefully clipped from the back region in both species by an electric hair clipper (Wahl Professional KM 10, Mosonmagyaróvár, Hungary) as close to the skin as possible (trimmer blade: Oster Cryogen-X Nr. 50 (0.2 mm), Boca Raton, USA) and were collected by hand. Dirty areas were avoided, and from cows, only black hair was used. Hair samples were dried, weighed and stored light protected at room temperature until further processing.

2.2. Sampling and preparation of urine, saliva and feces

2.2.1. Pigs

For the *in vitro* experiment, urine was collected during a separate study of our group in which sows either received an i.m. ACTH administration or were left untreated. Samples were taken from one sow 3–4 h after ACTH administration to obtain urine with high cortisol concentrations ($U_{\rm H}$). In addition, urine samples were collected from four untreated control animals for the preparation of a urine pool with low cortisol concentrations ($U_{\rm L}$).

Saliva was sampled from gilts using hanging cotton ropes in pens with six animals for one hour. Afterwards, ropes were cut into pieces, centrifuged, and saliva was pooled and analyzed for cortisol concentration. As the salivary cortisol concentration indicated stress levels, probably caused by the excitement of the animals playing with the cotton ropes, an aliquot of the pooled saliva was used as saliva with a high cortisol concentration (S_{H}). A second aliquot was diluted with distilled water (1:2, v/v) and served as saliva with a low cortisol level (S_{T}).

Samples of the $U_{\rm H}, U_{\rm L}, S_{\rm H}$ and $S_{\rm L}$ pools were analyzed for cortisol concentrations, aliquoted and frozen at -20 °C. The analyses of the pooled porcine samples revealed cortisol concentrations in the urine pools of 26.5 ng/ml (U_L) and 324.6 ng/ml (U_H), as well as 4.5 ng/ml (S_L) and 14.3 ng/ml (S_H) in the saliva pools.

Feces were collected from three untreated sows, and a pool of 150 g (50 g from each sow) was prepared and frozen at -20 °C until experimental use.

2.2.2. Cattle

Urine and saliva samples of cattle were taken from animals of a separate experiment in which cattle received either repeated i.m. ACTH administration or saline (Heimbürge et al., 2020b). Sampling was performed 3–4 h after ACTH administration to obtain samples with elevated urinary (U_{H}) and salivary (S_{H}) cortisol levels. Accordingly, samples from untreated control animals were used for the collection of samples with low urinary (U_{L}) and salivary (S_{L}) cortisol concentrations. Urine was collected with containers during urination, and saliva sampling was achieved with cotton swabs. Samples from ACTH and control

General and Comparative Endocrinology 295 (2020) 113531

animals were pooled separately, analyzed for cortisol concentrations, aliquoted and frozen at -20 °C. In the pooled bovine samples, cortisol concentrations were 27.3 ng/ml (U₁) and 694.8 ng/ml (U_H), as well as 0.44 ng/ml (S₁) and 7.2 ng/ml (S_H). Feces were collected from three untreated cattle, and a pool of 150 g (50 g from each cow) was prepared and frozen at -20 °C until experimental use.

2.3. Contamination protocol

To ensure similar starting conditions for all hair samples, only samples with HCCs of 50–70 pg/mg in pigs and 6–10 pg/mg in cattle were used. Hair samples of pigs and cattle were either repeatedly contaminated with urine (UH or UL), saliva (SH or SL) or feces of the same species, treated with water or left untreated. Repeated contamination was performed five days per week over a period of four weeks (20 times in total). At the beginning, seven portions of 200 mg hair from each animal were weighed in 5-ml glass tubes. The contamination started by adding 2 ml of liquid (U_H, U_L, S_H, S_L, fecal suspension (200 mg/ml) or distilled water) to the tubes. The fecal suspension was previously prepared by mixing 400 mg of feces with 2 ml water. Then, the tubes were shaken for 2 h, whereby they were turned approximately 90° every 30 min to allow consistent wetting of the whole hair sample. Afterwards, the liquid was discarded, and the hair was pulled out of the tubes and dried on plastic trays light protected and at room temperature until the next day. The contamination procedure was repeated once on every treatment day. After the treatment period, hair samples were dried, weighed and stored in the dark at room temperature until analysis. Due to the limited volume of the saliva pools in both species, contamination with $S_{\rm H}$ and $S_{\rm L}$ was performed with hair samples of only six instead of 12 animals.

2.4. Analysis of cortisol in hair, saliva and urine

Extraction and analysis of hair cortisol was performed using the procedures described by Heimbürge et al., 2020. Briefly, hair samples were washed twice with isopropanol, dried at room temperature, flash-frozen in liquid nitrogen and pulverized using a ball mill (MM 400, Retsch GmbH, Haan, Germany). Thereafter, cortisol was extracted with methanol and analyzed in duplicate using an ELISA kit for salivary cortisol detection (Demeditec Diagnostics GmbH, Kiel, Germany). The sensitivity of the assay was 0.8 pg/mg for cattle hair and 1.1 pg/mg for pig hair. The intra- and inter-assay coefficients of variation (CV) were 4.3% and 7.8% for cortisol analyses in the hair of cattle and 4.5% and 6.8% for hair cortisol in pigs, respectively.

After thawing, saliva samples were centrifuged at 2,500 g for 5 min, resulting in a clear supernatant with low viscosity. The analysis of cortisol concentrations in 50 μ l saliva samples was performed in duplicate using an ELISA kit for salivary cortisol detection (Demeditec Diagnostics GmbH, Kiel, Germany) as described by Goursot et al. (2019). In pigs, the sensitivity of the assay was 0.08 ng/ml, and the intra- and inter-assay CV were 3.4% and 7.2%, respectively. In cattle, the sensitivity of this assay was 0.06 ng/ml, and the intra- and inter-assay CV were 4.2% and 8.6%, respectively.

The analysis of cortisol concentrations in 10 μ l urine samples was performed in duplicate using an ELISA kit for urinary cortisol detection (DRG Instruments GmbH, Marburg, Germany) according to the instructions of the manufacturer. The sensitivity of this assay is indicated with 2.95 ng/ml and the intra- and inter-assay CV with 6.5% and 7.2%, respectively.

2.5. Statistical analyses

The data analysis was performed using SAS software, Version 9.4 for Windows (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Descriptive statistics and tests for normality were calculated with the UNIVARIATE procedure of Base SAS software. Data of hair cortisol concentrations were

approximately normal distributed in both species and were analyzed by repeated measurement analyses of variance (ANOVA) using the MIXED procedure of SAS/STAT software. The repeated measurement ANOVA model for both species contained the fixed factor treatment (levels: $U_{\rm I}$, $S_{\rm H}$, $S_{\rm L}$, feces, water, untreated). Different contaminations of hair samples from the same animal were taken into account by the repeated statement of the MIXED procedure using the SUBJECT = animal option to define the blocks of the block-diagonal residual covariance matrix, and the TYPE = CS option to define their compound symmetry covariance structure. Least squares means (LSM) and their standard errors (SE) were estimated and pairwise comparisons were made using the Tukey-Kramer test. Effects and differences were considered as significant if p < 0.05. All results are expressed as LSM \pm SE.

3. Results

The results from the ANOVAs revealed a significant effect of treatment on cortisol concentrations in the hair of pigs and cattle (both: p < 0.001). In pigs, pairwise comparisons indicated that repeated contamination with urine significantly increased HCCs in a concentration-dependent manner compared with those of the untreated control. Contamination with saliva had no significant effect. However, repeated treatment of hair samples with water and the fecal suspension significantly decreased the HCCs in pigs compared to those in the untreated control (Fig. 1). In cattle, contamination with urine, saliva and feces significantly increased HCCs, which was dependent on the cortisol concentration in the urine and saliva. Repeated treatment with water had no significant effect on cortisol concentrations compared to untreated control in bovine hair (Fig. 2).

4. Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to demonstrate the effects of contamination with urine, saliva and feces as potential interfering factors for increased HCCs in farm animals. We showed that repeated contamination of hair with urine increased HCCs in pigs and cattle, and the magnitude of the increase depended on the cortisol concentration in the urine. Contamination with saliva, which contained less cortisol than urine, had no significant effect on cortisol levels in pig hair, whereas in cattle, it also increased HCCs in a concentration-dependent manner. These diverging results for contamination with saliva in hair of pigs and cattle may be caused by differences in hair length



Fig. 1. Effects of repeated treatments of porcine hair samples with water, urine, saliva and a fecal suspension compared with untreated control samples. Treatments with urine (U) and saliva (S) were performed with low (L) and high (H) contisol concentrations. Data are presented as LSM \pm SE, and significant differences are indicated by different letters (p < 0.05).



Fig. 2. Effects of repeated treatments of bovine hair samples with water, urine, saliva and a fecal suspension compared with untreated control samples. Treatments with urine (U) and saliva (S) were performed with low (L) and high (H) contisol concentrations. Data are presented as LSM \pm SE, and significant differences are indicated by different letters (p < 0.05).

and in weight of single hairs between the two species. Because hair of cattle is shorter and thinner than pig hair, samples of the same weight contain more single hairs in cattle. Thus, a higher total surface and more cut surfaces may facilitate the incorporation of cortisol into the hair shaft in cattle. In addition, the concentration gradient between salivary cortisol (S_H) and hair cortisol was much higher in cattle than in pigs, which may also contribute to the more pronounced increase of HCC in cattle. Hair cortisol concentrations were decreased by contamination with feces in pig hair but increased in the hair of cattle with fecal contamination. This finding may be due to different cortisol excretions via feces in pigs and cattle. Palme et al. (1996) showed that labeled cortisol was excreted via feces to a lesser extent in pigs compared with that in ruminants. To achieve standardized contamination in our experiment, feces were suspended in water. The presumably lower cortisol concentration in the fecal suspension of pigs compared with that in cattle may therefore have caused a dilution effect, similar to the results observed in samples treated with water.

Further indications for contamination effects by urine, saliva or feces on HCCs may also be derived from findings in other animal studies. It was shown that high HCCs in cows were associated with soiling of the lying area in the cowshed with dung and with the presence of dirty flanks of the animals (Sharma et al., 2019). Several reports showed that HCCs differ between body regions within the same animal, indicating that caudal regions, such as the tail and the back region, which may be more exposed to excrements than cranial regions, exhibit elevated HCCs (Burnett et al., 2014; Casal et al., 2017; Heimbürge et al., 2020a; Moya et al., 2013). In a recent study by our group, we investigated the effects of repeated i.m. ACTH administrations on hair and saliva cortisol concentrations in pigs and cattle (Heimbürge et al., 2020b). Animals were kept in mixed groups of both ACTH- and salinetreated animals, and although saliva cortisol levels increased only in ACTH animals, the HCCs increased in pigs of both treatments after the administration period. This finding indicated that in pigs, a possible cross-contamination from the ACTH-treated to the control animals occurred, most likely caused by their contact with the urine and saliva of the ACTH-treated animals, e.g., by lying in dung or by social interactions. This assumption is supported by a study of Macbeth et al. (2010), who reported elevated HCCs in brown bears captured in culvert traps compared with those in brown bears captured via other methods. The authors assume that soiling of hair by urine, feces and bait in the trap could facilitate the permeability of hair and the incorporation of cortisol from the contaminants into the hair shaft. In a further, more

General and Comparative Endocrinology 295 (2020) 113531

controlled experiment of the same group, it was demonstrated that contamination with cortisol-containing urine and feces can increase HCCs of brown bears within 2 h of exposure and that this increase is related to the concentration of cortisol in the slurry (Macbeth, 2013). Thus, it is strongly recommended to take hair samples from animals as clean as possible and to avoid sampling from body sites that may be more exposed to fecal contamination (Ghassemi Nejad et al., 2019a,b; Macbeth, 2013). The choice of the appropriate body region then depends on the animal species, the specific husbandry environment and the accessibility for sampling. In cattle and pigs kept indoors, this could be the neck, shoulder and back regions, which are outside the reach of the tail and are not affected by soiling when lying down.

In addition to excrements and saliva, sweat could also be a potential interfering factor influencing HCC because it also contains quantifiable amounts of cortisol (Russell et al., 2014). Hence, immersion of human hair in a cortisol solution *in vitro*, mimicking cortisol concentrations of sweat, increased HCCs, and this elevation depended on the immersion time and cortisol concentration in the solution (Grass, 2017; Russell et al., 2014). Contamination by cortisol crème was also found to markedly increase HCCs up to 30 days after application, even with regular hair washing several times a week (Wang et al., 2019). It is important to note that in the aforementioned studies and in our experiment, established hair washing protocols did not eliminate contamination effects, indicating that external cortisol had been incorporated into the hair matrix and could not be removed by washing (Macbeth et al., 2010; Russell et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2019).

In general, it is assumed that the main mechanism of incorporation of organic molecules into the hair is passive diffusion from blood vessels (Pragst and Balikova, 2006). Additionally, substances can be deposited from the external environment as proposed by the multi-compartment model (Henderson, 1993). Lipophilic molecules, such as cortisol and other steroids, can easily penetrate membranes and diffuse according to the concentration gradient in matrix cells (Pragst and Balikova, 2006). Water causes swelling of hair (Kidwell and Smith, 2007; Robbins, 2002) and thus may facilitate permeability and diffusion of cortisol from aqueous solutions, such as urine, saliva and sweat, into the hair matrix. Our results and the data from other contamination studies show evidence that cortisol deposition from urine, saliva and sweat occurs via diffusion depending on the concentration gradient between the contaminating solution and the hair. When the hair dries, contaminants might be tightly incorporated and cannot be removed by detergents, such as isopropanol, which does not cause hair swelling (Eser et al., 1997).

Interestingly, incorporation of contaminants may be facilitated by damage to the hair shaft (Kidwell and Smith, 2007). In this regard, hair with cut surfaces from shaving, as was the case in our study, revealed higher HCCs after exposure to artificial cortisol-containing solutions than those of hair without cut surfaces (Grass, 2017). This finding indicates that a higher degree of structural hair damage can result in an enhanced incorporation of external cortisol into the hair shaft. An additional in vivo experiment by Grass (2017) indicated that cortisol incorporation from an artificial sweat solution is more pronounced in distal than in proximal hair segments. Assuming more structural hair damage in distal and therefore older hair segments, e.g., by hair washing, sunlight exposure or natural friction of hair cuticle cells (Dawber, 1996; Richena and Rezende, 2016), this may lead to a higher susceptibility to external contamination by cortisol-containing liquids. This assumption is supported by results from a previous study by our group in pigs and cattle (Heimbürge et al., 2020a) and other studies in sheep, black bears and chimpanzees (Fürtbauer et al., 2019; Malcolm et al., 2013; Yamanashi et al., 2016), where increased cortisol concentrations from proximal to distal hair segments were found.

Our results also indicate that, at least in pig hair, cortisol can be removed from the hair shaft by frequent washing with water. This finding is in line with results from *in vitro* experiments showing that hair treatments with water alone or with a shampoo solution caused

General and Comparative Endocrinology 295 (2020) 113531

HCC loss (Hamel et al., 2011; Li et al., 2012). However, a washing step with water prior to the washing of hair samples with alcohol is preferred in some studies to reduce hydrophilic contaminants from the hair surface (Burnett et al., 2014; Bacci et al., 2014; Cooke et al., 2017). In our study, HCC in untreated control samples was higher in pigs (65 pg/ mg) than in cattle (7 pg/mg) and decreased to comparable levels after washing with water (9 vs. 5 pg/mg in pigs and cattle, respectively). Thus, the higher wash-out of cortisol in pig hair may be caused by the higher concentration gradient during washing. Enhanced hair damage may facilitate an increased removal of cortisol from the hair shaft by diffusion processes during hair washing, frequent contact with water or washing procedures during analysis (Manenschijn et al., 2011). In line with this assumption, observations from our experiments and other research revealed that pig hair often show split ends (Feder, 1980; Mohan et al., 2015), which may contribute to the different wash-out effect in pigs and cattle. Numerous studies describe a decline in cortisol concentrations from proximal to distal hair segments in different species (e.g., humans: Kirschbaum et al., 2009; chimpanzees: Carlitz et al., 2015; cattle: Nedić et al., 2017). Thus, it can be suggested that increased hair damage, especially in the older, distal segments, may facilitate both incorporation and removal of cortisol in vivo depending on the frequency and duration of contamination with cortisol-containing body fluids and water.

5. Conclusions

The results of our in vitro study revealed that repeated contamination of hair with urine causes considerable and concentration-dependent increases in HCCs in pigs and cattle. Contamination with saliva had a similar effect only in cattle but to a lesser extent. A wash-out of cortisol was found in porcine hair when treated with water or feces diluted with water. Our findings provide the first evidence that contamination of porcine and bovine hair with cortisol-containing body fluids, such as urine and saliva, may cause incorporation of external cortisol into the hair shaft, probably via diffusion depending on concentration gradients. Swelling of hair by aqueous contaminants may facilitate these diffusion processes. Finally, incorporated cortisol originating from contamination cannot be distinguished from cortisol originating from blood; thus, contamination may impact the validity of hair cortisol as an indicator of HPA axis activity. Consequently, it is strongly recommended to take hair samples as clean as possible and to avoid sampling from body sites that may be more exposed to fecal contamination. Further studies are necessary to investigate whether structural damage of hair, e.g., that induced by aging or by cut or broken surfaces, may enhance incorporation or wash-out of cortisol.

Funding

This work was supported by funds of the Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture (BMEL) based on a decision of the Parliament of the Federal Republic of Germany via the Federal Office for Agriculture and Food (BLE) under the innovation support program (grant number 2817901415, RetroCort). The publication of this article was partly funded by the Open Access Fund of the Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN).

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Winfried Otten: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Writing - original draft, Funding acquisition. Susen Heimbürge: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Writing - review & editing. Ellen Kanitz: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing - review & editing, Funding acquisition. Armin Tuchscherer: Formal analysis.

Acknowledgements

We gratefully thank the technicians of the Psychophysiological Unit of the Institute of Behavioural Physiology, FBN Dummerstorf, for their technical assistance, especially Dagmar Mähling for conducting the processing of samples and the contamination procedure, and Petra Müntzel for analyses of cortisol.

References

- Bacci, M.L., Nannoni, E., Govoni, N., Scorrano, F., Zannoni, A., Forni, M., Martelli, G., Sardi, L., 2014. Hair cortisol determination in sows in two consecutive reproductive cycles. Reprod. Biol. 14, 218–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.repbio.2014.06.001.Burnett, T.A., Madureira, A.M., Silper, B.F., Nadalin, A., Tahmasbi, A., Veira, D.M., Cerri,
- R.L., 2014. Short communication: Factors affecting hair cortisol concentrations in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 7685–7690. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2014-
- Carlitz, E.H.D., Kirschbaum, C., Miller, R., Rukundo, J., van Schaik, C.P., 2015, Effects of body region and time on hair cortisol concentrations in chimpanzees (*Pan troglo-*dytes). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 223, 9–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.09.
- Casal, N., Manteca, X., Peña, R., Bassols, A., Fàbrega, E., 2017. Analysis of cortisol in hair samples as an indicator of stress in pigs. J. Vet. Behav. Clin. Appl. Res. 19, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2017.01.002.
- Cooke, R.F., Schubach, K.M., Marques, R.S., Peres, R.F.G., Silva, L.G.T., Carvalho, R.S., Cipriano, R.S., Bohnert, D.W., Pires, A.V., Vasconcelos, J.L.M., 2017. Effects of temperament on physiological, productive, and reproductive responses in beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 95, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas2016.1098.
- Dawber, R., 1996. Hair: Its structure and response to cosmetic preparations. Clin
- Dermatol. 14, 105–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/0738-081X(95)00117-X. Eser, H.P., Pötsch, L., Skopp, G., Moeller, M.R., 1997. Influence of sample preparation on analytical results: Drug analysis [GC/MS] on hair snippets versus hair powder using various extraction methods. Forensic Sci. Int. 84, 271–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0379-0738(96)02071-3.
- Feder, F.H., 1980. Rasterelektronenmikroskopische Untersuchungen an Schweinehaaren. Anat. Histol. Embryol. 9 (3), 213–219. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0264.1980. tb00859.x.
- Fürtbauer, I., Solman, C., Fry, A., 2019. Sheep wool cortisol as a retrospective measure of long-term HPA axis activity and its links to body mass. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 68, 39–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.domaniend.2018.12.009.
- Ghassemi Nejad, J., Lee, B.H., Kim, J.Y., Kim, B.W., Chemere, B., Park, K.H., Sung, K.I., 2019a. Comparing hair cortisol concentrations from various body sites and serum cortisol in Holstein lactating cows and heifers during thermal comfort zone. J. Vet. Behav. 30, 92-95, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2018.12.007.
- Ghassemi Nejad, J., Park, K.H., Forghani, F., Lee, H.G., Lee, J.S., Sung, K.I., 2019b. Measuring hair and blood cortisol in sheep and dairy cattle using RIA and ELISA say: a comparison. Biol. Rhythm Res. https://doi.org/10.1080/09291016.2019 16113
- Goursot, C., Düpjan, S., Kanitz, E., Tuchscherer, A., Puppe, B., Leliveld, L.M.C., 2019 Goursof, C., Dupian, S., Kantz, E., Tuchscherer, A., Puppe, B., Leitveid, L.M.C., 2019. Assessing animal individuality: links between personality and laterality in pigs. Curr. Zool. 65, 541–551. https://doi.org/10.1093/cz/z0y071. Grass, J., 2017. The Analysis of Cortisol in Human Scalp Hair: Examination of Fundamental Methodological Questions Concerning Incorporation and Elimination. Dissertationsschrift. Technische Universität Dresden.
- Greff, M.J.E., Levine, J.M., Abuzgaia, A.M., Elzagallaai, A.A., Rieder, M.J., van Uum, S.H.M., 2019. Hair cortisol analysis: An update on methodological considerations and clinical applications. Clin. Biochem. 63, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiochem. 2018.09.010.
- Hamel, A.F., Meyer, J.S., Henchey, E., Dettmer, A.M., Suomi, S.J., Novak, M.A., 2011. Hel, A.F., MEyer, J.S., HERREY, E., DEUREY, FARE, SUBIL, S.J., INVER, M.A., ZALL, Effects of shampoo and water washing on hair cortisol concentrations. Clin. Chim. Acta 412, 382–385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2010.10.019.
- Heimbürge, S., Kanitz, E., Otten, W., 2019. The use of hair cortisol for the assessment of stress in animals. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 270, 10–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cen.2018.09.016.
- Heimbürge, S., Kanitz, E., Tuchscherer, A., Otten, W., 2020a. Within a hair's breadth Factors influencing hair cortisol levels in pigs and cattle. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.
- 288, 113359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2019.113359.
 Heimbürge, S., Kanitz, E., Tuchscherer, A., Otten, W., 2020b. Is it getting in the hair? Cortisol concentrations in native, regrown and segmented hairs of cattle and pigs after repeated ACTH administrations. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 113534. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2020.113534. derson, G.L., 1993. Mechanisms of drug incorporation into hair. Forensic Sci. Int. 63,
- Hend 19-29.

General and Comparative Endocrinology 295 (2020) 113531

- Kidwell, D.A., Smith, F.P., 2007. Passive exposure, decontamination procedures, cutoffs,
- and bias: pitfalls in the interpretation of hair analysis results for cocaine use. Anal. Pract. Asp. Drug Test. Hair 25–72. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781420006193.ch2. Kirschbaum, C., Tietze, A., Skoluda, N., Dettenborn, L., 2009. Hair as a retrospective calendar of cortisol production - Increased cortisol incorporation into hair in the third trimester of pregnancy. Psychoneuroendocrinology 34, 32–37. https://doi.org/10. 1016/i psyr 2008 08 024
- Li, J., Xie, Q., Gao, W., Xu, Y., Wang, S., Deng, H., Lu, Z., 2012. Time course of cortisol loss in hair segments under immersion in hot water. Clin. Chim. Acta 413, 434–440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2011.10.024.
- Macbeth, B.J., 2013. An Evaluation Of Hair Cortisol Concentration As A Potential Biomarker Of Long-Term Stress In Free-Ranging Grizzly Bears (Ursus arctos) Polar Bears (Ursus maritimus) and caribou (Rangifer tarandus sp.). Ph.D. thesis. University Cachator f Cookatab
- Macbeth, B.J., Cattet, M.R.L., Stenhouse, G.B., Gibeau, M.L., Janz, D.M., 2010. Hair cortisol concentration as a noninvasive measure of long-term stress in free-ranging grizzly bears (Ursus arctors): considerations with implications for other wildlife. Can. Zool. 88, 935-949. https://doi.org/10.1139/Z10-
- Malcolm, K.D., McShea, W.J., Van Deelen, T.R., Bacon, H.J., Liu, F., Putman, S., Zhu, X., Brown, J.L., 2013. Analyses of fecal and hair glucocorticolds to evaluate short- and long-term stress and recovery of Asiatic black bears (Ursus thibetanus) removed from bile farms in China. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 185, 97-106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. .2013.01.014
- Manenschijn, L., Koper, J.W., Lamberts, S.W.J., Van Rossum, E.F.C., 2011. Evaluation of a method to measure long term cortisol levels. Steroids 76, 1032–1036. https://doi org/10.1016/j.steroids.2011.04.005.
- Mohan, N.H., Debnath, S., Sarma, D.K., Talukdar, B., 2015. Physical and microscopic Korna, Frin, Depinin, G., Karma, D.K., Finikara, D., Solor Hyster Mathematic Respective characteristics of fibres obtained from crossbred (Hampshire X Ghungroo) pigs. ICAR-NRC on Pig. 1–13. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.2639.1925.
- X., Manteuffel, G., Prunet, P., van Reenen, C.G., Richard, S., Veissier, I., 2007. Exploration of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal function as a tool to evaluate an-imal welfare. Physiol. Behav. 92, 317–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2006. 12 005
- Moya, D., Schwartzkopf-Genswein, K.S., Veira, D.M., 2013. Standardization of a noninvasive methodology to measure cortisol in hair of beef cattle. Livest. Sci. 158, 138-144 http /10 1016/i lis -i 2013 10 00
- Nedić, S., Pantelić, M., Vranješ-Durić, S., Nedić, D., Jovanović, L., Cebulj-Kadunc, N., Kobal, S., Snoj, T., Kirovski, D., 2017. Cortisol concentrations in hair, blood and milk of Holstein and Busha cattle. Slov. Vet. Res. 54, 163-172. https://doi.org/10.2687 -2017
- Palme, R., Fischer, P., Schildorfer, H., Ismail, M.N., 1996, Excretion of unfused ⁴C-steroid
- hormones via facees and urine in domestic livestock. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 43, 43–63. Palme, R., 2012. Monitoring stress hormone metabolites as a useful, non-invasive tool for welfare assessment in farm animals. Anim. Welf. 21, 331-337. https://doi.org/10 7120/09627286.21.3.331
- Pragst, F., Balikova, M.A., 2006. State of the art in hair analysis for detection of drug and alcohol abuse. Clin. Chim. Acta 370, 17-49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2006.02.
- Richena, M., Rezende, C.A., 2016. Morphological degradation of human hair cuticle due to simulated sunlight irradiation and washing. J. Photochem. Photobiol. B Biol. 161, 430–440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2016.06.002.Robbins, C.R., 2002. Chemical and Physical Behavior of Human Hair, fourth ed. Springer,
- Vork
- Russell, E., Koren, G., Rieder, M., Van Uum, S.H.M., 2014. The detection of cortisol in human sweat. Ther. Drug Monit. 36, 30-34. https://doi.org/10.1097/FTD 0b013e31820dee0s
- Sharma, A., Umapathy, G., Kumar, V., Phillips, C.J.C., 2019. Hair cortisol in sheltered cows and its association with other welfare indicators. Animals 9, 248. https:// /10 3390/ani9050248
- Sheriff, M.J., Dantzer, B., Delehanty, B., Palme, R., Boonstra, R., 2011. Measuring stress in wildlife: Techniques for quantifying glucocorticoids. Oecologia 166, 869-887
- https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442.011-1943-y.
 Stalder, T., Steudte-Schmiedgen, S., Alexander, N., Klucken, T., Vater, A., Wichmanna, S., Kirschbaum, C., Miller, R., 2017. Stress-related and basic determinants of hair cortisol in humans: A meta-analysis. Psychoneuroendocrinology 77, 261–274. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.12.017.
- Wang, X., Busch, J.R., Banner, J., Linnet, K., Johansen, S.S., 2019. Hair testing for cortisol by UPLC-MS/MS in a family: External cross-contamination from use of cortiso cream. Forensic Sci. Int. 305, 109968. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forsciint.2019 109968
- Yamanashi, Y., Teramoto, M., Morimura, N., Hirata, S., Suzuki, J., Hayashi, M., Kinoshita, K., Murayama, M., Idani, G., 2016. Analysis of hair cortisol levels in captive chimpanzees: Effect of various methods on cortisol stability and variability. MethodsX 3, 110-117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mex.2016.01.004

5 General discussion

As detailed discussions of the results have already been conducted separately in each publication, this general discussion will comprehensively discuss the most important findings of our studies. Based on the aims of my thesis and the specific approaches of the studies, the general discussion has two main sections: the dependence of hair cortisol levels on influencing factors and the impact of long-term stress. Therefore, I will first highlight the basic determinants that may cause fluctuations in systemic cortisol concentrations independent of stress and that may affect hair cortisol concentrations. In addition, the impact of hair-specific factors and of external contamination and elimination by washout on hair cortisol levels will be discussed. The second part of the general discussion comprises the applicability of hair cortisol as an indicator of long-term stress in cattle and pigs. Background information on the application of the ACTH model for the simulation of long-term stress is given, and models for the time course of cortisol incorporation into the hair of cattle and pigs are presented. The influence of hair sample type and sampling time on the incorporation of cortisol will also be evaluated. At the end of each main section, implications are presented and recommendations for the use of hair cortisol are given. Finally, possible future research approaches and applications of hair cortisol measurements under practical and experimental conditions are derived.

5.1 Influencing factors on hair cortisol concentrations in cattle and pigs

5.1.1 Impact of animal-based, seasonal and hair-specific factors

The literature review identified various factors that may influence cortisol concentrations in animal hair. Therefore, our experiments investigated the animal-based determinants in cattle and pigs, such as age and sex, hair-specific characteristics, such as hair colour, body region, hair segment age and season.

We found elevated cortisol levels in the hair of newborn cattle and pigs as well as adult sows. Newborn calves showed hair cortisol levels approximately nine times higher and piglets three times higher than the infantile, juvenile and adult age groups of their species. Since the hair of newborn animals is predominantly grown in utero (MEYER and GÖRGEN 1986), this increase may be due to elevated maternal and foetal cortisol levels during late gestation and around birth (KANITZ et al. 2012, OTTEN et al. 2013). Newborn animals also exhibit higher total cortisol and lower corticosteroid-binding globulin levels in plasma, which may lead to higher concentrations of unbound cortisol (KANITZ et al. 2012, GRANT et al. 2017) and thus to a higher incorporation of cortisol in the hair. A few weeks after birth, shedding of birth coat occurs (SLEE 1963, LING 1970), which is probably the reason for the marked decrease in HCC at this time. The results also revealed a higher HCC in sows than in younger age groups. This effect may be due to lower sensitivity of the HPA axis with age, which has been found in older age groups of other species (SAPOLSKY et al. 1986, DETTENBORN et al. 2012, FOURIE et al. 2015). However, this age-related increase was observed in pigs but not cattle, possibly because hair samples were collected from sows during the insemination period. Previous studies have shown that sows exhibit higher HCCs during the insemination period than at other stages of the reproductive cycle, probably also due to the preceding increase of cortisol levels during late pregnancy and around birth (BACCI et al. 2014, personal data).

Studies of various species have found hair cortisol levels to depend on sex (humans: STALDER et al. 2017, pigs: BERGAMIN et al. 2019, horses: MEDILL et al. 2015, goats: DULUDE-DE BROIN et al. 2019, muskoxen: DI FRANCESCO et al. 2017). These differences may be caused by varying systemic cortisol concentrations due to sex-specific hormonal changes in the stress response (RAVEN and TAYLOR 1996, TURNER et al. 2012). Furthermore, males and females may exhibit divergent behavioural patterns, such as mating rituals and territorial fights, which could also lead to different cortisol release (BERGMAN et al. 2005). In our study, the sex of the cattle and pigs had no influence on their HCCs. However, hair samples from animals of both sexes could only be collected from calves and piglets shortly after birth because in later age groups only castrates were available. Thus, animals in our study were not fully influenced by sexual hormones, as is the case with intact, adult animals. A reason for the missing differences between females and males in our study could therefore be the lack of sample material from sexually mature animals.

Regarding a potential effect of the season of the year on hair cortisol concentrations, we observed alterations only in cattle hair, which showed higher cortisol levels in winter than summer. The seasonality of HCC can be caused by numerous influencing factors that vary over the year, such as temperature, daylight and seasonal sexual, territorial and nutritional behaviours (BOSWELL et al. 1994, VENTRELLA et al. 2018). In our study, the length of daylight was chosen as the decisive factor for the classification of summer and winter, so hair samples were taken around the summer and winter solstice. Since the pigs were kept indoors all year round, changes in daylight length and ambient temperature were less likely to affect the incorporation of cortisol into hair. However, the cattle in our study were kept under freely ventilated loose housing conditions and thus may have been more affected by changing environmental conditions. Previous studies have shown that both natural sunlight and ultraviolet (UV) radiation can degrade hair cortisol (GRASS et al. 2016, WESTER et al. 2016). Thus, the lower hair cortisol levels in cattle hair during summer may be a result of this photodegradation. However, since there was no effect of seasonality in pigs and even in cattle, the quantitative difference in HCC was comparatively small (winter: 8.6 pg/mg, summer: 6.2 pg/mg), the impact of seasonality under such housing conditions seems to be low.

In addition to animal-based and seasonal factors, the impact of various hair-specific factors on HCCs, such as hair growth rate, body region, hair colour and hair segment, was investigated. For better interpretation of HCCs in different body regions, the growth rates of hair from the tail,

shoulder, back and neck regions were determined. Hair growth rates in the tail tip were approximately 5.6 times higher in cattle and 2.0 times higher in pigs than in other regions. These differences may be caused by variations in blood supply or diverging hair types in the examined regions (HARKEY 1993, MADEA 2004). In addition, we also found differences in hair cortisol levels between body regions. Cortisol concentrations in hairs in the tail tip were three times higher than concentrations in hair on the shoulder and back in cattle and up to six times higher than in the neck and back regions in pigs. Possible reasons for these differences in cortisol incorporation include the predominant hair colour and hair type in the body region as well as external factors: back regions could be more exposed to weather conditions such as sunlight or rain, degrading or washing out the cortisol in the hair (STALDER and KIRSCHBAUM 2012, GRASS et al. 2016, WESTER et al. 2016). However, regions such as the tail or abdomen could be more exposed to soiling by urine and faeces, which can confound hair cortisol levels due to contamination (MACBETH et al. 2010).

The results concerning the influence of hair colour on hair cortisol levels in cattle and pigs revealed higher cortisol concentrations in black samples than white samples in both species. However, the quantitative difference in cortisol between black and white hair was smaller than the impact of other influencing factors, such as age and body region. To date, the underlying mechanisms causing the cortisol differences between hair colours have not been fully deciphered. Presumably, the amount of melanin in the hair significantly affects both the incorporation and degradation of cortisol in the hair shaft. Black hair could lead to higher skin temperatures and thus increased blood flow in the skin, promoting the incorporation of cortisol via blood vessels (BURNETT et al. 2014). Furthermore, melanin itself appears to facilitate the incorporation of lipophilic substances, such as steroids (PRAGST and BALIKOVA 2006). However, our results showed an influence of hair colour in natural but not newly regrown hair, suggesting that cortisol differences between hair colours may be due to external influences rather than a variation in cortisol incorporation. Natural hair is older and therefore exposed to external influences for longer periods than newly grown hair. Hence, this effect may only be observed in samples containing older hairs. Consistent with our results, an effect of hair colour was found when studying the photodegradation of drugs in hair with higher degradation in bright hair than in dark hair (FAVRETTO et al. 2014). Eumelanin pigments in black hair can shield and absorb UV radiation, thereby protecting proteins and other substances such as drugs and GCs from photodegradation (HOTING et al. 1995, FAVRETTO et al. 2014). Thus, the higher degradation of cortisol in white hair may contribute to lower HCC in samples of this hair colour.

In addition, the influence of the age of hair segments on hair cortisol concentrations was examined. For this purpose, the tail hair of cattle was cut into three 2-cm segments and hair from the back regions of pigs was cut into four 1-cm segments. The results showed a marked increase in HCC from the proximal to the distal hair segment. Cortisol levels in the most distal segments were

approximately 11 times higher in pigs and 2.5 times higher in cattle than in the proximal segments. External influences, such as sunlight, hair washing and natural friction, can damage the cuticle cells of the hair, resulting in progressive surface destruction of the hair shaft with increasing hair length (DAWBER 1996, RICHENA and REZENDE 2016). This may facilitate the incorporation of external cortisol into the hair shaft and the elimination of incorporated cortisol from the hair, such as by hair washing (GRASS 2017). Consistent with this assumption, human hair often shows a decrease in HCCs from proximal to distal segments, which is probably caused by frequent hair washing and other hair treatments (STALDER et al. 2017). Because systemic cortisol can be excluded as a source of the observed increase of HCCs along the hair shaft in our studies, external influences due to species-specific husbandry conditions and behaviour are likely. The main reason for increased HCC along the hair shaft is presumably the enhanced, prolonged contamination with cortisol-containing fluids, such as urine and saliva.

5.1.2 Impact of contamination and elimination by washout

The findings that caudal body regions and distal hair segments exhibit elevated HCCs led to the hypothesis that cortisol contained in body fluids, such as urine, saliva and faeces, may be incorporated into the hair shaft by external contamination. The result that control pigs showed a similar increase of HCC as ACTH animals after the treatment period also supports this hypothesis. Since ACTH and control animals were kept in mixed groups under conventional housing conditions on slatted floors, hairs from control animals could be contaminated with body fluids from ACTHtreated animals by lying on soiled floors or by social interactions. Thus, HCC in control pigs might be elevated by the diffusion of external cortisol derived from the urine, saliva or faeces of ACTH pigs. To test this hypothesis, an in vitro experiment was performed in which bovine and porcine hair samples were repeatedly contaminated over four weeks with either urine or saliva containing two different concentrations of cortisol, contaminated with faeces or washed with water and then compared with HCCs in untreated control samples. The contamination of hair with urine resulted in increased cortisol levels in the hairs of both cattle and pigs, whereas saliva, which contained less cortisol than the urine, increased HCC only in bovine hair. Furthermore, the results show that the incorporation of cortisol into hair depends on the cortisol concentration in urine and saliva. Therefore, these findings confirm our hypothesis and provide preliminary evidence that contaminating of hair with body fluids increases HCCs by a concentration-dependent incorporation of external cortisol from the fluids into the hair.

Further, the results show that contamination with a faecal solution leads to an increase in cortisol concentrations in bovine hair but to a decrease in porcine hair. This may be due to species-specific differences in cortisol excretion in faeces, as a previous study showed that pigs excreted less cortisol in their faeces than ruminants (PALME et al. 1996). Furthermore, the faecal samples

were diluted with water, which in addition to the already low cortisol concentration in pig faeces, can even lead to washout. Repeated treatment with water alone eliminated cortisol from the hair shaft only in pigs. In contrast, in cattle, cortisol levels in water-treated samples remained unchanged compared to untreated hair samples. However, the cortisol concentration in untreated porcine hair was markedly higher than in bovine hair, resulting in a more pronounced concentration gradient between water and hair in the porcine samples, which may explain these different findings. Consistent with the observed washout effect in porcine hair, previous *in vitro* studies have shown that hair treatment with water or shampoo solution can decrease HCC (HAMEL et al. 2011, LI et al. 2012). Contact with aqueous liquids causes swelling of the hair (ROBBINS 2002, KIDWELL and SMITH 2007) and can thus facilitate the incorporation and elimination of dissolved substances into and from the hair shaft. To avoid possible surface contamination by external cortisol, hair samples are usually washed before analysis. In general, as in our study, alcohol is used to remove lipophilic substances from the hair surface, as they hardly cause swelling.

Discrepancies in the contamination effects between bovine and porcine hair could also be due to species-specific differences in hair structure. Bovine hairs are shorter, thinner and lighter than porcine hair, so bovine hair samples of the same weight contain more single hairs, and more single hairs result in a larger total surface area of the entire sample, which could increase contamination effects. It has been shown that hair with cut surfaces from shaving reveal higher HCCs after exposure to artificial cortisol-containing solutions than intact hair (GRASS 2017). Cut hair ends are likely potential entry points for cortisol due to their damaged structure. Therefore, it is possible that in our study, cortisol incorporation in bovine hair samples was facilitated by more cut hair ends than in the porcine hair samples. The concentration gradient between salivary cortisol and hair cortisol was also markedly higher in cattle than in pigs, which may contribute to the more pronounced increase in HCC in cattle.

Overall, the *in vitro* experiment indicates that the contamination of hair with urine and saliva can strongly confound HCCs in pigs and cattle. The impact of external contamination and elimination by washout in farm animals seems to depend on the cortisol concentration of the contaminant as well as on species-specific housing conditions and behavioural patterns, such as lying on soiled floors and social interactions. In pigs and cattle, urine contributed most to rising hair cortisol, followed by saliva, whereas the influence of faecal contamination on cortisol incorporation seemed only minor. Finally, a clear elimination of cortisol by water treatment was observed in pigs.

5.1.3 Implications

Our studies of cattle and pigs were the first to investigate various influencing factors on hair cortisol concentrations in farm animals to this comprehensive and comparative extent. The results showed variations in HCCs depending on the age of the animal, the body region of sampling, the hair segment and the hair colour. Age, body region and hair segment had great impacts, whereas the influence of hair colour was small. However, it is advisable to standardise as many influencing factors as feasible when comparing HCCs in different animal groups or within the same animal. Furthermore, evaluations of HPA axis activity or stress load, such as for welfare assessment, must consider that there are life periods in which systemic cortisol concentrations, and thus hair cortisol levels, are physiologically elevated, such as in newborn animals.

The present findings reveal a pronounced effect of external contamination and a potential influence of water treatment on hair cortisol levels. To avoid these effects, it is advisable to shave hair from obviously dry, clean body regions. Choosing the appropriate body region depends on the animal species, the specific husbandry environment and the accessibility for sampling. For cattle and pigs kept indoors, the sampling regions could be the neck, shoulder or back, which are out of reach of the tail and are not affected by soiling when the animals lie down. It is advantageous to use only the most proximal segments of the hair samples to avoid the confounding effect of contamination or washout. Similarly, the shave-reshave procedure and thus the analysis of only newly regrown hairs could be applied.

To further assess the impact of external contamination on the incorporation of cortisol into the hair shaft in farm animals, it would be useful to perform an *in vivo* experiment similar to the *in vitro* study. It is possible that due to the close connection of the hairs in the coat and the lack of cut ends, less of the surface contacts cortisol-containing contaminants and therefore less cortisol can penetrate the hair shaft. In addition, the hairs are constantly kept supple by sebum, which makes aqueous solutions less adherent and prevents damage to the hair structure (ROBBINS 2002). It would be interesting to find evidence for the assumption that the incorporation of external cortisol is higher in more severely damaged distal hair segments, such as by subsequent segmentation of hair samples collected during an *in vivo* contamination experiment.

5.2 Hair cortisol concentration as an indicator of long-term stress in cattle and pigs

5.2.1 Model for the increased release of systemic cortisol

The adrenocorticotrophic hormone plays a key role in the formation and release of cortisol from the adrenal cortex, thereby influencing systemic cortisol levels in the blood (SPENCER and DEAK 2017). For this reason, administrations of ACTH are commonly used to simulate the stressrelated activity of the HPA axis (KERSEY and DEHNHARD 2014). Since it is assumed that the main pathway of cortisol incorporation into the hair shaft is diffusion from the bloodstream (STALDER and KIRSCHBAUM 2012), ACTH applications are useful for investigating the relationship between increased systemic cortisol concentrations and hair cortisol levels. As shown in previous studies, repeated administrations of ACTH increase the activation of the HPA axis and the subsequently elevated incorporation of cortisol into the hair shaft (GONZÁLEZ-DE-LA-VARA et al. 2011, DULUDE-DE BROIN et al. 2019). Therefore, repeated ACTH applications are a suitable model for the validation of HCC as a retrospective indicator of long-term stress. In the present study, the animals received either 2 ml of ACTH solution (100 IU Synacthen Depot) or 2 ml of saline intramuscularly every second day over four weeks. This experimental protocol was selected based on dose-response curves and results described in previous studies using the same dose in cattle (DOBSON et al. 2000, BIRAN et al. 2015) and pigs (OTTEN et al. 2004, BACKUS et al. 2013). In order to validate the ACTHapplication model, we also collected saliva samples, as salivary cortisol levels correlate strongly with systemic blood cortisol concentrations (COOK et al. 1996, NEGRÃO et al. 2004, HELLHAMMER et al. 2009). As a result, significantly increased cortisol levels were observed in saliva samples after ACTH treatment during the application period without alterations in the controls of either species. Therefore, it was concluded that the ACTH-application model used to simulate the cortisol response to chronic intermittent stressors was effective. However, species-specific differences were observed in the magnitude and duration of the salivary cortisol response to ACTH, with a less pronounced reaction in pigs than cattle. Pigs showed elevated cortisol levels up to 6 h after ACTH application and a blunted magnitude, whereas in cattle, salivary cortisol increased for up to 9 h with a higher maximum, so a different effect on the hair cortisol concentration should be expected.

5.2.2 Models for the time course of cortisol incorporation into the hair shaft

To the authors' knowledge, the ACTH study was the first to investigate and compare the effects of long-term stress on cortisol levels in different hair sample types at various sampling times in cattle and pigs. As part of this ACTH study and based on average hair growth rates and hair follicle depth in cattle and pigs, hair growth models were developed to determine the sampling times at which the highest HCCs are expected (see Fig 5. and Fig. 6 of Study 3).

Our results revealed hair growth rates of approximately 3.5 mm per month in the back region in cattle and 7 mm per month in pigs. Additionally, the hair follicle is located about 2 mm below the skin surface in cattle (UDO 1978) and 3.5 mm in pigs (personal data). Based on these data, we hypothesised that the natural hair of ACTH-treated animals would exhibit increased cortisol levels as early as week 4, immediately after the end of treatment. In addition, maximum HCCs were expected four weeks after the end of the treatment period (week 8), when the natural hair samples contained the total amount of cortisol incorporated during the treatment period. We also predicted decreased cortisol concentrations eight weeks after the end of the treatment (week 12) caused by a dilution effect due to newly growing hair with basal cortisol levels. Moreover, natural hair samples contain not only actively growing hairs but also hairs in the catagen and telogen growth stages that cannot incorporate cortisol from the bloodstream. Therefore, these hairs can also dilute HCCs in natural hair samples.

In addition, we collected natural hair from the back region in pigs and the tail tip in cattle eight weeks after the end of the treatment (week 12) to cut them into segments. The lengths of the hair segments were chosen to approximately reflect the hair growth during the entire 12-week experimental period in three segments. Considering the different hair growth rates in the back and the tail tip, the proximal natural hair was cut into 1.5-cm segments in cattle and 1-cm segments in pigs. Taking into account the follicle depth, the hair growth rate and the number of segments, we expected elevated HCC in the most distal hair segments of ACTH-treated animals.

Regrown hair samples were obtained by applying the shave-reshave procedure and therefore mostly contained actively growing hairs. To establish a hair growth model for this hair sample type, we also assumed the hair growth rates and follicle depth as described above. Thus, increased and similar cortisol levels were expected in samples from ACTH-treated animals directly at the end and four weeks after the end of the treatment period (weeks 4 and 8). By week 12, all hair portions with elevated HCC should have been shaved, and no differences between treatment groups were expected.

5.2.3 Impact of hair sample type and sampling time

In cattle, increased cortisol concentrations were observed in all hair sample types (natural, regrown and segments) after ACTH application over four weeks. The cortisol concentrations were highest in regrown hair, which confirmed our hypothesis. In the natural hair of ACTH-treated animals, increased cortisol levels were observed at all sampling times after the treatment period, with the highest cortisol levels four weeks after the end of the treatment (week 8), followed by a decrease of HCC in week 12. In regrown hair samples, cortisol levels were higher in ACTH-treated cattle in weeks 4 and 8 than in the control animals, but the treatment groups had no differences in week 12. In conclusion, these results in cattle fully confirmed our assumptions derived from the hair growth models described above.

The results for salivary cortisol in samples collected during the 4-week treatment period revealed correlations with cortisol levels in both natural and regrown hair. The highest correlation was found between salivary cortisol and cortisol concentrations in regrown hair samples collected in week 4, indicating a strong relation between systemic cortisol levels and the cortisol concentration in this type of hair sample. The regrown hair samples mainly contained hairs that had actively grown within the preceding four weeks and may therefore reflect the systemic cortisol concentration during the previous weeks better than natural hair. Consistent with our results, other studies in goats and cattle have shown the greatest increases in hair cortisol levels after ACTH applications in samples collected within four weeks after treatment but not in later samples (GONZÁLEZ-DE-LA-VARA 2011, ENDO et al. 2018).

The results of the investigations of different hair segments in cattle also confirmed our hypothesis from the hair growth model. Increased hair cortisol levels from proximal to distal hair segments were observed in ACTH-treated animals, not in control animals. Therefore, for the first time in farm animals, hair segmentation appears to be applicable for the assessment of prior stress by creating a retrospective calendar. In conclusion, in cattle, the ACTH application model resulted in the expected increase in cortisol levels in all hair sample types, so hair cortisol could be a suitable indicator of long-term stress in this species.

In pigs, ACTH applications also resulted in increased hair cortisol levels, but only in natural hair in week 4 (the end of treatment) compared with basal levels in week 0. There were no differences in weeks 8 and 12 compared with basal levels. In regrown hair samples, we observed higher HCCs at week 4 (the end of treatment) than week 8. Thus, in contrast to cattle, the hypothesis of increased HCCs due to elevated systemic cortisol levels could only be confirmed in pigs for the sampling time immediately after the end of the treatment. However, like the increase of HCC in ACTH-treated pigs, control pigs also showed elevated hair cortisol levels, and there were no differences between the treatment groups for all hair types at all sampling times. Possible explanations for the lack of differences between the treatment groups could be the less

pronounced cortisol response in pigs after ACTH applications, as mentioned above, and the specific annual hair growth pattern. Cortisol is incorporated by diffusion from blood vessels during the anagen growth phase (STALDER and KIRSCHBAUM 2012). Pigs show a pronounced seasonality of hair follicle activity and undergo one hair growth cycle per year, during which the anagen phase occurs mainly in fall and winter (MOWAFY and CASSENS 1976a, WATSON and MOORE 1990). Therefore, the natural porcine hair samples shaved during the spring and summer seasons in our study may contain many hairs in the catagen and telogen phases that could not incorporate systemic cortisol. Another and more likely explanation for the increase in both treatments is the potential contamination caused by incorporating external cortisol from urine, saliva or faeces, which is explained in detail in Chapter 5.1.2. Due to the conventional housing conditions and species-specific behavioural patterns, the external contamination of hair by soiling appears to be more pronounced in pigs than in cattle. Investigating hair segments in pigs revealed an increase in HCC from proximal to distal segments, like ACTH-treated cattle, but no differences were found between treatments, which was consistent with the results in natural and regrown hair. Thus, increased HCC in the distal segments of control animals could also be due to external contamination. In summary, the results in pigs do not confirm the hair growth models, and the effect of long-term stress could not be assessed by analysing natural, regrown or segmented hairs.

The present results regarding natural, regrown und segmented hair reveal different advantages and disadvantages for each hair sample type. Using natural hair samples requires no preparatory work, and the sampling can be done spontaneously since only one shave is necessary. However, it must be considered that natural hair samples contain hairs that are in all three growth phases, so large portions of the sampled hairs may not be in the active growth phase and thus cannot incorporate systemic cortisol. In addition to this dilution effect, natural hair samples are exposed to external influences for longer periods than regrown samples. The older a hair is, the more its structure can be damaged (DAWBER 1996) and the more easily HCC can be influenced by both contamination and the elimination of cortisol. When using the shave-reshave method, regrown hair samples mainly contain hairs that have actively grown during the previous weeks, so dilution caused by different hair growth phases and external influences on HCC, such as contamination and UV radiation, might be lower. Hence, regrown hair samples can reflect systemic cortisol concentrations better than natural hair samples. Collecting hair segments has the advantage that the sampling time is more flexible than with regrown hair when the hair growth rate and follicle depth are known. However, the sampling time and size of the segments must be adjusted to allow the intended retrospective conclusion. Nevertheless, HCCs in older hair segments can also be influenced by external contamination and elimination, so segmentation should be limited to the most proximal centimetres.

5.2.4 Implications

Based on the comparison of the results in different hair sample types, the use of the shavereshave procedure can be recommended. For this purpose, an area is pre-shaved (e.g. the back region) before the period of interest and shaved again at the end of that period to collect and analyse regrown hairs. This sample of mainly active growing hairs should be less contaminated and have a lower dilution effect and therefore have a higher retrospective validity than samples of natural and segmented hair. Additionally, at least in cattle and pigs, hair samples should be taken no later than four weeks after the end of a stress period to obtain reliable information of average systemic cortisol concentrations during that period.

The results of the ACTH study on the applicability of hair segments in farm animals show that it might be possible, at least in cattle, to establish a retrospective calendar for the assessment of previous stress periods. With the knowledge of species-specific hair follicle depth and hair growth rate, different segments can be assigned to different preceding time periods. The length of segments and the time of sampling will then also depend on the duration of the period of interest. However, since increased HCC from proximal to distal hair segments was also observed in nonstressed animals, at least in pigs, it may be advisable to use only the most proximal segments.

The time delay between cortisol incorporation and the sampling time is also important to consider. Due to the species-specific hair growth rates and follicle depth in cattle and pigs, an average of 14 days elapses between the incorporation of cortisol at the hair papillae and the time when that part of the hair appears on the skin surface. Considering the hair growth models and based on the present results, the highest HCC may be found in hair samples collected two weeks after the period of interest. However, a more precise clarification of when elevated cortisol levels occur in the hair shaft and above the skin would require an experiment with radio-labelled cortisol, like that conducted by KECKEIS et al. (2012), and more frequent sampling than in our ACTH study. To avoid losing information, we recommend shaving the hair as close to the skin as possible, which is best achieved by shaving against the direction of growth. In addition, plucking the hair should be avoided, as the hair root contains cortisol-producing cells (ITO et al. 2005), and even if these concentrations are low, they could affect HCC results.

5.3 Future perspectives

The results of our studies provide a basis for further investigating the practical applicability of hair cortisol as an indicator of long-term stress. To evaluate the applicability of HCC under practical conditions in cattle and pigs, further research should investigate the impact of stress loads relevant to practice (e.g. high stocking density, high animal/feeding-place ratio and high milk yield). It is of great interest whether the magnitude of these stress loads can also induce a detectable increase in hair cortisol levels. However, this also requires further investigations to determine the physiologically normal range of HCCs in order to differentiate between normal physiological variations and pathological values. Unusually high HCCs would thus have a warning function to indicate particularly high stress levels or pathological conditions. Besides the retrospective assessment of the stress load of an individual animal, pooled samples of many animals could also provide information about housing conditions, possibly indicating stressful influences within a husbandry system or a farm. Additionally, slaughterhouses or dairies could use the information from the hair cortisol monitoring to assess the long-term stress level of a producer's animals, which could be of interest to the processing industry and to consumers, as stress levels can affect meat and milk quality. The use of hair cortisol for the evaluation of stress loads could also become part of welfare assessment and monitoring programmes. It has the advantage that long-term retrospective and individual-based information can be collected in a minimally invasive way, which could improve the comprehensive assessment of housing conditions. A further application for hair cortisol analysis could be its use for stress monitoring in animal experiments. Here, it would be possible to assess the stress load caused by animal treatments more precisely. As the housing conditions in experimental settings are more standardised and more controlled than conventional husbandry conditions, it might also be easier to eliminate confounding factors.

5.4 Conclusions

In general, hair has great potential to serve as an innovative biological sample material. Since repeated activation of the HPA axis increases cortisol incorporated into the hair shaft, the prerequisite for using hair cortisol as an indicator of long-term stress in cattle and pigs is given. Nevertheless, age, body region, hair colour and hair segments are influencing factors that must be considered and standardised whenever possible. Attention must also be paid to the effect of possible external contamination. The present results show that the contamination of porcine and bovine hair with cortisol-containing body fluids, such as urine and saliva, may cause the incorporation of external cortisol into the hair shaft, which may affect the validity of hair cortisol as an indicator of HPA axis activity. Although a potential effect of contamination has been demonstrated in vitro in both species, the ACTH study has shown that this is more likely a confounding factor in vivo in pigs than in cattle. Therefore, in cattle, hair cortisol concentrations in natural, regrown and segmental hair samples reliably reflected the preceding period with increased systemic cortisol levels, entailing that all three hair sample types can be used to assess long-term stress. Since the highest hair cortisol levels were observed within four weeks after the end of stress, this period is the most appropriate time for hair sampling. Our investigations form a basis for further research on hair cortisol measurements in cattle and pigs. Analysing HCCs offers a minimally invasive, retrospective and animal-based method to measure long-term stress and may improve the comprehensive assessment of animal welfare. Thus, after further validation, hair cortisol analysis could be implemented in animal welfare-monitoring programmes

6 Summary

Author: Susen Heimbürge

Title:Hair cortisol concentration in cattle and pigs: Investigation of influencing factors and
the potential as an indicator of long-term stress

Institutions: Institute of Animal Hygiene and Veterinary Public Health, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Leipzig

Submitted: November 2020

Bibliographic indications: 66 pages, 4 figures, 4 publications, 146 references

Keywords: hair cortisol, long-term stress, cattle, pigs, ACTH, contamination, animal welfare **Introduction**: Farm animals can be exposed to various stressors due to their husbandry conditions, which can impair their health and welfare. Thus, there is interest in the use of minimally invasive methods and animal-based stress indicators as part of welfare assessment. Cortisol in hair is a promising retrospective stress indicator, as a sample reflects systemic cortisol levels of the past weeks or months. Previous studies have shown that long-term stress with elevated cortisol release can be related to increased cortisol incorporation into the hair shaft. However, potential influencing factors that may affect hair cortisol concentrations (HCCs) must be determined before HCC can be applied as a reliable indicator of stress.

Objectives: The general objectives of this thesis are to investigate influencing factors on HCC, and to examine the potential of hair cortisol concentration as an indicator of long-term stress in cattle and pigs. Thus, the present studies aimed to (1) identify knowledge gaps in hair cortisol research, (2) evaluate the impact of animal-based, seasonal and hair-specific factors as well as contamination and elimination on HCC, and (3) investigate whether and when long-term increased systemic cortisol levels are reflected in elevated HCCs.

Animals, Material and Methods: Hairs were sampled from Holstein Friesian cattle, Landrace or Saddleback pigs and crossbreeds. The findings of the literature review (Study 1) identified potential animal-based, seasonal, hair-specific and stress-related factors on HCCs, which our experimental studies considered. To examine the impact of influencing factors (Study 2), a total of 614 animals were used. Hair samples were taken at different ages (newborn to adult), from different sexes and during both summer and winter. Variations by hair-specific factors were determined by studying black and white hair samples, varying body regions (neck/shoulder, back and tail tip) and different hair segments. In general, female animals were used. The effect of contamination on HCCs was examined in an *in vitro* study (Study 4) using hair samples from 12 cows and 12 sows. Samples were treated daily with urine, saliva, faeces or water for four weeks or remained untreated. To investigate long-term stress (Study 3), 34 cattle and 38 gilts were injected intramuscularly either with ACTH solution or saline every second day for four weeks. Natural and regrown hair samples were collected.

All the hair samples were shaved with electric clippers, washed twice with isopropanol and ground with a ball mill. Cortisol was detected by ELISA after extraction with methanol. Statistical analyses were performed using ANOVA and pairwise comparisons of the least square means by Tukey-Kramer tests with the MIXED procedure in SAS/STAT software.

Results: The results of Study 2 showed significantly higher HCCs in newborn calves than in young cattle, heifers and cows (p < 0.001). Likewise, 2-week-old piglets had higher HCCs than pigs aged 10 or 27 weeks and sows (p < 0.001). Sex had no effect on HCCs in pigs or cattle. In both species, HCCs were also significantly higher in samples obtained from the tail tip than from the shoulder, neck and back regions (p < 0.001), in black hair than in white hair (p < 0.05) and in distal hair than in proximal hair segments (p < 0.001). Season had an impact on HCC only in cattle, which exhibited higher levels in winter than in summer (p < 0.001). The results of Study 4 showed that contamination with urine caused a considerable concentration-dependent increase in HCCs in both species. Contamination with saliva and faeces also raised HCCs, but only in cattle (all p < 0.05). Treatment with water washed cortisol out from porcine hair but not from bovine hair. In cattle, repeated ACTH application (Study 3) revealed significantly higher HCCs after the end of treatment in natural hair (up to eight weeks, p < 0.001), regrown hair (up to four weeks, p < 0.01) and segmental hair (eight weeks, p < 0.05) than in the control animals. The highest HCCs were found four weeks after the end of treatment. In pigs, elevated HCCs were observed in both ACTH and control animals in all hair sample types after the application period, with no differences between treatments.

Conclusions: These results show that hair cortisol concentrations in pigs and cattle are affected by age, body region, hair colour, hair segment and season. There is first evidence that contamination of porcine and bovine hair with cortisol-containing body fluids, such as urine and saliva, may cause the incorporation of external cortisol into the hair shaft. Thus, when using HCC as a potential stress indicator, these influencing factors should be standardised and contamination effects should be avoided, such as by using the shave-reshave procedure, clean sampling regions and only the most proximal hair segments. The results also demonstrated that long-term stress by repeated activation of the HPA axis increases hair cortisol concentrations. In cattle, HCCs in different hair sample types reliably reflected the preceding period with increased systemic cortisol levels. In conclusion, the analysis of HCC appears to be a suitable method to evaluate long-term stress in cattle and pigs and can therefore be an important component in the assessment of animal welfare.
7 Zusammenfassung

Verfasser: Susen Heimbürge

Titel:Cortisolkonzentrationen in Haaren von Rind und Schwein: Einflussfaktoren undEignung als Indikator für Langzeitstress

Institutionen: Institut für Tierhygiene und Öffentliches Veterinärwesen, Veterinärmedizinische Fakultät, Universität Leipzig

Eingereicht: November 2020

Bibliografische Angaben: 66 Seiten, 4 Abbildungen, 4 Publikationen, 146 Referenzen

Schlüsselwörter: Haarcortisol, Langzeitstress, Rind, Schwein, ACTH, Kontamination, Animal Welfare Einleitung: Nutztiere sind aufgrund ihrer Haltungsbedingungen diversen Stressoren ausgesetzt, welche ihre physische und psychische Gesundheit beeinträchtigen können. Im Rahmen von Animal Welfare Monitoring besteht daher ein großes Interesse an der Entwicklung und dem Einsatz minimal-invasiver Methoden und tierbezogener Belastungsindikatoren. Haarcortisolkonzentrationen (HCCs) könnten hierfür ein vielversprechender, retrospektiver Stressindikator sein, da sie die durchschnittlichen systemischen Cortisolkonzentrationen der letzten Wochen bis Monate in nur einer Probe widerspiegeln. Bevor HCCs jedoch als zuverlässiger Indikator eingesetzt werden können, müssen potenzielle Einflussfaktoren darauf ermittelt werden.

Ziele: Das generelle Ziel der vorliegenden Arbeit ist die Untersuchung von Einflussfaktoren auf Haarcortisol und seine Eignung für die Beurteilung von Langzeitstress bei Rindern und Schweinen. Daher zielten die vorliegenden Studien darauf ab, (1) Wissenslücken in der Forschung zu identifizieren, (2) die Wirkung potenzieller Einfluss- und Störfaktoren zu evaluieren und (3) zu untersuchen, ob und wann erhöhte systemische Cortisollevel durch HCCs nachweisbar sind.

Tiere, Material und Methoden: Alle Haarproben wurde von Holstein-Rindern, Landrasse- und Sattelschweinen bzw. Kreuzungstieren entnommen. Aufgrund der Literaturrecherche (Studie 1) wurden potenzielle Einflussfaktoren identifiziert und in den nachfolgenden Studien untersucht. Für die Evaluierung nicht-stressbedingter Faktoren (Studie 2), wurden insgesamt 614 Tiere verwendet. Hierfür wurden Haarproben in verschiedenen Altersstufen (Neugeborene bis Erwachsene), von beiden Geschlechtern und während der Sommer- und Wintersaison entnommen. Außerdem wurden schwarze und weiße Haarproben, unterschiedliche Körperregionen (Nacken/Schulter, Rücken, Schwanzspitze) und verschiedene Haarsegmente untersucht. Der Einfluss von Kontaminationen auf HCCs wurde in einer *in-vitro*-Studie (Studie 4) mit Haarproben von 12 Kühen und 12 Sauen evaluiert. Diese Proben wurden für vier Wochen täglich mit Urin, Speichel, Kot oder Wasser behandelt oder blieben unbehandelt. Um die Wirkung von Langzeitstress auf HCCs zu untersuchen (Studie 3), wurde bei 34 Rindern und 38 Jungsauen über vier Wochen jeden zweiten Tag ACTH- oder Kochsalzlösung appliziert. Vor, sowie zu drei Zeitpunkten nach Ende der Behandlung, wurden native und neu gewachsene Haare sowie zusätzlich Haarsegmente

entnommen. Alle Haarproben wurden zweimal mit Isopropanol gewaschen, mit einer Kugelmühle gemahlen und Cortisol nach Extraktion mit Methanol mittels ELISA nachgewiesen. Die statistische Auswertung erfolgte mittels SAS/STAT-Software unter Anwendung von ANOVA und paarweisen Vergleichen durch Tukey-Kramer Tests.

Ergebnisse: Die Ergebnisse der Studie 2 zeigen signifikant höhere HCCs bei neugeborenen Kälbern im Vergleich zu Jungrindern, Färsen und Kühen (p < 0,001). Ebenso wiesen 2 Wochen alte Ferkel höhere HCCs auf als Schweine im Alter von 10 oder 27 Wochen oder Sauen (p < 0,001). Das Geschlecht hatte keinen Einfluss auf die HCCs beider Tierarten. Jedoch waren bei beiden Spezies die HCCs in Schwanzhaaren, im Vergleich zu den Schulter-, Nacken- und Rückenhaaren signifikant erhöht (p < 0,001), ebenso in schwarzen Haaren im Vergleich zu weißen Haaren (p < 0,05) und in distalen im Vergleich zu proximalen Haarsegmenten (p < 0,001). Außerdem wiesen Rinder im Winter höhere HCCs als im Sommer auf (p < 0,001). Die Ergebnisse der Studie 4 zeigen, dass die Kontamination mit Urin bei beiden Spezies eine konzentrationsabhängige Zunahme der HCCs bewirkt. Auch die Kontamination mit Speichel und Kot erhöhte die HCCs, jedoch nur bei Rindern (alle p < 0,05). Die Behandlung mit Wasser führte zu einer Auswaschung von Cortisol aus Haaren vom Schwein, jedoch nicht vom Rind. Die Ergebnisse der ACTH-Studie (Studie 3) zeigen signifikant erhöhte HCCs bei ACTH-Tieren zum Ende der Behandlung in nativen Haaren (p < 0,001), nachgewachsenen Haaren (p < 0,01) und in Haarsegmenten (p < 0,05). Die höchsten HCCs wurden innerhalb von vier Wochen nach Behandlungsende gefunden. Bei Schweinen wurde ein Anstieg der HCCs sowohl in ACTH- als auch in Kontrolltieren beobachtet ohne dass Unterschiede zwischen den Behandlungen auftraten.

Schlussfolgerungen: Die Ergebnisse zeigen, dass die Cortisolkonzentrationen im Haar bei Schweinen und Rindern durch Alter, Körperregion, Haarfarbe, Haarsegment und Jahreszeit beeinflusst werden. Es gibt erste Belege, dass die Kontamination von Schweine- und Rinderhaaren mit cortisolhaltigen Körperflüssigkeiten, wie Urin und Speichel, die Aufnahme von externem Cortisol in den Haarschaft verursacht. Bei der Verwendung von HCC als Stressindikator sollten daher diese Einflussfaktoren standardisiert und Kontaminationseffekte vermieden werden, z.B. durch die Verwendung von Aufwuchsproben oder nur proximaler Haarsegmente. Darüber hinaus konnte gezeigt werden, dass Langzeitstress durch wiederholte Aktivierung der HPA-Achse zu erhöhten Cortisolkonzentrationen im Haar führt. Bei Rindern zeigt sich dies in den HCCs verschiedener Haarprobentypen. Insgesamt erweist sich die Analyse von Cortisol im Haar als eine geeignete Methode zum Nachweis von Langzeitstress bei Rindern und Schweinen und könnte daher eine wichtige Komponente bei der Beurteilung von Animal Welfare sein.

8 References

- Bacci ML, Nannoni E, Govoni N, Scorrano F, Zannoni A, Forni M, et al. Hair cortisol determination in sows in two consecutive reproductive cycles. Reprod Biol. 2014;14(3):218–23.
- Backus BL, Bryer PJ, Sutherland MA. Prenatal stress and ketamine affect the behavioral and physiological responsiveness of early adolescent pigs to a novel arena and social confrontation test. Appl Anim Behav Sci. 2013;145(3–4):60–9.
- Baker LB. Physiology of sweat gland function: The roles of sweating and sweat composition in human health. Temperature. 2019;6(3):211–59.
- Barnett JL, Hemsworth PH. The validity of physiological and behavioural measures of animal welfare. Appl Anim Behav Sci. 1990;25(1):177–87.
- Bergamin C, Comin A, Corazzin M, Faustini M, Peric T, Scollo A, et al. Cortisol, DHEA, and sexual steroid concentrations in fattening pigs' hair. Animals. 2019;9(6):345.
- Bergman TJ, Beehner JC, Cheney DL, Seyfarth RM, Whitten PL. Correlates of stress in free-ranging male chacma baboons, *Papio hamadryas ursinus*. Anim Behav. 2005;70(3):703–13.
- Binz TM, Baumgartner MR. Haaranalyse zum retrospektiven und prospektiven Konsum-Monitoring: Substanzmissbrauch, Abstinenz-und Compliancekontrolle. Praxis (Bern 1994). 2016;105(1):17–21.
- Binz TM, Rietschel L, Streit F, Hofmann M, Gehrke J, Herdener M, et al. Endogenous cortisol in keratinized matrices: Systematic determination of baseline cortisol levels in hair and the influence of sex, age and hair color. Forensic Sci Int. 2018;284:33–8.
- Biran D, Braw-Tal R, Gendelman M, Lavon Y, Roth Z. ACTH administration during formation of preovulatory follicles impairs steroidogenesis and angiogenesis in association with ovulation failure in lactating cows. Domest Anim Endocrinol. 2015;53:52–9.
- Boswell T, Woods SC, Kenagy GJ. Seasonal changes in body mass, insulin, and glucocorticoids of free-living golden-mantled ground squirrels. Gen Comp Endocrinol. 1994;96(3):339–46.
- Boumba V, Ziavrou K, Vougiouklakis T. Hair as a biological indicator of drug use, drug abuse or chronic exposure to environmental toxicants. Int J Toxicol. 2006;25(3):143–63.
- Braig S, Grabher F, Ntomchukwu C, Reister F, Stalder T, Kirschbaum C, et al. Determinants of maternal hair cortisol concentrations at delivery reflecting the last trimester of pregnancy. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2015;52(1):289–96.
- Brambell FWR. Report of the technical committee to enquire into the welfare of animals kept under intensive livestock husbandry systems. London: Her Majesty's Stationery Office; 1965
- Broom DM. Indicators of poor welfare. Br Vet J. 1986;142(6):524–6.

- Broom, D.M., Johnson, K.G. Stress and animal welfare. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1993
- Burnard C, Ralph C, Hynd P, Edwards JH, Tilbrook A. Hair cortisol and its potential value as a physiological measure of stress response in human and non-human animals. Anim Prod Sci. 2017;57(3):401–14.
- Burnett TA, Madureira AML, Silper BF, Nadalin A, Tahmasbi A, Veira DM, et al. Short communication: Factors affecting hair cortisol concentrations in lactating dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. 2014;97(12):7685–90.
- Cattet M, Macbeth BJ, Janz DM, Zedrosser A, Swenson JE, Dumond M, et al. Quantifying long-term stress in brown bears with the hair cortisol concentration: A biomarker that may be confounded by rapid changes in response to capture and handling. Conserv Physiol. 2014;2(1).
- Challis JRG, Sloboda D, Matthews SG, Holloway A, Alfaidy N, Patel FA, et al. The fetal placental hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal (HPA) axis, parturition and postnatal health. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2001;185(1–2):135–44.

Chase HB. Growth of the hair. Physiol Rev. 1954;34(1):113–26.

Chrousos GP. Stress and disorders of the stress system. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2009;5(7):374.

Cirimele V, Kintz P, Dumestre V, Goulle JP, Ludes B. Identification of ten corticosteroids in human hair by liquid chromatography-ionspray mass spectrometry. Forensic Sci Int. 2000;107(1–3):381–8.

Cone EJ. Mechanisms of drug incorporation into hair. Ther Drug Monit. 1996;18(4):438–43.

- Cook NJ, Schaefer AL, Lepage P, Jones SM. Salivary vs. serum cortisol for the assessment of adrenal activity in swine. Can J Anim Sci. 1996;76(3):329–35.
- Cook NJ. Review: Minimally invasive sampling media and the measurement of corticosteroids as biomarkers of stress in animals. Can J Anim Sci. 2012;92(3):227–59.
- Cruz CF, Costa C, Gomes AC, Matamá T, Cavaco-Paulo A. Human hair and the impact of cosmetic procedures: a review on cleansing and shape-modulating cosmetics. Cosmetics. 2016;3(3):26.
- D'Anna-Hernandez KL, Ross RG, Natvig CL, Laudenslager ML. Hair cortisol levels as a retrospective marker of hypothalamic-pituitary axis activity throughout pregnancy: Comparison to salivary cortisol. Physiol Behav. 2011;104(2):348–53.
- Dawber R. Hair: Its structure and response to cosmetic preparations. Clin Dermatol. 1996;14(1):105–12.
- De Kloet ER, Joëls M, Holsboer F. Stress and the brain: from adaptation to disease. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2005;6(6):463–75.

- De Kloet ER. Vreugdenhil E, Oitzl MS, Joëls M. Brain corticosteroid receptor balance in health and disease. Endocr Rev. 1998;19:269–301.
- Dettenborn L, Tietze A, Bruckner F, Kirschbaum C. Higher cortisol content in hair among long-term unemployed individuals compared to controls. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2010;35(9):1404–9.
- Dettenborn L, Tietze A, Kirschbaum C, Stalder T. The assessment of cortisol in human hair: Associations with sociodemographic variables and potential confounders. Stress. 2012;15(6):578–88.
- Dhabhar FS. The short-term stress response–Mother nature's mechanism for enhancing protection and performance under conditions of threat, challenge, and opportunity. Front Neuroendocrinol. 2018; 49:175-192
- Di Francesco J, Navarro-Gonzalez N, Wynne-Edwards K, Peacock S, Leclerc L-M, Tomaselli M, et al. Qiviut cortisol in muskoxen as a potential tool for informing conservation strategies. Conserv Physiol. 2017;5(1):1–16.
- Dias MFRG. Hair cosmetics: an overview. Int J Trichology. 2015;7(1):2.
- Dobson H, Ribadu a Y, Noble KM, Tebble JE, Ward WR. Ultrasonography and hormone profiles of adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH)-induced persistent ovarian follicles (cysts) in cattle. J Reprod Fertil. 2000;120(2):405–10.
- Dulude-de Broin F, Côté SD, Whiteside DP, Mastromonaco GF. Faecal metabolites and hair cortisol as biological markers of HPA-axis activity in the Rocky mountain goat. Gen Comp Endocrinol. 2019;280:147–57.
- Endo N, Yamane H, Rahayu LP, Tanaka T. Effect of repeated adrenocorticotropic hormone administration on reproductive function and hair cortisol concentration during the estrous cycle in goats. Gen Comp Endocrinol. 2018;259:122–30.
- Favretto D, Tucci M, Monaldi A, Ferrara SD, Miolo G. A study on photodegradation of methadone, EDDP, and other drugs of abuse in hair exposed to controlled UVB radiation. Drug Test Anal. 2014;6(S1):78–84.
- Fourie NH, Jolly CJ, Phillips-Conroy JE, Brown JL, Bernstein RM. Variation of hair cortisol concentrations among wild populations of two baboon species (*Papio anubis, P. hamadryas*) and a population of their natural hybrids. Primates. 2015;56(3):259–72.
- Fraser, D., Mench, J., & Millman, S. (2001). Farm animals and their welfare in 2000. In D.J. Salem & A.N. Rowan (Eds.), The state of the animals 2001 (pp. 87-99). Washington, DC: Humane Society Press.
- Fraser D. Understanding animal welfare. Acta Vet Scand. 2008;50(1):S1.
- Fries E, Dettenborn L, Kirschbaum C. The cortisol awakening response (CAR): facts and future directions. Int J Psychophysiol. 2009;72(1):67–73.

- González-de-la-Vara M del R, Valdez RA, Lemus-Ramirez V, Vázquez-Chagoyán JC, Villa-Godoy A, Romano MC. Effects of adrenocorticotropic hormone challenge and age on hair cortisol concentrations in dairy cattle. Can J Vet Res. 2011;75(3):216–21.
- Gow R, Koren G, Rieder M, Van Uum S. Hair cortisol content in patients with adrenal insufficiency on hydrocortisone replacement therapy. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2011;74(6):687–93.
- Granner DK, Wang J-C, Yamamoto KR. Regulatory actions of glucocorticoid hormones: from organisms to mechanisms. In: Glucocorticoid Signaling. Springer; 2015. p. 3–31.
- Grant KS, Worlein JM, Meyer JS, Novak MA, Kroeker R, Rosenberg K, et al. A longitudinal study of hair cortisol concentrations in *Macaca nemestrina* mothers and infants. Am J Primatol. 2017;79(2):1–9.
- Grass J, Miller R, Carlitz EHD, Patrovsky F, Gao W, Kirschbaum C, et al. In vitro influence of light radiation on hair steroid concentrations. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2016;73:109– 16.
- Grass J. The analysis of cortisol in human scalp hair: Examination of fundamental methodological questions concerning incorporation and elimination. Dresden: Technische Universität Dresden; 2017.
- Greff MJE, Levine JM, Abuzgaia AM, Elzagallaai AA, Rieder MJ, van Uum SHM. Hair cortisol analysis: An update on methodological considerations and clinical applications. Clin Biochem. 2019;63:1–9.

Groeneveld MG, Vermeer HJ, Linting M, Noppe G, Van Rossum EFC, Van IJzendoorn MH. Children's hair cortisol as a biomarker of stress at school entry. Stress. 2013;16(6):711–5.

- Groeneweg FL, Karst H, De Kloet ER, Joëls M. Rapid non-genomic effects of corticosteroids through the membrane-associated MR and GR and their role in the central stress. J Endocrinol. 2011;2:153–67.
- Hamel AF, Meyer JS, Henchey E, Dettmer AM, Suomi SJ, Novak MA. Effects of shampoo and water washing on hair cortisol concentrations. Clin Chim Acta. 2011;412:382–5.

Harkey MR. Anatomy and Physiology of Hair. Forensic Sci Int. 1993;63(1–3):9–18.

- Harrison R. Animal Machines: The New Factory Farming Industry. London: Vincent Stuart Ltd; 1964.
- Hellhammer DH, Wüst S, Kudielka BM. Salivary cortisol as a biomarker in stress research. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2009;34(2):163–71.
- Henderson GL. Mechanisms of drug incorporation into hair. Forensic Sci Int. 1993;63:19–29.
- Hodes A, Meyer J, Lodish MB, Stratakis CA, Hodes A, Meyer J, et al. Mini-review of hair cortisol concentration for evaluation of Cushing syndrome. Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab. 2018;13(5):225-231.

- Hoting E, Zimmermann M, Hilterhaus-Bong S. Photochemical alterations in human hair. I: Artificial irradiation and investigations of hair proteins. J Soc Cosmet Chem. 1995;46(2):85–99.
- Iglesias S, Jacobsen D, Gonzalez D, Azzara S, Repetto EM, Jamardo J, et al. Hair cortisol: A new tool for evaluating stress in programs of stress management. Life Sci. 2015;141:188–92.
- Iob E, Steptoe A. Cardiovascular disease and Hair cortisol: A novel biomarker of chronic stress. Curr Cardiol Rep. 2019;21(10):116.
- Ito N., Ito T., Kromminga A., Bettermann A., Takigawa M., Kees F et al. Human hair follicles display a functional equivalent of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and synthesize cortisol. FASEB J. 2005;1332–4.
- Jacobson L. Hypothalamic Pituitary Adrenocortical Axis Regulation. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2005;34:271–92.
- Jurado C, Kintz P, Menendez M, Repetto M. Influence of the cosmetic treatment of hair on drug testing. Int J Legal Med. 1997;110(3):159–63.
- Kanitz E, Otten W, Tuchscherer M, Gräbner M, Brüssow KP, Rehfeldt C, et al. High and low protein: Carbohydrate dietary ratios during gestation alter maternal-fetal cortisol regulation in pigs. PLoS One. 2012;7(12):1–11.
- Keckeis K, Lepschy M, Schöpper H, Moser L, Troxler J, Palme R. Hair cortisol: A parameter of chronic stress? Insights from a radiometabolism study in guinea pigs. J Comp Physiol B. 2012;182(7):985–96.
- Kersey DC, Dehnhard M. The use of noninvasive and minimally invasive methods in endocrinology for threatened mammalian species conservation. Gen Comp Endocrinol. 2014;203:296–306.
- Kidwell DA, Smith FP. Passive exposure, decontamination procedures, cutoffs, and bias: pitfalls in the interpretation of hair analysis results for cocaine use. Anal Pract Asp Drug Test Hair. 2007;25–72.
- Kidwell DA, Blank DL. Environmental exposure-The stumbling block. Drug Test Hair. 1996;17.
- Kirschbaum C, Tietze A, Skoluda N, Dettenborn L. Hair as a retrospective calendar of cortisol production-Increased cortisol incorporation into hair in the third trimester of pregnancy. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2009;34(1):32–7.

Kondo K. The diversity of mammalian pelage. J Grad Sch Agric Hokkaido Univ. 2001;70(1):9–17.

- Koolhaas JM, Korte SM, De Boer SF, Van Der Vegt BJ, Van Reenen CG, Hopster H, et al. Coping styles in animals: current status in behavior and stress-physiology. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 1999;23(7):925–35.
- Koren L, Mokady O, Karaskov T, Klein J, Koren G, Geffen E. A novel method using hair for determining hormonal levels in wildlife. Anim Behav. 2002;63(2):403–6.

- Korte SM, Olivier B, Koolhaas JM. A new animal welfare concept based on allostasis. Physiol Behav. 2007;92(3):422–8.
- Kristensen SK, Larsen SC, Olsen NJ, Fahrenkrug J, Heitmann BL. Hair dyeing, hair washing and hair cortisol concentrations among women from the healthy start study. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2017;77:182–5.
- Kuo T, McQueen A, Chen T-C, Wang J-C. Regulation of glucose homeostasis by glucocorticoids. In: Glucocorticoid Signaling. Springer; 2015. p. 99–126.
- Lazarus RS, Folkman S. Stress, appraisal, and coping. New York: Springer;1984
- Li J, Xie Q, Gao W, Xu Y, Wang S, Deng H, et al. Time course of cortisol loss in hair segments under immersion in hot water. Clin Chim Acta. 2012;413(3–4):434–40.
- Ling JK. Pelage and molting in wild mammals with special reference to aquatic forms. Q Rev Biol. 1970;45(1):16–54.
- Lukert BP, Raisz LG. Glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis: pathogenesis and management. Ann Intern Med. 1990;112(5):352–64.
- Macbeth BJ, Cattet MRL, Stenhouse GB, Gibeau ML, Janz DM. Hair cortisol concentration as a noninvasive measure of long-term stress in free-ranging grizzly bears (*Ursus arctos*): considerations with implications for other wildlife. Can J Zool. 2010;88(10):935–49.
- Madea B. Haaranalytik: Technik und Interpretation in Medizin und Recht. Deutscher Ärzteverlag; 2004.
- McEwen BS, Wingfield JC. What's in a name? Integrating homeostasis, allostasis and stress. Horm Behav. 2010;57(2):105.
- McEwen BS. Central effects of stress hormones in health and disease: Understanding the protective and damaging effects of stress and stress mediators. Eur J Pharmacol. 2008;583(2–3):174–85.
- Medill SA, Janz DM, Mcloughlin PD. Hair testosterone and cortisol concentrations and their relationships to physiological and social status in feral horses (*Equus ferus caballus*). In: 3rd International Equine Science Meeting. 2015.
- Meinders S. Validation of cortisol measurements in canine puppies' hair. Utrecht: University of Utrecht; 2017.
- Mendel CM. The free hormone hypothesis: a physiologically based mathematical model. Endocr Rev. 1989;10(3):232–74.
- Mesarcova L, Kottferova J, Skurkova L, Leskova L, Kmecova N. Analysis of cortisol in dog hair a potential biomarker of chronic stress: A review. Vet Med (Praha). 2017;62(7):363–76.
- Meyer JS, Novak MA. Minireview : Hair cortisol : A novel biomarker of hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenocortical activity. Endocrinology. 2012;153(9):4120–7.

- Meyer W, Görgen S. Development of hair coat and skin glands in fetal porcine integument. J Anat. 1986;144:201.
- Meyer W, Neurand K, Schwarz R. Der Haarwechsel der Haussäugetiere 2. Topographischer Ablauf. Dtsch Tierarztl Wochenschr. 1980;87:77–116.
- Meyer W. Die Haut des Schweines: vergleichende histologische und histochemische Untersuchungen an der Haut von Wildschweinen, Hausschweinen und Kleinschweinen. Vol. 9. Schlüter; 1986.
- Minkley N, Rest M, Terstegen S, Kirchner WH, Wolf OT. Stressbelastung von Abiturienten mit regulärer und verkürzter Gymnasialzeit in NRW. Z Entwicklungspsychol Padagog Psychol. 2015;47(4):188–98.
- Moberg GP. Biological responses to stress: implications for animal welfare. In: Moberg GP, Mench JA (Eds.), The Biology of Animal Stress. New York: CABI Publishing; 2000. pp. 1–21.
- Mohan NH, Debnath S, Sarma DK, Talukdar B. Physical and microscopic characteristics of fibres obtained from crossbred (Hampshire X Ghungroo) pigs. ICAR-NRC Pig. 2015;1–13.
- Mormède P, Andanson S, Aupérin B, Beerda B, Guémené D, Malmkvist J, et al. Exploration of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal function as a tool to evaluate animal welfare. Physiol Behav. 2007;92(3):317–39.
- Möstl E, Palme R. Hormones as indicators of stress. Domest Anim Endocrinol. 2002;23:67–74.
- Möstl E. Glucocorticoids, their metabolites and their measurement in various animal species. Med Weter. 2014;70(9):524–9.
- Mowafy M., Cassens RG. Hair growth in the domestic pig-Histological aspects. J. Am. Leather Chem. Assoc. 1976a;71(2):64-70
- Mowafy M., Cassens RG. Hair growth in the domestic pig-Quantitative aspects. J. Am. Leather Chem. Assoc. 1976b;71(2):71-81
- Munsterhjelm C, Brunberg E, Heinonen M, Keeling L, Valros A. Stress measures in tail biters and bitten pigs in a matched case-control study. Anim Welf. 2013;22:331–8.
- National Research Council (2018). Recognition and Alleviation of Distress in Laboratory Animals, Committee on Recognition and Alleviation of Distress in Laboratory Animals, National Research Council ISBN: 0-309-10818-7.
- Negrão JA, Porcionato MA, de Passillé AM, Rushen J. Cortisol in Saliva and Plasma of Cattle After ACTH Administration and Milking. J Dairy Sci. 2004;87(6):1713–8.
- Novak MA, Hamel AF, Kelly BJ, Dettmer AM, Meyer JS. Stress, the HPA axis, and nonhuman primate well-being: A review. Appl Anim Behav Sci. 2013;143:135–49.
- Obel C, Hedegaard M, Henriksen TB, Secher NJ, Olsen J, Levine S. Stress and salivary cortisol during pregnancy. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2005;30:647–56.

- Otovic P, Hutchinson E. Limits to using HPA axis activity as an indication of animal welfare. ALTEX. 2015;32(1):41–50.
- Otten W, Kanitz E, Tuchscherer M, Gräbner M. Effects of low and high protein : carbohydrate ratios in the diet of pregnant gilts on maternal cortisol concentrations and the adrenocortical and sympathoadrenal reactivity in their offspring. J Anim Sci. 2013;91(6):2680–92.
- Otten W, Kanitz E, Tuchscherer M, Schneider F, Brüssow KP. Effects of adrenocorticotropin stimulation on cortisol dynamics of pregnant gilts and their fetuses: Implications for prenatal stress studies. Theriogenology. 2004;61:1649–59.
- Palme R, Fischer P, Schildorfer H, Ismail MN. Excretion of infused 14C-steroid hormones via faeces and urine in domestic livestock. Anim Reprod Sci. 1996;43(1):43–63.
- Pragst F, Balikova MA. State of the art in hair analysis for detection of drug and alcohol abuse. Clin Chim Acta. 2006;370:17–49.
- Raven PW, Taylor NF. Sex differences in the human metabolism of cortisol. Endocr Res. 1996;22(4):751–5.
- Reul JMHM, De Kloet ER. Two receptor systems for corticosterone in rat brain: microdistribution and differential occupation. Endocrinology. 1985;117(6):2505–11.
- Richena M, Rezende CA. Morphological degradation of human hair cuticle due to simulated sunlight irradiation and washing. J Photochem Photobiol B Biol. 2016;161:430–40.
- Robbins CR. Chemical and physical behavior of human hair, 4th edition. New York: Springer; 2002.
- Robertson JR. Forensic examination of hair. London: Taylor and Francis; 1999.
- Russell E, Koren G, Rieder M, Van Uum S. Hair cortisol as a biological marker of chronic stress:
 - Current status, future directions and unanswered questions.

Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2012;37:589–601.

- Salomon F-V, Geyer H, Gille U. Anatomie für die Tiermedizin. 2nd edition. Stuttgart: Enke Verlag; 2008.
- Sapolsky RM, Krey LC, McEwen BS. The Neuroendocrinology of Stress and Aging: The glucorticoid cascade hypothesis. Endocr Rev. 1986;7(3):284–301.
- Sapolsky RM, Romero LM, Munck AU. How do glucocorticoids influence stress responses? Integrating permissive, suppressive, stimulatory, and preparative actions. Endocr Rev. 2000;21:55–89.
- Sarko DK, Rice FL, Reep RL. Mammalian tactile hair: divergence from a limited distribution. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2011;1225(1):90–100.
- Schneiderman N, Ironson G, Siegel SD. Stress and health: psychological, behavioral, and biological determinants. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. 2005;1:607–28.
- Selye H. Stress and distress. Compr Ther. 1975;1(8):9.

Sharpley CF, Kauter KG, Mcfarlane JR. An investigation of hair cortisol concentration across body sites and within hair shaft. Clin Med Insights Endocrinol Diabetes. 2010;3:17–23.

Slee J. Birthcoat shedding in Wiltshire horn lambs. Anim Prod. 1963;5(3):301–16.

Slominski A, Wortsman J, Tuckey RC, Paus R. Differential expression of HPA axis homolog in the skin. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2007;265:143–9.

Spencer RL, Deak T. A users guide to HPA axis research. Physiol Behav. 2017;178:43–65.

Stalder T, Kirschbaum C. Analysis of cortisol in hair - State of the art and future directions. Brain Behav Immun. 2012;26(7):1019–29.

Stalder T, Steudte-Schmiedgen S, Alexander N, Klucken T, Vater A, Wichmann S, et al. Stressrelated and basic determinants of hair cortisol in humans: A meta-analysis. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2017;77:261–74.

Staufenbiel SM, Penninx BWJH, de Rijke YB, van den Akker ELT, van Rossum EFC. Determinants of hair cortisol and hair cortisone concentrations in adults. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2015;60:182–94.

Stenn KS, Paus R. Controls of hair follicle cycling. Physiol Rev. 2001;8(1):450-94

- Sterling P, Eyer J. Allostasis: a new paradigm to explain arousal pathology. In 'Handbook of life stress, cognition and health'.(Eds S Fisher, J Reason) pp. 629–649. J. Wiley and Sons: New York; 1988.
- Thomson S, Koren G, Fraser L, Rieder M, Friedman T, Van Uum S. Hair analysis provides a historical record of cortisol levels in Cushing's syndrome. Exp Clin Endocrinol Dibetes. 2010;118(2):133–8.
- Tilbrook AJ, Ralph CR. Hormones, stress and the welfare of animals. Anim Prod Sci. 2017; 58(3) 408-415
- Turner AI, Keating CL, Tilbrook AJ. Sex differences and the role of sex steroids in sympathoadrenal medullary system and hypothalamo-pituitary adrenal axis responses to stress. Sex steroids. 2012;12:115–36.
- Udo HMJ. Hair coat characteristics in Friesian heifers in the Netherlands and Kenya. Wageningen: Agricultural University; 1978.
- Ventrella D, Elmi A, Barcone F, Carnevali G, Govoni N, Bacci ML. Hair testosterone and cortisol concentrations in pre- blood levels and testicular morphometric parameters. Animals. 2018;8:113.
- Vives AH, De Angel V, Papadopoulos A, Strawbridge R, Wise T, Young AH, et al. The relationship between cortisol, stress and psychiatric illness: New insights using hair analysis. J Psychiatr Res. 2015;70:38–49.

- Wang X, Busch JR, Banner J, Linnet K, Johansen SS. Hair testing for cortisol by UPLC–MS/MS in a family: External cross-contamination from use of cortisol cream. Forensic Sci Int. 2019;305:109968.
- Watson SA, Moore GP. Postnatal development of the hair cycle in the domestic pig. J Anat. 1990;170:1–9.
- Webster J. Animal welfare: a cool eye towards Eden: a constructive approach to the problem of man's dominion over the animals. Blackwell Science; 1995.
- Wester VL, van der Wulp NRP, Koper JW, de Rijke YB, van Rossum EFC. Hair cortisol and cortisone are decreased by natural sunlight. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2016;72:94–6.
- Wester VL, Van Rossum EFC. Clinical applications of cortisol measurements in hair. Eur J Endocrinol. 2015;173(4):M1–10.
- Wood-Gush DGM, Duncan IJH, Fraser D. Social stress and welfare problems in agricultural animals. Behav Domest Anim. 1975;182–200.
- Yaribeygi H, Panahi Y, Sahraei H, Johnston TP, Sahebkar A. The impact of stress on body function: A review. EXCLI J. 2017 Jul 21;16:1057–72.
- Zahn H. Das Haar aus der Sicht des Chemikers. Chemie unserer Zeit. 1989;23(5):141–50.
- Zouboulis CC, Picardo M, Ju Q, Kurokawa I, Törőcsik D, Bíró T, et al. Beyond acne: Current aspects of sebaceous gland biology and function. Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2016;17(3):319– 34.

9 Danksagung

Hiermit möchte ich mich ganz herzlich bedanken bei Allen, die mich während meiner Promotion unterstützt haben.

An erster Stelle gilt mein Dank meinen Betreuern Prof. Dr. Birger Puppe, Prof. Dr. Uwe Truyen, Dr. Winfried Otten und Dr. Ellen Kanitz. Vielen Dank Winni für Deine grandiose Betreuung. Du hast mir das kleine Einmaleins des wissenschaftlichen Arbeitens mit viel Verständnis und Geduld nähergebracht und hattest immer ein offenes Ohr und einen guten Tipp parat. Ohne Deine hilfreichen Denkanstöße und unser erfolgreiches Paper-Ping-Pong hätte ich diesen Diamanten nie so glänzend hinbekommen. Herzlichen Dank auch an Dich, Ellen, für Deine tatkräftige Unterstützung, vor allem bei der Überarbeitung meiner schriftlichen Werke. Deine überaus gewinnbringende Kritik und die Zeit, die Du dir genommen hast um stundenlang mit uns zu fachsimplen, haben maßgeblich zur Entstehung und Optimierung dieser Arbeit beigetragen.

Auch bei den übrigen Mitarbeiter/innen des Institutes für Verhaltensphysiologie, insbesondere der Abteilung für Psychophysiologie, möchte ich mich bedanken. Durch Eure herzliche Aufnahme und die wunderbar angenehme Zusammenarbeit habt Ihr einen großen Teil dazu beigetragen, dass ich MeckPomm immer in guter Erinnerung behalten werde. Ein besonderer Dank gilt hierbei Dagmar Mähling für die vielen Nerven und Arbeitsstunden, die sie in unser Projekt investiert hat. Ebenfalls bedanken möchte ich mich bei den Mitarbeiter/innen der Experimentalanlagen Rind und Schwein für die Betreuung und Pflege unserer Versuchstiere, Dr. Armin Tuchscherer für die Hilfe bei der statistischen Auswertung, sowie allen Praxispartnern für die freundliche Kooperation.

Abschließend möchte ich mich von ganzem Herzen bei meiner Familie und meinen Freunden bedanken für ihre Geduld, ihr Verständnis und ihre bedingungslose Unterstützung auf diesem wichtigen Lebensabschnitt. Ihr habt euch stets mein "Fachchinesisch" angehört, aber mich auch daran erinnert, dass es ein Leben neben der Promotion gibt und mir dieses in jeder freien Minute versüßt. Vielen Dank, liebe Dani, für das Erstellen der kleinen Kunstwerke, welche ich in meine Arbeiten einflechten durfte, aber noch viel wichtiger: DANKE für Deine unschätzbar wertvolle Freundschaft.